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Meeting of the Joint, Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee on 9 
March 2017 at 11am, in Conference Room 2, Police HQ, Ripley. 

AGENDA:  Reports attached 
ITEM SUBJECT Presented 

by 
1 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

.  
CHAIR 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (IF ANY) ALL 

3 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE JARAC HELD 
ON 15 DECEMBER 2016 

CHAIR 

4 REVIEW OF ACTIONS CHAIR 

5 INTERNAL AUDIT 

5A Internal Audit Progress Report 2016/17 
- 

INTERNAL 
AUDIT 

5B Strategy for Internal Audit 2017/18 TO 2019-2020 AND 
2017/18 Internal Audit Plan   

INTERNAL 
AUDIT  

6 EXTERNAL AUDIT 
6A External Audit Plan 2016/17 EXTERNAL 

AUDIT 
7. INTERNAL CONTROL AND GOVERNANCE 

7A HMIC Value for Money Profiles 2016 DAN FERN 

8. FINANCIAL REPORTING 

8A Summary report on the budget and precept process 
2017/18 

ANDREW 
DALE 

8B 2016/17 Year End Accounting Arrangements and 
Accounting Policies  

TERRY 
NEAVES 

9. RISK MANAGEMENT 

9A OPCC Risk Register ANDREW 
DALE 
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MINUTES of a meeting of the JOINT AUDIT, RISK ASSURANCE COMMITTEE 
held in the Old Reception Room, Police HQ on 15 DECEMBER 2016. 
 

P R E S E N T 
 

Miss K Alcock (in the Chair)  
 
Mr S Cook  
Ms S Sunderland 
Mr A Jenkinson  
Ms S Hart 
 
OPCC Present:   Mrs H Boffy, Mr A Dale and Mrs L Kelly (Minute Taker) 
Constabulary Present: Mr T Neaves  
Internal Audit:   Mr B Welch, Mr M Clarkson  
External Audit:   Mr A Cardoza 
 
 
38/16 APOLOGIES 
 
 38.1 No apologies received.  
 
39/16 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
  

39.1 No declarations of interest were declared.   
 
 RESOLVED: 

1. To note that no members declared any personal or prejudicial interests.  
 
40/16 MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE JARAC HELD ON 22 

SEPTEMBER  2016 
 

40.1 Minute 28.8.  Mr Neaves agreed to circulate an update on Network 
Security prior to the next meeting of the Committee in March. 

 
40.2 Minute 29.2.  The minute referred to an update on the scoping of ICT 

Mobile Devices which should read IT Security which had been received.  
 
40.3 Minute 29.6.  Ms Alcock advised that she had met with the 

Commissioner and Chief Constable to discuss the contents of the 
Annual report, which had been accepted.   
 
Ms Alcock advised that she had requested subject matter experts to 
attend the meeting and present their reports which had been accepted.  
It was acknowledged that future agendas may need to be tailored to 
accommodate this request.   
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To allow the Committee to have oversight of how the Professional 
Standards Department (PSD) are managed it had been agreed that the 
Committee receive copies of PSD reports which are received by the 
Strategic Governance Board twice per year, which was noted.  

 
40.4 Noting, as detailed at Minute 30/16 that a meeting date of 14 

September had been suggested, members queried if this had been 
agreed.  To ensure this meeting coincides with the sign offs for the 
accounts it was agreed that this be checked and confirmation will be 
provided by email.  

 
40.5 Minute 31/16.  Mrs Boffy advised that the Commissioner and the Chief 

Constable had approved the JARAC Terms of Reference and these 
were now adopted.  

 
40.6 Minute 36.2.  To be amended as follows:  ‘Members noted on page 3 of 

the Progress report that the scope and fieldwork dates for the audits 
of Estates Management and IT Security …’ 

 
 RESOLVED: 

1. The Minutes of the meeting of the JARAC held on 22 September 2016 
were confirmed by the Committee.  

 
41/16 REVIEW OF ACTIONS 

 
41.1 JARAC Meeting 23 September 2015 
 This action can now be discharged.  
 
41.2 JARAC Meeting 14 July 2016 
 Internal Audit Progress Report 
 Ms Alcock advised that this had been discussed outside the meeting 

and it had been agreed that the recommendations referred to in the HR 
transactional follow up (Learning and Development) will be picked up 
next quarter during an interim visit.  

 
41.3 Joint Audit Risk and Assurance Committee: Annual Report 

2015/16 
 This action can now be discharged.  
 
41.4 JARAC Meeting 22 September 2016 
 Review of Actions 
 This action can now be discharged.  
 
 Internal Audit Progress Report 
 IT Security received.  Estates Management scope to follow.  
 
 NCRS and NSIR Compliance Report 
 This action can now be discharged.  
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RESOLVED: 
1. The Review of Actions was noted.  

 
42/16 INTERNAL AUDIT – PROGRESS REPORT 2016/17  
 

42.1 The Internal Audit Progress report was attached at Appendix A and 
provided a summary of the recommendations and overall assurance 
opinion for each of the assignment audits covered in the report, as 
below.  

 
42.2 Core Financial Systems.  Satisfactory assurance was given and no 

fundamental recommendations (Annex A). 
 
42.3 Payroll.  Satisfactory assurance was given and no fundamental 

recommendations (Annex B).  Mr Neaves provided an update advising 
that meetings are being held with the current provider and their 
contractor to address outstanding issues with the system.  Mr Neaves 
would provide an update for the Committee at its meeting in March. 

 
42.4 Collaboration – Legal Services.  Limited Assurance was given with 

one fundamental recommendation (Annex C). The fundamental 
recommendation was to reinstate the Management Board for EMPLS, 
therefore to gain some assurance that this is under control members 
requested a schedule of planned meetings.  

 
 Mr Neaves reminded members that the normal process is for Internal 

Audit to provide members with a follow up report in due course.  After 
some discussion it was agreed that where limited or no assurance has 
been provided, members can request further updates to ensure 
progress against the recommendation.   

 
 Members questioned the P1 finding alongside a limited assurance 

ranking and Mr Welch advised that because Legal Services was 
working well in terms of the legal advice provided, that due to the lack 
of governance, this was the reason for the opinion.  

 
42.5 In considering the report recommendation, members made the 

following amendments:  
 
 Recommendation iii.  It is recommended that the committee take 

assurance that the controls upon which the organisation Leicestershire 
Constabulary… 

 
 Recommendation iv.  It is recommended that the committee take 

limited assurance… 
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 RESOLVED: 

1. Reassurance was taken that the internal audit plan addresses relevant 
matters and is being delivered as expected, as detailed in the progress 
report at Appendix A to the report. 

2. Reassurance was taken that the controls upon which the organisation 
relies to manage its core financial systems are suitably designed, 
consistently applied and effective as detailed in Annex A to the report. 

3. Reassurance was taken that the controls upon which Leicestershire 
Constabulary relies to manage the payroll system are suitably designed, 
consistently applied and effective, as detailed in Annex B to the report. 

4. Limited reassurance was taken that the controls upon which the region 
relies to manage the collaboration for Legal Services are suitably 
designed, consistently applied and effective, as detailed in Annex C to 
the report. 

 
43/16 HMIC INSPECTION ACTIVITY  

43.1 The report provided an update on HMIC Inspection Activity over the 
past twelve months.  In addition, Mr Neaves provided an update on the 
Legitimacy Inspection and advised that Derbyshire were one of only two 
Forces to receive a grading of OUTSTANDING. 

 
43.2 The committee suggested that it may be useful to see progress against 

the action plans.  Mr Neaves advised that some narrative on actions 
taken is included within and the purpose of the report is allow members 
to form an opinion of the HMIC inspection results.  

 
43.3 Mr Neaves provided an overview of Stop and Search and reassured 

members that the action plan is a working document which is regularly 
reviewed by the Assistant Chief Constable.  

 
43.4 Referring to the Domestic Abuse action plan, member queries if the 

Constabulary are satisfied with the staffing levels, Mr Neaves advised 
that most of the backlog has now been cleared and changes have 
made to ensure this area is well resourced. Mr Neaves also reassured 
members that more training is now being delivered to both Officers and 
Staff.  

 
43.4 Finally, Mr Neaves added that an HMIC Inspection is incredibly detailed 

therefore the overall HMIC assessment should provide members with 
an high level of assurance.  

 
RESOLVED: 
1. Direct assurance was taken that there is a process in place to 

implement, where relevant, HMIC recommendations.  
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MEMBERS AGREED TO RE-ORDER THE AGENDA TO ALLOW THE CRIME 
REGISTRAR AND DEPUTY CRIME REGISTRAR TO PRESENT THE NCRS AND 
NSIR COMPLIANCE REPORT (AGENDA ITEM 11A) 
 

44/16  NCRS AND NSIR COMPLIANCE REPORT  
 
 44.1 As members had been unable to gain direct assurance around NCRS 

at the meeting in September, the Crime Registrar (Insp. Sandeman) 
and Deputy Crime Registrar (Sgt Spencer) provided an update to the 
Committee.  

 
 44.2 Insp. Sandeman and Sgt Spencer advised that the latest audits have 

been affected by the ability to draw information due to the new system.  
They explained that clean data is being entered, however the technical 
aspect of extracting the data is difficult at present and IT are working on 
this.   

 
 44.3 Reassurance was given that a Steering Group meet every three months 

to discuss Crime Recording in general and this is chaired by ACC 
Haward.  To provide additional reassurance Insp. Sandeman explained 
that staff do receive lots of training and there is good input from 
managers to explain the importance of getting the data right.  All that is 
recorded is also checked.  

 
 44.4 Members requested some reassurance about the resourcing of the 

CCMC.  The Crime Registrar explained that the Centre is currently 
better staffed after a period of recruitment and matters are improving 
daily in terms of calls answered and the abandonment rate which is 
reducing.  

 
 44.5 Members thank Insp. Sandeman and Sgt Spencer for providing the 

update and explaining why the credibility of data at this time is 
unsatisfactory.  Members agreed to receive a report in June to review 
the data when hopefully, the technical aspects will have been resolved.  

 
 44.6 Members remained unable to gain direct assurance around NCRS and 

the recommendation was amended to reflect this.  
 
 RESOLVED: 

1. Limited assurance was gained that this area of business is being 
managed efficiently and effectively.  
 

 45/16 OPCC RISK REGISTER 2016 REVIEW 

 45.1 Mrs Boffy presented the report and the amended OPCC risk register 
attached at Appendix A. 
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 45.2 Mrs Boffy highlighted, as detailed within the report, that the register 

cannot be finalised until the OPCC delivery plan is completed (para 
2.4).   

 45.3 As detailed at para 2.6, the register presented was the ‘old’ register, 
updated in September, which reflects the ‘old’ Police and Crime.  The 
risks expected to match across to the new register have been 
highlighted in blue.   

 45.4 An updated Risk Register based on the new Police and Crime Plan will 
be presented to the Committee in March 2017. 

 45.5 Referring to page 12, para 3.4 of the register members noted that the 
rehabilitation agenda was not coloured ‘blue’, denoting that it may not 
transfer across to the new register.  As this was considered a high level 
risk, members queried this.  Mrs Boffy explained that this risk no longer 
fits with the new Police and Crime Plan and this may therefore, 
disappear.  Members raised their concerns. 

  RESOLVED: 
1. It was noted that the mid-year risk register review has taken place on 

 the risks associated with the 2012-2017 Police and Crime Plan and an 
 up to date OPCC risk register. 

2. It was noted that an up to date OPCC risk register based on the new 
 Police and Crime Plan will be presented to the Committee in March 
 2017.  

 
46/16  FORCE RISK MANAGEMENT 

46.1 Ms Sunderland had attended the Force Risk Management Board the 
day previously and a verbal briefing to members was provided.  Ms 
Sunderland advised that the meeting was positively conducted with an 
appropriate level of questioning and with the right level of people to 
answer.  She concluded that it was a really useful meeting to observe 
and lots of assurance was gained.  

 
46.2  The Force Risk Management Board had considered a confidential risk 

and whilst the reason for the sensitivity was understood, Ms Sunderland 
questioned whether there would be merit for the Committee to be 
briefed on confidential risks in a confidential section of the meeting. Mr 
Neaves advised that the Force Risk Management Report provide an 
overview of risks, allowing members to have oversight of new risks and 
movement of risk, but not the management of risk, because of this, the 
merit of the suggestion was questioned.  Mr Neaves, did however, 
provide members with assurance that should a confidential high risk, 
with high probability feature on the risk register then the Force would 
brief the Committee.  
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46.3 Detailed at para 5 was the audit of risk management and the audit 

report was attached at Appendix A which overall gave significant 
assurance with just one housekeeping recommendation around 
business continuity of risk management. The Committee questioned 
whether this was included within the Force Risk Register and they 
explained that it would be useful for them to understand how this risk 
would affect other areas that the committee examine.  Mr Neaves 
agreed to check and report back to members.  Mr Neaves also agreed 
to consider asking the Chief Constable or Deputy Chief Constable to 
attend a future meeting of the JARAC to provide an update. 

 
 RESOLVED: 

1.  Assurance was gained that this area of business is being managed 
efficiently and effectively.  

 
47/16  APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS – APPOINTING  
  PERSON – STRATEGIC GOVERNANCE BOARD FEEDBACK AND 
  EXTENSION OF AUDIT APPOINTMENT 
 
 47.1 The report informed the committee of the decision of the Commissioner 

in respect to the ‘appointing person’ for determining the external audit 
provider from 2018/19 audit and the extension of external audit up to 
the completion of 2017/18 accounts.  

 
 RESOLVED: 

1. The decision of the Commissioner through the Strategic Governance 
Board to appoint Public Sector Audit Appointments as the Specified 
Appointing Person for the Police & Crime Commissioner, the Group and 
the Chief Constable accounts was noted.  

2. The extension of the external audit to KPMG by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments until the conclusion of the accounts for 2017/2018 was 
noted.  

 
48/16  ANNUAL AUDIT LETTER 2015/16 
 
  48.1 Mr Cardoza presented the Annual Audit Letter attached at Appendix A. 
 
 48.2 Mr Cardoza highlighted that assurance can be taken, once again, that 

the arrangements by Derbyshire police for financial reporting, value for 
money and external reporting were satisfactory.  

 
 48.3 As this was Mrs Boffy’s last meeting, Mr Cardoza thanked Mrs Boffy for 

her contribution in ensuring the delivery of sound financial management 
which were a credit to the Constabulary.  The Committee echoed the 
accolade and all wished Mrs Boffy the very best for her future 
endeavours.  
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 RESOLVED: 

1. The Annual Audit Letter for 2015/16 was received and assurance was 
taken that once again the arrangements by Derbyshire police for 
financial reporting, value for money and external reporting were 
satisfactory.  

2. The Committee noted that the Commissioner and the Chief Constable 
have received the Annual Audit letter for 2015/16 at the Strategic 
Governance Board meeting on 28 November 2016.    

49/16  POLICE AND CRIME PLAN 2016 - 2021 

 49.1 It was noted that this was a report of the Treasurer and NOT the 
External Auditor as stated on the report.  

 49.2 Mrs Boffy presented the draft Police and Crime Plan to cover the period 
2016-2021, attached at Appendix A.   

 49.3 Members reflected that the information relating to the JARAC was short 
and did not provide an explanation of what the Committee do.  They 
advised that the previous plan had a much larger, explanatory section 
on the Committee responsibilities.  

 49.4 Members queried whether a risk and threat seminar is being planned 
for 2017.  Mr Neaves agreed to check whether a date had been set.  

 RESOLVED: 
1. The Police and Crime Plan 2016 – 2021 was received which, it was 

noted, will information the Committee on risk assurance activity.  

 
 
Meeting Closed at 1pm 
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JOINT AUDIT, RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE 
 
REVIEW OF ACTIONS  
 

Agenda 
Item  

Report Title and Action Required Responsible 
Officer 

Progress 

Meeting of the JARAC 14 July 2016 
9B Internal Audit Progress Report  

Members considered the Follow-Up of Audit Recommendations 
(Appendix F) and referred to the HR transactional follow-up which had a 
number of recommendations with no detail as to whether these had 
been addressed.  Mr Welch offered to examine this in further detail and 
report back to members in due course. 
Update from meeting of the Committee 22 September:  
Ms Alcock to provide Mr Welsh with further information.  
 
 

 
Miss Alcock  

Update 14 
December 2016: 
The 
recommendations 
referred to in the 
HR transactional 
follow up (Learning 
and Development) 
will be picked up 
next quarter during 
an interim visit. 
 

Meeting of the JARAC 22 September 2016 
7A Internal Audit Progress Report  

To provide members with information on the scope and fieldwork dates 
for the audits of Estates Management and IT Security.  Mr Welch 
agreed to share the draft Terms of Reference with members.  
 

 
Mr Welch 

IT Security 
received.  Estates 
Management 
Scope to follow.  

Meeting of the JARAC 15 December 2016 
3 Minutes of meeting held on 22 September 

Ms Alcock advised that she had requested subject matter experts to 
attend the meeting and present their reports which had been accepted.  
It was acknowledged that future agendas may need to be tailored to 
accommodate this request.   
 

 
Liz Kelly / 
Andrew Dale  
 
 
 

 
Noted, SME’s will 
be invited as 
appropriate.  
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To allow the Committee to have oversight of how the Professional 
Standards Department (PSD) are managed it had been agreed that the 
Committee receive copies of PSD reports which are received by the 
Strategic Governance Board twice per year. 
 

Liz Kelly / 
Andrew Dale 

Next Report due 
May 2017 

 A meeting date of 14 September had been suggested, members 
queried if this had been agreed.  To ensure this meeting coincides with 
the sign offs for the accounts it was agreed that this be checked and 
confirmation will be provided by email.  
 

Liz Kelly 14 September 
confirmed.  

5A Internal Audit Progress Report 
 
Collaboration – Legal Services.  Limited Assurance was given with 
one fundamental recommendation (Annex C). The fundamental 
recommendation was to reinstate the Management Board for EMPLS, 
therefore to gain some assurance that this is under control, members 
requested a schedule of planned meetings. 
 

 
Andrew Dale  

 
Verbal Update will 
be provided at the 
March meeting.  

11A NCRS and NSIR Compliance Report  
 
To receive a further report at the meeting of the Committee in June.  
 

 
Terry Neaves 

 
JARAC Meeting 
June 2017 

7A OPCC Risk Register 2016 Review 
 
To receive an updated Risk Register based on the new Police and 
Crime Plan in March 2017. 

 
Andrew Dale  

 
On the agenda 
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JOINT AUDIT RISK AND ASSURANCE COMIITTEE  
9 MARCH 2017 

REPORT OF THE INTERNAL AUDITOR  

5A: INTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT 2016/17 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To receive a progress report from the internal auditors on their work to date 

this during this financial year, including collaboration audits. 

1.2 This report provides summarised version of the key milestones since the last 

progress report together with full copies of finalised audit reports issued since 

the last progress report.  The latter, Partnerships in this case, is attached at 

APPENDIX B. 

2. INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS 

Progress report  

2.1 As part of the management of the internal audit process, a progress report is 

provided to each meeting of the JARAC.  Attached at APPENDIX A to this 

report is the latest progress report dated March 2017.  

2.2 The report shows a summary of progress against the Internal Audit plan, 

including the status of the audit assignment reports produced in this quarter. 

2.3 The opinions issued and the actions by priority are categorised into either 

Priority 1 (Fundamental), Priority 2 (Significant) or Priority 3 (Housekeeping).  

2.4 In some cases the audit is advisory and no opinion is issued. Some reports 

are in the form of letters/memos rather than full reports. 

2.5 The table on page 2 within APPENDIX A to this report shows the internal 

audit work to date and summarises the results of that work. 

  

        Part I – 
     For Publication  
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2.6 Members are asked to review the covering progress report and each detailed 

audit assignment.  

2.7 The committee needs to consider if it can take assurance that the controls 

upon which the organisation relies to manage each of the audit activities are 

suitably designed, consistently applied and effective as detailed in the 

material accompanying this report. 

2.8 The report will be presented by a representative from Mazars.  JARAC 

Members will then have the opportunity to question the internal auditor. 

2.9 There is an opportunity to review the content of the audit plan to ensure it 

continues to be fit for purpose. 

 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

i. That the Committee takes assurance that the internal audit plan 

addresses relevant matters and is being delivered as expected, as 

detailed in the progress report at APPENDIX A to the report. 

ii. It is recommended that the committee take assurance that the 

organisation’s Partnerships function is suitably governed, efficient and 

effective as detailed in APPENDIX A1 and APPENDIX B to the report. 

4. IMPLICATIONS 

All implications are assessed and scored to the table below.  
HIGH – supporting explanation and narrative required and to be contained 
within the report 
MEDIUM – narrative to be contained within the report at the discretion of the 
author  
LOW – no narrative required 
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 LOW MEDIUM HIGH 

Crime & Disorder X   

Environmental X   

Equality & Diversity X   

Financial X   

Health & Safety X   

Human Rights X   

Legal X   

Personnel X   

  

Contact details 
in the event of 
enquiries 

Name: Andrew Dale (Chief Finance Officer) 
External telephone number: 0300 122 6005 
Email address: andrew.dale.16973@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

1. Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 

2. Attachments 

Appendix A.          Internal Audit Progress Report March 2017, Mazars  

Appendix A1.          Summary of Reports 2016/17 

Appendix A2.         Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 

Appendix A3-A5.   Glossary, Contact Details and Statement of Responsibility 

Appendix B.          Partnerships 
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01  Introduction 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Joint Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee (JARAC) as to the progress in respect of the Operational Plan 

for the year ended 31st March 2017, together with progress on delivering the 2016/17 Internal Audit Plan which was considered and approved by the 
JARAC at its meeting on 3rd March 2016.   

1.2 The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable are responsible for ensuring that the organisations have proper internal control and 
management systems in place.  In order to do this, they must obtain assurance on the effectiveness of those systems throughout the year, and are 
required to make a statement on the effectiveness of internal control within their annual report and financial statements. 
 

1.3 Internal audit provides the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable with an independent and objective opinion on governance, risk 
management and internal control and their effectiveness in achieving the organisations’ agreed objectives.  Internal audit also has an independent 
and objective advisory role to help line managers improve governance, risk management and internal control.  The work of internal audit, culminating 
in our annual opinion, forms a part of the OPCC and Forces’ overall assurance framework and assists in preparing an informed statement on internal 
control.    
 

1.4 Responsibility for a sound system of internal control rests with the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable and work performed by 
internal audit should not be relied upon to identify all weaknesses which exist or all improvements which may be made.  Effective implementation of 
our recommendations makes an important contribution to the maintenance of reliable systems of internal control and governance. 

1.5 Internal audit should not be relied upon to identify fraud or irregularity, although our procedures are designed so that any material irregularity has a 
reasonable probability of discovery.  Even sound systems of internal control will not necessarily be an effective safeguard against collusive fraud. 

1.6 Our work is delivered is accordance with the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS). 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

2 

 

02 Summary of internal audit work to date 
 

2.1 We have issued one final report in respect of the 2016/17 plan since the last progress report to the JARAC, this being in respect of Partnerships. 
We have also issued a draft report in respect of ICT Review where we await management’s response. Further details are provided in Appendix 1. 
 

Derbyshire 2016/17 Audits Report 
Status 

Assurance 
Opinion  

Priority 1 
(Fundamental) 

Priority 2 
(Significant) 

Priority 3 
(Housekeeping) 

Total 

Risk Management Final Significant - - 1 1 

POCA Follow-up Final N/A - - - - 

Firearms Licensing Final Satisfactory - 2 2 4 

National Undercover Policing 
Inquiry 

Final Satisfactory - 1 - 1 

Workforce Planning Final Satisfactory - 4 1 5 

Divisional Regulatory Checks Final N/A - - - - 

Core Financial Systems Final Satisfactory - 3 4 7 

Payroll Final Satisfactory1 - 1 - 1 

Partnerships  Final Satisfactory - 4 - 4 

ICT Review Draft      

  Total 0 15 8 23 

 

1Payroll – as Leicestershire Police provide the payroll service on behalf of Derbyshire, the opinion relates to the Payroll audit carried out as part of the Leicestershire Police internal audit 

plan. The number / priority of recommendations are those included in the separate memo provided to Derbyshire and which is summarised in Appendix 1. 
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2.2 It should be noted that the second regulatory check is to be carried out in April 2017, whilst the time set aside under the heading ‘Governance’ has 
been used to update the Assurance Map developed in 2015/16 and contributed to the production of the 2017/18 Internal Audit Plan. As previously 
reported, the audit of Estates Management was deferred from December to February to allow time for the new Head of Estates to be in post. Following 
further discussions, due to the ongoing joint arrangements with the Fire Service, it was agreed that this audit would be deferred to 2017/18. Further 
details are provided within Appendix A2. 

2.3 As reported in our previous progress report, five specific areas have been identified in terms of the collaborative audits for 2016/17. These reviews 
looked at the business plan and S22 agreement in terms of whether it is being delivered and is fit for purpose going forward; the scope also included 
value for money considerations and arrangements for managing risk. To date, we have finalised three reports (Shared HR Service Centre, Legal 
Services and EMSCU). Work in respect of EMSOU has recently been completed and is being reviewed, whilst work in respect of EMOpSS is in progress.  

Collaboration Audits 
2016/17  

Status Assurance 
Opinion  

Priority 1 
(Fundamental) 

Priority 2 
(Significant) 

Priority 3 
(Housekeeping) 

Total 

EM Shared HR Service 
Centre 

Final Satisfactory  1 3 4 

EM Legal Services Final Limited 1 3 2 6 

EMOpSS Work in progress      

EMS Commercial Unit Final Satisfactory  3  3 

EMSOU Fieldwork 
complete; being 

reviewed. 

     

  Total 1 7 5 13 
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03  Performance  

3.1 The following table details the Internal Audit Service performance for the year to date measured against the key performance indicators that were set 
out within Audit Charter.  

No Indicator Criteria Performance 

1 Annual report provided to the JARAC As agreed with the Client Officer N/A 

2 Annual Operational and Strategic Plans to the JARAC As agreed with the Client Officer Achieved 

3 Progress report to the JARAC 7 working days prior to meeting. Achieved 

4 Issue of draft report 
Within 10 working days of completion 

of final exit meeting. 

90% (9/10) 

 

5 Issue of final report 
Within 5 working days of agreement 

of responses. 

100% (9/9) 

 

6 Follow-up of priority one recommendations 
90% within four months. 100% within 

six months. 
N/A 

7 Follow-up of other recommendations 
100% within 12 months of date of 

final report. 
Achieved 

8 Audit Brief to auditee 
At least 10 working days prior to 

commencement of fieldwork. 
100% (11/11) 

9 Customer satisfaction (measured by survey) 85% average satisfactory or above 100% (1/1) 
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Appendix A1 – Summary of Reports 2016/17  

 

Below we provide brief outlines of the work carried out, a summary of our key findings raised and the assurance opinions 
given in respect of the final reports issued since the last progress report: 

Partnerships 

Overall Assurance Opinion Satisfactory 

 

Recommendation Priorities 

Priority 1 (Fundamental) - 

Priority 2 (Significant)  4 

Priority 3 (Housekeeping) - 

 

Our audit considered the following area objectives: 

Governance 

• Governance arrangements for individual Partnerships are clearly defined, including roles and 
responsibilities, risk management processes, decision making and reporting arrangements. 
 

Management 

• Partnerships are managed operationally in line with strategic requirements as outlined by the OPCC 
and, in particular, the Police & Crime Plan. 

• The OPCC use resources effectively in its engagements with both statutory and non-statutory 
partnerships 

 
Monitoring 

• Partnership arrangements are regularly reviewed to ensure that they remain relevant, effective and 
outcomes are being achieved and can be aligned with the objectives set out in the Police & Crime 
Plan. 

• Regular monitoring information is produced to inform reporting of Partnership activity, including 
consideration of value for money. 

We raised four priority 2 recommendations where we believe there is scope for improvement within the control 
environment.  These are set out below: 

• A set of partnership principles should be produced to complement the business plan for delivering the objectives 
within the Police and Crime Plan. The business plan should include a section for partnership working which 
includes, but not be limited to, the following: 
� The priorities to be delivered; 
� How partners will help to deliver the priorities; 
� When partnerships will be used; 
� What the roles and responsibilities of partners are; 

� How resources will be utilised in partnerships; and 
� The risk management processes that are in place for partnerships.   
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• An exercise should be conducted to identify the current partnership working arrangements in operation and a 
map of the framework of partnerships should be produced. This should include the identification of governance 
arrangements in place to oversee partnership working across work streams helping to deliver the Police and 
Crime Plan and the resources currently utilised within these partnerships. 
 

• A formal annual review of partnerships should take place to confirm that they continue to be appropriate and 
useful, that the partnerships are being managed effectively, that resources are being appropriately utilised and 
that results are being produced against the strategic priorities. 

Upon production of the partnership principles, these should also be reviewed on an annual basis to confirm that 
they remain relevant and appropriate for the office. 

• A standing agenda item for partnership activity should be included within Strategic Governance Board (SGB) 
meetings. 

A template highlight report to be reported to the SGB should be produced which provides details of the 
partnership activity completed over the period, future activity planned, quantitative data to support the benefits 
delivered and value for money considerations. 

Management confirmed that all actions will be implemented by September 2017. 

 

Shared Human Resource Service Centre 

Assurance Opinion Satisfactory 

 

Recommendation Priorities 

Priority 1 (Fundamental) - 

Priority 2 (Significant)  1 

Priority 3 (Housekeeping) 3 

 

Our audit considered the following risks relating to the area under review: 

• A Section 22 agreement is in place that clearly sets out the decision making and governance 
framework that is in place; 

• A clearly defined Business Plan is in place that sets out the statutory duties, objectives and the key 
performance indicators for the services to be provided; 

• The Business Plan is set in line with the Section 22 agreement and it is regularly reviewed to ensure 
it remains ‘fit for purpose’; 

• There are effective reporting processes in place to provide assurances to the Forces on the 
performance of the unit; 

• Value for money considerations are regularly reviewed and reported to the Forces; and 

• The unit has procedures in place to ensure that risks are identified, assessed recorded and managed 
appropriately.  
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We raised one priority 2 recommendation where we believe there is scope for improvement within the control 
environment.  This related to the following: 

• The current SLA KPI’s should continue to be reviewed to ensure SHRSC are able to clearly report on each 
one. These should be presented and approved at the next Management Board  

Moreover, a quarterly performance report that includes all SLA KPI’s should be created and communicated 
to both Forces to allow effective scrutiny of SHRSC performance. 

We also raised three priority 3 recommendations of a more housekeeping nature. These were in respect of 
approval of the business plan, risk management and reporting of value for money.  

Management confirmed that the recommendations would be implemented by the end of March 2017. 

 

East Midlands Strategic Commercial Unit  

Assurance Opinion Satisfactory 

 

Recommendation Priorities 

Priority 1 (Fundamental) - 

Priority 2 (Significant)  3 

Priority 3 (Housekeeping) - 

 

Our audit considered the following risks relating to the area under review: 

• A Section 22 agreement is in place that clearly sets out the decision making and governance 
framework that is in place; 

• A clearly defined Business Plan is in place that sets out the statutory duties, objectives and the key 
performance indicators for the services to be provided; 

• The Business Plan is set in line with the Section 22 agreement and it is regularly reviewed to ensure 
it remains ‘fit for purpose’; 

• There are effective reporting processes in place to provide assurances to the Forces on the 
performance of the unit; 

• Value for money considerations are regularly reviewed and reported to the Forces; and 

• The unit has procedures in place to ensure that risks are identified, assessed recorded and managed 
appropriately.  

We raised three priority 2 recommendations where we believe there is scope for improvement within the control 
environment.  These related to the following: 

• The Forces’ and EMSCU should ensure that the Management Board meetings are held on a regular / 
quarterly basis in order that performance is appropriately reviewed and actions put in place to address 
areas of weakness where necessary. 

The SLT meeting timetable and agenda should be updated to reflect the move from monthly meetings to 
quarterly and ensure all standing agenda items listed are addressed at each meeting. 
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• The Business Plan should be reviewed and approved by the EMSCU Management Board to ensure the 
Forces have assurance that it meets the requirements of each Force.   

 

• EMSCU should review the current KPI’s that are in place and should prepare updated KPI’s that can be 
presented to the Management Board for scrutiny, approval and subsequent regular reporting. 

Management confirmed that the recommendations would be implemented by the end of March 2017. 
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Appendix A2  Internal Audit Plan 2016/17 

Auditable Area Planned 
Fieldwork 

Date 

Draft Report 
Date 

Final Report 
Date 

Target 
JARAC 

Comments 

Core Assurance 

Core Financials Oct 2016 Nov 2016 Nov 2016 Dec 2016 Final report issued. 

Payroll Nov 2016 Nov 2016 Nov 2016 Dec 2016 Final memo issued. 

Regulatory Checks – Divisions Aug 2016 Sept 2016 Sept 2016 Sept 2016 Final memo issued. 

Governance Jan 2017 - - Mar 2017 Deliverable was the draft 2017/18 IA Plan 

Risk Management June 2016 June 2016 June 2016 July 2016 Final report issued. 

Strategic & Operational Risk 

ICT Review Jan 2016 Feb 2017  Mar 2017 Draft report issued. 

Firearms Licensing May 2016 May 2016 July 2016 Sept 2016 Final report issued. 

Partnerships Nov 2016 Nov 2016 Jan 2017 Mar 2017 Final report issued. 

Estates Management Feb 2017 - - Mar 2017 Audit deferred to 2017/18 upon 

management request. 

National Undercover Policing 

Enquiry 

June 2016 June 2016 July 2016 Sept 2016 Final report issued. 

Workforce Planning July 2016 July 2016 July 2016 Sept 2016 Final report issued. 
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Auditable Area Planned 
Fieldwork 

Date 

Draft Report 
Date 

Final Report 
Date 

Target 
JARAC 

Comments 

Collaboration 

EMCHRS Transactional Services Dec 2016 Dec 2016 Jan 2017 Mar 2017 Final report issued. 

EM Legal Services Nov 2016 Nov 2016 Nov 2016 Dec 2016 Final report issued. 

EMOpSS Feb / Mar 2017   Mar 2017 Work in progress. 

EMS Commercial Unit Nov 2016 Dec 2016 Jan 2017 Mar 2017 Final report issued. 

EMSOU Jan / Feb 2017   Mar 2017 Fieldwork completed; being reviewed. 

Other 

POCA Follow-up June 2016 June 2016 June 2016 July 2016 Final report issued. 
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Appendix A3 – Definition of Assurances and Priorities 

Definitions of Assurance Levels 

Assurance Level Adequacy of system 
design 

Effectiveness of 
operating controls 

Significant 
Assurance: 

There is a sound system 
of internal control 
designed to achieve the 
Organisation’s objectives. 

The control processes 
tested are being 
consistently applied. 

Satisfactory 
Assurance: 

While there is a basically 
sound system of internal 
control, there are 
weaknesses, which put 
some of the 
Organisation’s objectives 
at risk. 

There is evidence that 
the level of non-
compliance with some 
of the control processes 
may put some of the 
Organisation’s 
objectives at risk. 

Limited Assurance: Weaknesses in the 
system of internal 
controls are such as to 
put the Organisation’s 
objectives at risk. 

The level of non-
compliance puts the 
Organisation’s 
objectives at risk. 

No Assurance Control processes are 
generally weak leaving 
the processes/systems 
open to significant error 
or abuse. 

Significant non-
compliance with basic 
control processes 
leaves the 
processes/systems 
open to error or abuse. 

 

 

Definitions of Recommendations  

 

Priority Description 

Priority 1 
(Fundamental) 

Recommendations represent fundamental control 
weaknesses, which expose the organisation to a high 
degree of unnecessary risk. 

Priority 2 
(Significant)  

Recommendations represent significant control 
weaknesses which expose the organisation to a moderate 
degree of unnecessary risk. 

Priority 3 
(Housekeeping)  

Recommendations show areas where we have highlighted 
opportunities to implement a good or better practice, to 
improve efficiency or further reduce exposure to risk. 
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Appendix A4 - Contact Details 

 

Contact Details 

 

David Hoose 
07552 007708 

David.Hoose@Mazars.co.uk 

Brian Welch 

 

07780 970200 

Brian.Welch@Mazars.co.uk 
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A5  Statement of Responsibility  
 

Status of our reports 

The responsibility for maintaining internal control rests with management, with internal audit providing a 
service to management to enable them to achieve this objective.  Specifically, we assess the adequacy of the 
internal control arrangements implemented by management and perform testing on those controls to ensure 
that they are operating for the period under review.  We plan our work in order to ensure that we have a 
reasonable expectation of detecting significant control weaknesses.  However, our procedures alone are not a 
guarantee that fraud, where existing, will be discovered.                                                                                           

The contents of this report are confidential and not for distribution to anyone other than the Office of the Police 
and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and Derbyshire Police.  Disclosure to third parties cannot be made 
without the prior written consent of Mazars LLP. 

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an international advisory and accountancy group.  Mazars LLP is 

registered by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales to carry out company audit work. 



Final Internal Audit Report 

Partnerships 

January 2017 

APPENDIX B TO AGENDA ITEM 5A
JARAC

9 MARCH 2017 
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01 Introduction 
As part of the Internal Audit Plan for 2016/17 for the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and Derbyshire Police, we have 
undertaken an audit of the controls and processes in place in respect of 
Partnerships.   

The specific areas that formed part of this review included: governance 
arrangements, management of partnerships and monitoring of partnerships.   

We engaged with a number of staff members across the OPCC during the 
review and are grateful for their assistance during the course of the audit.  

02 Background  
In the current economic climate, partnership working is an effective 
mechanism to help to achieve objectives whilst sharing knowledge, 
experience and resources in order to work with greater efficiency.   
 
The strategic requirements for the Police and Crime Commissioner are 
outlined within the Police and Crime Plan and partnership working is a key 
mechanism that aids in the delivery of these. The 2012-2017 Police and 
Crime Plan details the following five guiding principles for Derbyshire 
Constabulary: 

• Reducing crime; 

• Attacking criminality; 

• Providing reassurance; 

• Protecting the vulnerable; and 

• Delivering value for money. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
In addition, the Plan notes seven key threats facing policing and community 
safety within Derbyshire. These key threats are extended within the current 
Commissioners 2016-2021 Police and Crime Plan to a total of 13. The key 
threats, combined with the Commissioner’s specific strategic priorities for 
their term in office, help to guide the partnership arrangements for the OPCC.  
 
There are a number of partnerships, both statutory and non-statutory, 
currently operational that are supporting the achievement of the principles 
and priorities whilst also helping to mitigate the threats facing the Derbyshire 
area. Boards/Groups, whose membership is made up of partners and 
representatives from the OPCC, oversee activity within specific streams of 
work.  
 
This audit was a high level strategic review that looked at the overall 
governance arrangements in place for partnerships that the PCC is involved 
in. This may then lead to Audit performing further specific reviews of individual 
partnerships at a later date.  
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03 Key Findings 

Assurance on adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls 
 

 Satisfactory Assurance 

 

Examples of areas where controls are operating reliably 

• Partnership activity takes place which helps to deliver the objectives of the 
PCC’s Police & Crime Plan.  

• Groups/Boards are attended by partners and representatives from the OPCC 
to oversee activity across work streams. 

• Formal governance arrangements are in place for the partnership between the 
OPCC and Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

• The Strategic Governance Board meets on a regular basis and receives 
update reports on various work streams including, for example, domestic 
violence and organised crime. 

 

Priority Number of recommendations 

1 (Fundamental) - 

2 (Significant) 4 

3 (Housekeeping) - 

TOTAL 4 

 
# 
 

Sector Comparison 

Public sector organisations continue to face a significant reduction in resources and 
are therefore regularly reviewing their partnership arrangements to ensure they are 
effective, avoid duplication of activity and provide value for money. 

The Police and Crime Plans for Police and Crime Commissioners help to guide the 
partnership work undertaken in order to support the achievement of priorities and 
reduce the likelihood of risks and threats materialising. 

From the work undertaken across our client base it can be seen that some other 
Forces have a structured partnerships framework in place which includes an 
overarching governance board and a number of subgroups to oversee partnership 
working within specific streams of work. Partnership performance highlight reports 
aid in the assessment of the effectiveness of the partnerships, whilst also providing 
a mechanism for the governance board to assess value for money including the 
utilisation of resources.  

 

Risk Management 

Whilst there is a basically sound system of internal control, some areas of 
improvement were identified to strengthen the management of partnership 
arrangements. 

Partnership strategies set out the vision, objectives and priorities for partnerships, 
giving a strategic direction and forming the basis for informed decision making. The 
Police and Crime Plan sets the strategic priorities for partnership working by the 
OPCC, although the production of a set of partnership principles to compliment this 
plan will improve the basis for decision making in partnership working.  

A key risk in partnership working is that outdated partnerships which do not address 
current issues are not identified. Statutory and larger non-statutory partnerships 
have formalised governance arrangements in place and, as a result of this, a formal 
review of the partnership takes place on an annual basis to confirm its effectiveness. 
However, this formal review process does not occur for all partnerships currently 
operational.  
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Another risk in partnership working is that the OPCC and Force are unable to 
demonstrate that the resource being utilised within partnerships is effective and 
providing value for money in terms of increasing public confidence in policing in line 
with the Police and Crime Plan. An up to date framework should be established to 
map the partnership arrangements in place and the resources used for these. This 
can subsequently be used to ensure that resources are used effectively within the 
partnerships whilst aiding in the delivery of the priorities. The framework can also be 
used to guide the reporting of partnerships activity to an appropriate forum in order 
for there to be increased strategic oversight.  

 

Value for money 

Value for money (VfM) considerations can arise in various ways and our audit 
process aims to include an overview of the efficiency of systems and processes in 
place within the auditable area.   

VfM in partnership working can be assessed in three ways: 

• Economy: minimising the cost of resources used or required (inputs) – spending 
less; 

• Efficiency: the relationship between the output from goods or services and the 
resources to produce them – spending well; and 

• Effectiveness: the relationship between the intended and actual results of public 
spending (outcomes) – spending wisely. 

Our review identified that the Office is aware of the use of its resources against the 
delivered outputs as a result of partnership working arrangements. This is 
strengthened by the current review of the use of its resources for the Derbyshire 
Safeguarding Boards in order to achieve greater utilisation. 

However, the process for reviewing VfM in partnership working could be improved 
by regularly monitoring and reporting value for money considerations in all 
partnerships to an overarching board or forum. This could be included within the 
recommended highlight report for partnership activity that could be reported to the 
Strategic Governance Board.  
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04 Areas for Further Improvement and Action Plan 
Definitions for the levels of assurance and recommendations used within our reports are included in Appendix A1. 

We identified a number of areas where there is scope for improvement in the control environment. The matters arising have been discussed with management, 
to whom we have made recommendations. The recommendations are detailed in the management action plan below.  

 Observation/Risk Recommendation Priority Management response Timescale/ 
responsibility 

4.1 Production of Partnership Principles 

Observation: To ensure that partnership working is 
appropriately guided, a set of partnership principles 
should be produced and the business plan to 
deliver the objectives within the Police and Crime 
Plan should include an individual section on 
partnerships.  

A review of the documents currently in place for 
partnership working highlighted that the OPCC has 
not formally defined what they see a partnership to 
be, how partners will help to deliver the objectives 
within the Police and Crime Plan, when the OPCC 
will use partnership working and how resources will 
be used effectively in partnership working.  

It was confirmed that a business plan is to be 
produced which will outline how the Police and 
Crime Plan will be delivered. This business plan will 
include an individual strand on partnership working 
which will provide further detail on partnerships 
than that of the Police and Crime Plan and the 
OPCC website. It was, however, agreed that the 
production of a set of partnership principles for the 

 

A set of partnership principles should 
be produced to complement the 
business plan for delivering the 
objectives within the Police and Crime 
Plan. The business plan should 
include a section for partnership 
working which includes, but not be 
limited to, the following: 

• The priorities to be delivered; 

• How partners will help to deliver 
the priorities; 

• When partnerships will be used; 

• What the roles and 
responsibilities of partners are; 

• How resources will be utilised in 
partnerships; and 

• The risk management processes 
that are in place for partnerships.   

 

2 

Agree to address the partnership 
principles; this will be included in the 
Finance and Commissioning Team 
Business Plan and in the Financial 
Handbook (Financial Regulations) not the 
OPCC high level plan.  

June 2017 

Andrew Dale 
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 Observation/Risk Recommendation Priority Management response Timescale/ 
responsibility 

office would add value to the business plan and 
help to focus partnership working. 

Risk: Where partnership working is not 
appropriately guided there is a risk that ineffective 
decisions are taken which could result in the 
benefits of partnership working not being delivered. 
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 Observation/Risk Recommendation Priority Management response Timescale/ 
responsibility 

4.2 Establishing the Partnership Framework 

Observation: To ensure that the OPCC has full 
awareness of all partnership working and the 
governance arrangements for these, an exercise 
should be conducted to map out the framework of 
partnerships for the office.   

It was confirmed that an exercise was completed a 
number of years ago to identify the partnership 
work and governance arrangements for these 
partnerships within the office.  However, this has 
since not been refreshed and is therefore outdated.  

Mapping out the current partnership working 
arrangements would allow the office to have 
oversight of the partnership activity taking place, 
the governance arrangements in place for these 
and the resources that are utilised for these 
partnerships. This would be beneficial in the long 
term when reviewing the effectiveness and 
relevance of partnerships and the effective use of 
resources.  

Risk: Where the OPCC is not fully aware of all 
partnership working and governance arrangements 
there is a risk of potential ineffective partnerships 
or duplication of activities not being identified which 
could result in the ineffective use of resources. 

 

An exercise should be conducted to 
identify the current partnership 
working arrangements in operation 
and a map of the framework of 
partnerships should be produced. This 
should include the identification of 
governance arrangements in place to 
oversee partnership working across 
work streams helping to deliver the 
Police and Crime Plan and the 
resources currently utilised within 
these partnerships. 

 

2 

 

Nice to do but not essential. 

Agreed that a review be carried out but in 
the context of determining the appropriate 
support/attendance at the partnership, 
and what benefit the Commissioner gains 
from that partnership. See also 4.3 

It should also identify gaps.  

 

David Peet 

(Joe Orwin) 

June 2017 
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 Observation/Risk Recommendation Priority Management response Timescale/ 
responsibility 

4.3 Annual Review of Partnerships 

Observation: To ensure that the partnership 
principles and the partnership working 
arrangements remain both relevant and effective, 
resources are being utilised appropriately and to 
identify any ineffective partnerships, a formal 
annual review should be conducted.  

It was confirmed that there are a number of 
partnership working arrangements in place that 
help to deliver the strategic requirements of the 
Office and the Police and Crime Plan.  

However, there is currently no formal mechanism 
to regularly review all partnerships in place.  

Risk: Where partnerships no longer relevant and 
effective are not identified there is a risk that 
resources may not be utilised effectively which 
could result in reputational damage to the OPCC 
where objectives are not met. 

 

A formal annual review of partnerships 
should take place to confirm that they 
continue to be appropriate and useful, 
that the partnerships are being 
managed effectively, that resources 
are being appropriately utilised and 
that results are being produced 
against the strategic priorities.  

Upon production of the partnership 
principles, these should also be 
reviewed on an annual basis to 
confirm that they remain relevant and 
appropriate for the office. 

 

2 

 

On reflection and consideration of the 
resources available within the OPCC- this 
is not agreed. 

However, a review every two years is 
accepted.  

See also 4.2 

 

David Peet  

(Joe Orwin) 

1st review June 
2017 
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 Observation/Risk Recommendation Priority Management response Timescale/ 
responsibility 

4.4 Partnerships Agenda Item at SGB 

Observation: To ensure that there is adequate and 
appropriate overview of partnership activity, a 
template highlight report should be produced which 
is reported to the Strategic Governance Board 
(SGB) on a regular basis as part of a standing 
agenda item for the review of partnerships activity.  

There is currently not a Board/Group in place to 
oversee all partnership work and there is not a 
specific agenda item at SGB to address partnership 
working. 

It was confirmed that the SGB receives update 
reports which provide details on activity completed 
within certain areas of work (e.g. safeguarding and 
domestic violence) and the OPCC requests 
information from the Force to be included within 
these reports. A review of three SGB meeting 
reports identified that although partnership working 
is mentioned within these reports, they do not 
provide specific details on the benefits the 
partnerships have provided or how they are 
helping/not helping to achieve the objectives of the 
Police and Crime Plan. There is also not any 
quantitative data to support the performance of 
partnerships.    

Risk: Where there is not adequate oversight of 
partnerships activity there is a risk that partnerships 
do not deliver the benefits expected which could 
result in resources not being utilised effectively and 
objectives not being met. 

 

A standing agenda item for 
partnership activity should be included 
within Strategic Governance Board 
(SGB) meetings.  

 

 

A template highlight report to be 
reported to the SGB should be 
produced which provides details of the 
partnership activity completed over the 
period, future activity planned, 
quantitative data to support the 
benefits delivered and value for money 
considerations. 

 

2 

 

On reflection and in consideration of the 
revised Strategic Governance Board 
meeting schedules and resources 
available within the OPCC, not agreed. 
Suggest that inclusion in the Annual 
Report would be a better solution. 

 

 

September 2017 
for 2016/17 
activity. 

 

David Peet 
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A1 Audit Information  

  

  

Audit Control Schedule 

Primary Sponsors: Helen Boffy – Treasurer, Office of the 

Police and Crime Commissioner  

Client contacts:  David Peet –  Chief Executive, Office of 

the Police and Crime Commissioner 

Internal Audit Team: Mike Clarkson, Partner 

Brian Welch, Internal Audit  Senior 

Manager 

Peter Bampton, Senior Internal Auditor 

Finish on Site \ Exit Meeting: 17th October 2016 

Draft  report issued: 4th November 2016 

Management responses received: 12th January 2017 

Final report issued: 13th January 2017 

Scope and Objectives 

Our audit considered the following area objectives: 

Governance 

• Governance arrangements for individual Partnerships are clearly defined, including 

roles and responsibilities, risk management processes, decision making and 

reporting arrangements. 

 

Management 

• Partnerships are managed operationally in line with strategic requirements as 

outlined by the OPCC and, in particular, the Police & Crime Plan. 

• The OPCC use resources effectively in its engagements with both statutory and 

non-statutory partnerships 

 

Monitoring 

• Partnership arrangements are regularly reviewed to ensure that they remain 

relevant, effective and outcomes are being achieved and can be aligned with the 

objectives set out in the Police & Crime Plan. 

• Regular monitoring information is produced to inform reporting of Partnership 

activity, including consideration of value for money. 

 

Testing was carried out on a sample basis. Our work does not provide any guarantee against 

material errors, loss or fraud or provide an absolute assurance that material error, loss or 

fraud does not exist. 
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Definitions of Assurance Levels 

Assurance Level Adequacy of system 
design 

Effectiveness of 
operating controls 

Significant 
Assurance: 

There is a sound system of 
internal control designed to 
achieve the Organisation’s 
objectives. 

The control processes 
tested are being 
consistently applied. 

Satisfactory 
Assurance: 

While there is a basically 
sound system of internal 
control, there are 
weaknesses, which put 
some of the Organisation’s 
objectives at risk. 

There is evidence that the 
level of non-compliance 
with some of the control 
processes may put some 
of the Organisation’s 
objectives at risk. 

Limited 
Assurance: 

Weaknesses in the system 
of internal controls are such 
as to put the Organisation’s 
objectives at risk. 

The level of non-
compliance puts the 
Organisation’s objectives 
at risk. 

No Assurance Control processes are 
generally weak leaving the 
processes/systems open to 
significant error or abuse. 

Significant non-
compliance with basic 
control processes leaves 
the processes/systems 
open to error or abuse. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Definitions of Recommendations  

Priority Description 

Priority 1 
(Fundamental) 

Recommendations represent fundamental control 
weaknesses, which expose the organisation to a high 
degree of unnecessary risk. 

Priority 2 
(Significant)  

Recommendations represent significant control 
weaknesses which expose the organisation to a 
moderate degree of unnecessary risk. 

Priority 3 
(Housekeeping)  

Recommendations show areas where we have 
highlighted opportunities to implement a good or better 
practice, to improve efficiency or further reduce exposure 
to risk. 
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A2 Statement of Responsibility 

Status of our reports 

The responsibility for maintaining internal control rests with management, with internal audit providing a service to management to enable them to achieve this objective.  
Specifically, we assess the adequacy of the internal control arrangements implemented by management and perform testing on those controls to ensure that they are 
operating for the period under review.  We plan our work in order to ensure that we have a reasonable expectation of detecting significant control weaknesses.  
However, our procedures alone are not a guarantee that fraud, where existing, will be discovered.                                                                                            

The contents of this report are confidential and not for distribution to anyone other than the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and Derbyshire 
Police.  Disclosure to third parties cannot be made without the prior written consent of Mazars LLP. 

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an international advisory and accountancy group.  Mazars LLP is registered by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales to carry out company audit work. 
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JOINT AUDIT RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE 
9 MARCH 2017 

JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND THE CHIEF FINANCE 
OFFICER   

 

5B: STRATEGY FOR INTERNAL AUDIT 2017/18 TO 2019-2020 AND 2017/18 
INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN  

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To review and advise on the draft annual internal audit plan for 2017/18 to 

2019/20, ensuring that this : 

• is consistent with professional standards; 

• meets the audit needs of the PCC and the Chief Constable; and 

• provides the JARAC with adequate coverage for the purpose of obtaining 

appropriate levels of assurance over the adequacy of the risk 

management, governance and internal control environment of both the 

PCC and Chief Constable.  

2. INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS 

2.1 The Police Reform & Social Responsibility Act introduced in November 2012 

the legal concept of 2 corporations sole for the Police and Crime 

Commissioner and the Chief Constable with two Annual Governance 

Statements to support the relevant statements of accounts and the group 

accounts.   

2.2 As part of a robust risk management process, internal controls are reviews in 

several ways; one such assurance is provided by the work of the internal audit 

function.   

2.3 Given that the systems and process for both corporations sole are aligned, it 

has been agreed, in consultation with both internal and external auditors, that 

there will be one common audit strategy addressing all internal control review 

requirements. 

        Part I -                 
For Publication  
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2.4 Our internal audit is currently provided by Mazars as part of a regional 

contract.  

2.5 Each year an annual audit plan is compiled which the JARAC will review and 

approve.  It is an important feature of the governance function that this 

Committee, with the advice of the Chief Finance Officer and the Director of 

Finance, can influence and direct those areas of review which it thinks are 

appropriate. 

2.6 The work of External Audit is dependent to a certain extent on the assurances 

provided by internal audit, especially on the key financial controls in place in 

both the organisations.  This avoids duplication of cost and effort.  

Attached at APPENDIX A to this report is the draft Internal Audit Strategy 

2017/18 to 2019/20 and the Internal Plan 2017/18. 

2.7 The proposed strategy covers  

• The scope and purpose of Internal Audit and a statement of 

Responsibility 

• The audit approach 

Consultation arrangements with External Audit  

• The detailed plan for 2017/18 including the number of days allocated to 

each audit 

• The strategic plan 2017-20 

• Levels of assurance and opinions 

2.8 The JARAC is required to consider 

• if the detailed internal audit plan for the coming financial year (see 

Appendix A) reflects the areas that the Committee believes should be 

covered as a priority, taking into account the assurance work that been 

carried out 

• if the audit strategy includes all those areas that the Committee would 

expect to be subject to internal audit coverage for both the Chief 

Constable and the Police and Crime Commissioner, in terms not only of 

professional responsibilities but also covering areas of concern flagged 

by management 
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• if the level of audit resource is accepted by the Committee and agreed 

as appropriate, given the level of assurance required 

• the detailed audit plan at Appendix A. 

2.9 Members are requested to consider the proposals and to make any changes 

they think are appropriate before recommending the 2017/18 audit plan to the 

Chief Constable and the Police and Crime Commissioner for their respective 

approvals.  

2.10 From time to time, it may be appropriate to amend the audit plan or to 

commission work within the plan from any pooled resource/contingency 

allocation.  Where this might need to be actioned outside the cycle of JARAC 

meetings, the Chief Finance Officer or the Director of Finance will make minor 

changes to the audit plan.  Changes will be reported through the audit update. 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

i. To review and make comments on the adequacy of the proposed Strategy for 

Internal Audit 2017/18 to 2019/20 and the Internal Audit Plan 2017/18 

ii. To recommend, subject to any amendments, the final plan to the Chief 

Constable and the Police and Crime Commissioner for their respective 

approvals.  

4. IMPLICATIONS 

All implications are assessed and scored to the table below.  
HIGH – supporting explanation and narrative required and to be contained 
within the report 
MEDIUM – narrative to be contained within the report at the discretion of the 
author  
LOW – no narrative required 
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 LOW MEDIUM HIGH 

Crime & Disorder √   

Environmental √   

Equality & Diversity √   

Financial  √  

Health & Safety √   

Human Rights √   

Legal  √  

Personnel √   

 

 

Contact details  
in the event  
of enquiries 

Name: Andrew Dale  
External telephone number: 0300 122 6005 
Email address:  andrew.dale.16973@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None 

ATTACHMENTS 

Strategy for Internal Audit 2017/18 to 2019-2020 and the 2017-18 Internal Audit 

Plan. 
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Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and Derbyshire Police 
Draft Internal Audit Strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20 and 2017/18 Internal Audit 
Plan 
 
February 2017 
 

This report has been prepared on the basis of the limitations set out on page 13.  

  
  
  
  
This report and the work connected therewith are subject to the Terms and Conditions of the Framework Agreement dated 21 April 2015 between The Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Nottinghamshire and Mazars LLP and Order Form dated 12 May 2015 between Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and Mazars LLP.  This report 
is confidential and has been prepared for the sole use of Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire.  This report must not be disclosed to any third party or reproduced in 
whole or in part without our prior written consent.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we accept no responsibility or liability to any third party who purports to use or rely, for 
any reason whatsoever, on this report, its contents or conclusions. 

APPENDIX A TO AGENDA ITEM 5B 
JARAC  

9 MARCH 2017  
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1. Introduction 
1.1 A three-year proposed Strategic Audit Plan has been prepared on behalf of the Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and Derbyshire Police 

(the OPCC and Force) for the period 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.   
 

1.2 As part of fulfilling the Joint Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee’s (JARAC) responsibilities, the JARAC require assurance that it is focusing its 
attention on the key risks to the OPCC and Force and that it is receiving timely and effective assurance with regards the management of those risks. 
As Internal Audit is a one source of this assurance, Internal Audit were requested to carry out an assurance mapping exercise which would identify 
where the OPCC / Force obtains this assurance and that the Internal Audit plan is suitably focused and aligned with other sources of assurance. The 
results of this exercise were considered when drawing the audit plan. 
 

1.3 Appendix A contains our proposed Annual Audit Plan 2017 – 2018. 

1.4 Appendix B sets out our proposed Strategic Audit Plan 2017 – 2020.  

 

2. The Scope and Purpose of Internal Audit 
2.1 Internal Audit’s primary role is to provide the organisation’s management with independent assurance on the effectiveness of the internal control 

systems that contribute to the achievement of the organisation’s business objectives.  In so doing, this will support the OPCC and Force in signing the 
Annual Governance Statement.  It is also Internal Audit’s role to provide the OPCC and Force with assurance that they have in place effective 
processes for the management of risk.   

2.2 In drawing up the internal audit work programme it should be noted that: 

• The OPCC and Force are accountable for internal control.  The OPCC and Force are responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control that supports the achievement of the organisation’s objectives, and for reviewing its effectiveness; 

• The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve these objectives; 

• The system of internal control can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness; and 

• The system of internal control is based on an on-going risk management process designed to identify the principal risks to the achievement of the 
organisation’s objectives; to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks; and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically. 
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2.3  As set out in the Audit Charter, Internal Audit fulfils its role by: 

• Coordinating assurance activities with other assurance providers (such as the external auditors and HMIC) such that the assurance needs of the 
OPCC and Force, regulators and other stakeholders are met in the most effective way. 

• Evaluating and assessing the implications of new or changing systems, products, services, operations and control processes. 

• Carrying out assurance and consulting activities across all aspects of the OPCC and Force’s business based on a risk-based plan agreed with 
the Joint Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee (JARAC). 

• Providing the Police & Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable with reasonable, but not absolute, assurance as to the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the key controls associated with the management of risk in the area being audited. 

• Issuing periodic reports to the JARAC and Senior Management Team summarising results of assurance activities. 

• Re-enforcing an anti-fraud, anti-bribery and anti-corruption culture within the OPCC and Force to aid the prevention and detection of fraud. 

• Assisting in the investigation of allegations of fraud, bribery and corruption within the OPCC and Force and notifying management and the 
JARAC of the results. 

• Assessing the adequacy of remedial action to address significant risk and control issues reported to the JARAC.  Responsibility for remedial 
action in response to audit findings rests with line management. 

 

3. Approach 
3.1 As part of fulfilling the Joint Audit, Risk & Assurance Committee’s (JARAC) responsibilities, the JARAC require assurance that it is focusing its 

attention on the key risks to the OPCC and Force and that it is receiving timely and effective assurance with regards the management of those risks. 
As Internal Audit is only one source of this assurance, we carried out an assurance mapping exercise which identified where the OPCC / Force 
obtains this assurance and that the Internal Audit plan is suitably focused and aligned with other sources of assurance. The results of the assurance 
mapping exercise were presented to the JARAC on 17th December 2015. As part of the 2016/17 Internal Audit Plan we revisited the mapping 
exercise, updated the assurance map and used the output to inform the 2017/18 annual plan and the 2017-2020 strategic plan. 
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3.2 The Assurance Framework provides a top-down identification and analysis of the assurance needs of the JARAC, and aims to provide a co-ordinated 
view of the activity of the various assurance providers and therefore the right combination of direct, risk and independent assurance activities as 
shown below: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 In drawing up the operational and strategic audit plan, the assurance mapping exercise  identified where the OPCC / Force obtained assurance it was 
managing its key risks, with the aim of aligning the Internal Audit plan with other sources of assurance. The review was carried out through 
discussions with appropriate staff and review of documents to confirm the adequacy of the assurance processes in place. In particular we: 

 Agreed the key strategic risks (OPCC and Force) that the JARAC require assurance on. 

 Identified and met with the nominated risk owners. 

 Through discussions and the review of relevant documents, using the ‘three lines of defence’ model referred to above, determined the key 
sources of assurance that the risks are being effectively managed. 

 Identified and agreed gaps in assurance. 

 Agreed whether the gaps should be addressed and, if so, the likely sources of assurance available. 
 
In determining Internal Audit’s current and future role in the ‘assurance landscape’, we noted that Internal Audit has a wider remit than purely focusing 
on just those risks set out in the Strategic Risk Registers of the OPCC and Force, and is required to provide assurance on the systems of internal 
control, risk management and governance arrangements. For this reason, we also considered other key areas of assurance including those relating to 
Finance, Governance, Procurement, Information Technology and Risk Management. 

 
 
 

1st Line of Defence 2nd Line of Defence 3rd Line of Defence

Audit Functions

Compliance and Legal

Security, Investigations etc

Corporate Risk

Departments

Departmental 
control activities

1st Line of Defence 2nd Line of Defence 3rd Line of Defence

Audit Functions
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3.4 Through a focused approach to assurance, the internal audit service can be utilised to provide the right level of assurance, it can avoid unnecessary 
use of its finite resources and it can support the OPCC and Force in maintaining an effective Assurance Framework. Internal Audit, through its support 
for the Assurance Framework, should: 

• support the OPCC and Force in managing its risks through the establishment (and, more importantly, the maintenance) of an Assurance 
Framework that is fit for purpose;  

• look to other sources of assurance and assurance providers, including third party assurance, to supplement the resources of the internal 
audit team; 

• work alongside other assurance providers, such as External Audit, to more effectively provide assurance and avoid duplication; and 
• through risk-based auditing, focus internal audit resource on what is really important to each organisation. 

 
3.5 Further to the above risk identification process, it should also be remembered that Derbyshire form part of the East Midlands Policing Region and, as 

such, collaborate on a wide variety of services. The aim will therefore be to, wherever possible, align the audit plans across the region in order to 
secure efficiencies through collaborative auditing. 
 

4 External Audit Consultation 
4.1 We liaise closely with your external auditors in preparing, and then delivering, a co-ordinated approach to the provision of assurance.  

4.2 We speak regularly with the External Auditors to consult on audit plans; discuss matters of mutual interest; discuss common understanding of audit 
techniques; methods and terminology; and to seek opportunities for co-operation in the conduct of audit work.  In particular, we will offer the External 
Auditors the opportunity to rely on our work where appropriate, provided this does not prejudice our independence. 

4.3 Internal audit forms a significant part of the organisation’s governance arrangements and it is therefore also important that Internal and External Audit 
have an effective working relationship.  To facilitate this relationship we included in the Audit Charter liaison arrangement with the external auditors 
under the Public Internal Audit Standards. The key principles behind this agreement are: 

• a willingness and commitment to working together; 

• clear and open lines of communication; and 

• avoidance of duplication of work where possible. 
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Appendix A – Annual Audit Plan 2017-18  
AUDITABLE AREA PROPOSED 

TIMING1 
JARAC2 PLAN 

DAYS 
RISK REF / 

CAT. 
Commentary on Coverage 

Core Assurance 

Core Financial Systems 
Assurance: 

• General Ledger 
• Cash, Banking & Treasury 

Management 
• Payments & Creditors 
• Income & Debtors 

Q3  14 Core 

To provide assurance with regards the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
systems of internal control in operation to manage the core financial systems. 
The scope of the work will include, but not be limited to: 

• Policies and procedures 
• Access controls 
• Amendments to standing data 
• Reconciliations 
• Authorisation routines 
• Reporting 

Payroll  Q3  5 Core 

To provide assurance that there are effective controls in place for delivering 
the payroll service. Testing will be primarily be carried out on site at 
Leicestershire Police, who deliver the service on behalf of Derbyshire. 
However, we also cover ‘front end’ processes at Derbyshire and arrangement 
in place within the payroll bureau, Kier, in respect of access controls, payroll 
reporting and approval / sign-off routines. 

Regulatory Checks - Divisions Q2 & Q4  6 Core 
We will undertake regulatory checks with the aim of providing assurance with 
regards the maintenance and security of cash at a divisional level. The 
allocation of days will be spread across the year. 

Code of Governance Q4  7 

 

STR1061, 
1104 & 
PCC5.4 

To provide assurance with regards compliance with the Joint Code of 
Corporate Governance. In particular, it will review the process for compiling the 
Annual Governance Statement and will provide a challenge with regards the 
evidence collected to support the declaration. 
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AUDITABLE AREA PROPOSED 
TIMING1 

JARAC2 PLAN 
DAYS 

RISK REF / 
CAT. 

Commentary on Coverage 

Strategic & Operational Risk Assurance 

Victims Support Q1  8 PCC1.1 
To provide assurance that effective systems and controls are in place for the 
management of the contract to deliver Victims Support.  

PCC Grants Q4  8 PCC2.2 
To provide assurance that the OPCC has put in place robust systems and 
controls for the administration and award of grants. 

Business Continuity Q2  8 STR1833 & 
1098 

To provide assurance that the Force has effective controls in place with 
regards business continuity arrangements.  

Estates Management Q1  8 
STR1023, 

1035 & 
1832 

To provide assurance that the OPCC / Force have effective controls in place to 
manage the estate, particularly focusing on the joint arrangements with the 
Fire Service. The audit will review the extent to which the Estates Strategy is 
being delivered and how it contributes to the strategic and medium / long term 
objectives of the OPCC / Force. 

National Undercover Policing 
Enquiry Q2  7 Request 

To provide assurance that the Force has effective controls in place to manage 
the arrangement. The scope will include the management of funds, recovery of 
costs, apportionment, agreements and monitoring arrangements. The review 
will build upon the initial audit carried out 2016/17. 
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AUDITABLE AREA PROPOSED 
TIMING1 

JARAC2 PLAN 
DAYS 

RISK REF / 
CAT. 

Commentary on Coverage 

Collaboration 

Collaboration Q3 & Q4  10 STR1105 & 
1742l 

Resources have been allocated across each OPCC / Force in order to provide 
assurance with regards the systems and controls in place to deliver specific 
elements of regional collaboration.  

Consideration will be given to assessing whether the area of collaboration is 
delivering against its original objectives and what arrangements are in place, 
from an OPCC / Force perspective, for monitoring and managing the service. 

 Other 

Audit Management Ongoing 
 

14  
This includes audit planning, production of progress and annual reports, and 
attendance at progress and JARAC meetings. Time will also be set aside to 
provide training to JARAC members. 

Follow Up of 
Recommendations   5  To provide assurance that management have implemented audit 

recommendations. 

 TOTAL   100   

1 Proposed timings for each audit to be agreed, with any changes reported to the JARAC. 
2 Dates for delivery to the JARAC to be included within future progress reports when known.
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Appendix B – Strategic Audit Plan 2017-20  

Audit Assignment 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 
RISK REF / 

CAT. 

Core Assurance  

Core Financials Systems    Core 

Payroll    Core 

Regulatory Checks - Divisions    Core 

Risk Management    Core 

Governance    STR1422 & 
1095 

Procurement    STR1555 

Strategic & Operational Risk 

IT Security    STR1033, 1032 
& 1909 

Business Continuity     OPS1090 & 
STR1089 

IT Strategy    STR1046 & 
1048 

Firearms Licencing    National 

Partnerships    PCC2.6 & 
STR1092 
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Audit Assignment 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 
RISK REF / 

CAT. 

PCC Grants    PCC2.2 

Human Resources    STR1422 & 
1095 

Estates Management    STR1035 & 
1023 

Project Management    STR1894 

National Undercover Policing Enquiry    Request 

Workforce Planning    STR1833 & 
1098 

Proceeds of Crime    National 

Financial Planning & Budget Management    STR1192, 
PCC4.2 

Fleet Management    STR1091 

Victims Support    PCC1.1 & 1.4 

Commissioning    PCC2.3 & 2.6 

Collaboration 

Collaboration    STR1105 & 
1742 

Other 
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Audit Assignment 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 
RISK REF / 

CAT. 

Follow-up of Recommendations    General 

Audit Management     
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Appendix C – Levels of Assurance & Opinions 
 

Definitions of Assurance Levels 

Assurance Level Adequacy of system design Effectiveness of operating 
controls 

Significant 
Assurance: 

There is a sound system of internal 
control designed to achieve the 
Organisation’s objectives. 

The control processes tested are being 
consistently applied. 

Satisfactory 
Assurance: 

While there is a basically sound 
system of internal control, there are 
weaknesses which put some of the 
Organisation’s objectives at risk. 

There is evidence that the level of non-
compliance with some of the control 
processes may put some of the 
Organisation’s objectives at risk. 

Limited Assurance: Weaknesses in the system of internal 
controls are such as to put the 
Organisation’s objectives at risk. 

The level of non-compliance puts the 
Organisation’s objectives at risk. 

No Assurance: Control processes are generally weak 
leaving the processes/systems open 
to significant error or abuse. 

Significant non-compliance with basic 
control processes leaves the 
processes/systems open to error or 
abuse. 

 
Definitions of Recommendations  
 

Priority Description 
Priority 1 
(Fundamental) 

Recommendations represent fundamental control weaknesses, which expose 
the organisation to a high degree of unnecessary risk. 

Priority 2 
(Significant)  

Recommendations represent significant control weaknesses which expose the 
organisation to a moderate degree of unnecessary risk. 

Priority 3 
(Housekeeping)  

Recommendations show areas where we have highlighted opportunities to 
implement a good or better practice, to improve efficiency or further reduce 
exposure to risk. 
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Appendix D – Contact Details 

 

 

Contact Details 
 

David Hoose 
07552 007708 

David.Hoose@mazars.co.uk 

Brian Welch 

 

07780 970200 

Brian.Welch@mazars.co.uk 
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Statement of Responsibility 
We take responsibility for this report which is prepared on the basis of the limitations set out 
below. 

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during the course of 
our work and are not necessarily a comprehensive statement of all the weaknesses that exist or 
all improvements that might be made.  Recommendations for improvements should be assessed 
by you for their full impact before they are implemented.  The performance of our work is not and 
should not be taken as a substitute for management’s responsibilities for the application of sound 
management practices.  We emphasise that the responsibility for a sound system of internal 
controls and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities rests with management 
and work performed by us should not be relied upon to identify all strengths and weaknesses in 
internal controls, nor relied upon to identify all circumstances of fraud or irregularity.  Even sound 
systems of internal control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance and may not 
be proof against collusive fraud.  Our procedures are designed to focus on areas as identified by 
management as being of greatest risk and significance and as such we rely on management to 
provide us full access to their accounting records and transactions for the purposes of our work 
and to ensure the authenticity of such material.  Effective and timely implementation of our 
recommendations by management is important for the maintenance of a reliable internal control 
system. 

Mazars LLP 

London 

February 2017 

This document is confidential and prepared solely for your information.  Therefore you should 
not, without our prior written consent, refer to or use our name or this document for any other 
purpose, disclose them or refer to them in any prospectus or other document, or make them 
available or communicate them to any other party.  No other party is entitled to rely on our 
document for any purpose whatsoever and thus we accept no liability to any other party who is 
shown or gains access to this document. 

Registered office: Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, London E1W 1DD, United 
Kingdom.  Registered in England and Wales No 4585162. 

Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an international advisory and accountancy group.  Mazars 
LLP is registered by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales to carry out 
company audit work. 
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JOINT AUDIT, RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE 
9 MARCH 2017 

JOINT REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER  
AND THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE 

 

6A: EXTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2016/17 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To advise the Committee of the proposed external Audit Plan for the financial 

year 2016/17 and the audit of the statements of accounts. 

2. INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS 

2.1 An External Audit Plan covering the work that will be carried out to support the 

Audit opinion for the Statements of Accounts for 2016/17 has been provided 

to and reviewed by the two statutory Chief Finance Officers.  

2.2 The plan details the audit approach which covers planning, the control 

evaluation, substantive procedures and other audit matters. A copy of the plan 

is attached as APPENDIX A to this report. 

2.3 The fee for the activity is £46,035. This is split into £15,000 for the Chief 

Constable and £31,035 for the Commissioner.  

2.4 The plan identifies two audit risks relating to pension liabilities and accounting 

changes to formats and reporting requirements.  

2.5 There are two other areas of audit focus – assurance over regional 

collaboration accounts and transactions and accounting for LLP transactions.  

Both these issues are reflected in the internal audit plan to a certain extent.  

2.6 Mr Cardoza, the Director, KPMG, will be present to talk to this paper and 

answer Members’ questions. 

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

i. To receive the External Audit Plan 2016/17 

        Part I -                 
For Publication  
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ii. To raise any matters of further concern with the Audit Director. 

4. IMPLICATIONS 

All implications are assessed and scored to the table below.  
HIGH – supporting explanation and narrative required and to be contained 
within the report 
MEDIUM – narrative to be contained within the report at the discretion of the 
author  
LOW – no narrative required 
 

 LOW MEDIUM HIGH 

Crime & Disorder √   

Environmental √   

Equality & Diversity √   

Financial  √  

Health & Safety √   

Human Rights √   

Legal  √  

Personnel √   

 

Contact details  
in the event  
of enquiries 

Name: Andrew Dale  
External telephone number: 0300 122 6005 
Email address:  andrew.dale.16973@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk  

BACKGROUND PAPERS NONE 

ATTACHMENTS 

Appendix A. External audit plan 2016/17 KPMG 
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Headlines

Financial Statement Audit Value for Money Arrangements work
£

There are no significant changes to the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in 2016/17, which provides stability in terms of the accounting standards the bodies 
need to comply with.

Materiality
Materiality for planning purposes has been based on last year’s expenditure and set 
at £4 million for both the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable.

We are obliged to report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those 
which are ‘clearly trivial’ to those charged with governance and this has been set 
at £200k for both the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable.

Significant risks
Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the 
likelihood of a material financial statement error have been identified as:

■ Significant changes in the pension liability due to LGPS Triennial Valuation; and

■ The 2016 CIPFA Code on Local Authority Accounting changes to the formats 
and reporting requirements for the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement, and the new Expenditure 
and Funding Analysis.

Other areas of audit focus
Those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a material error but which are 
nevertheless worthy of audit understanding have been identified as:

■ Accounting for the LLP capital and revenue expenditure; and

■ Assurance over regional collaboration accounts and transactions

See pages 3 to 6 for more details.

Logistics

£

Our risk assessment is on-going and we will report VFM significant risks during our 
audit

See pages 7 to 10 for more details.

Our team is:

■ Andrew Cardoza – Director

■ Anita Pipes – Assistant Manager

More details are on page 13.

Our work will be completed in four phases from December to September and our key 
deliverables are this Audit Plan and a Report to those charged with Governance as 
outlined on page 12.

Our fee for the audit of the Police and Crime Commissioner is £31,035 (£ 31,035 
2015/2016) and our fee for the audit of the Chief Constable is £15,000 (£15,000 
2015/2016). At this stage, we anticipate needing to charge additional fee during the 
year in respect of the extra work on the LGPS triennial revaluation and the Code 
changes around the CIES presentation. See page 11.
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Financial Statements Audit

Our financial statements audit work follows a four stage audit process which is identified 
below. Appendix 1 provides more detail on the activities that this includes. This report 
concentrates on the Financial Statements Audit Planning stage of the Financial 
Statements Audit.

Value for Money Arrangements Work

Our Value for Money (VFM) Arrangements Work follows a five stage process which is 
identified below. Page 7 provides more detail on the activities that this includes. This report 
concentrates on explaining the VFM approach for the 2016/17 and the findings of our VFM 
risk assessment.

Introduction

Background and Statutory responsibilities

This document supplements our Audit Fee Letter 2016/17 presented to you in April 2016, 
which also sets out details of our appointment by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd 
(PSAA).

Our statutory responsibilities and powers are set out in the Local Audit and Accountability 
Act 2014 and the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice. 

Our audit has two key objectives, requiring us to audit/review and report on your:

— Financial statements (including the Annual Governance Statement): Providing an 
opinion on your accounts; and

— Use of resources: Concluding on the arrangements in place for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in your use of resources (the value for money 
conclusion).

The audit planning process and risk assessment is an on-going process and the 
assessment and fees in this plan will be kept under review and updated if necessary. 

Acknowledgements

We would like to take this opportunity to thank officers and Members for their continuing 
help and co-operation throughout our audit work.

Substantive 
Procedures CompletionControl
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Financial statements audit planning

Financial Statements Audit Planning

Our planning work takes place during December 2016 to February 2017. This involves 
the following key aspects:

— Risk assessment;

— Determining our materiality level; and 

— Issuing this audit plan to communicate our audit strategy.

Risk assessment

Professional standards require us to consider two standard risks for all organisations. We 
are not elaborating on these standard risks in this plan but consider them as a matter of 
course in our audit and will include any findings arising from our work in our 
ISA 260 Report.

— Management override of controls – Management is typically in a powerful position to 
perpetrate fraud owing to its ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare 
fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be 
operating effectively. Our audit methodology incorporates the risk of management 
override as a default significant risk. In line with our methodology, we carry out 
appropriate controls testing and substantive procedures, including over journal 
entries, accounting estimates and significant transactions that are outside the normal 
course of business, or are otherwise unusual.

— Fraudulent revenue recognition – We do not consider this to be a significant risk for 
the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable as there are limited 
incentives and opportunities to manipulate the way income is recognised. We 
therefore rebut this risk and do not incorporate specific work into our audit plan in this 
area over and above our standard fraud procedures.

The diagram opposite identifies, significant risks and other areas of audit focus, which we 
expand on overleaf. The diagram also identifies a range of other areas considered by our 
audit approach.

£
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Significant Audit Risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood 
of a material financial statement error.

Financial statements audit planning (cont.)

Risk : Significant changes in the pension liability due to LGPS Triennial 
Valuation

During the year, the Local Government Pension Scheme for Derbyshire Police and 
Crime Commissioner and Derbyshire Chief Constable (the Pension Fund) has 
undergone a triennial valuation with an effective date of 31 March 2016 in line with the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2013. The PCC and 
CC’s share of pensions assets and liabilities is determined in detail, and a large volume 
of data is provided to the actuary in order to carry out this triennial valuation.

The  pension liability numbers to be included in the financial statements for 2016/17 will 
be based on the output of the triennial valuation rolled forward to 31 March 2017. For 
2017/18 and 2018/19 the actuary will then roll forward the valuation for accounting 
purposes based on more limited data.

There is a risk that the data provided to the actuary for the valuation exercise is 
inaccurate and that these inaccuracies affect the actuarial figures in the accounts. Most 
of the data is provided to the actuary by Derbyshire County Council, who administer the 
Pension Fund.

Approach : As part of our audit, we will agree any data provided by the PCC and CC 
to the actuary, back to the relevant systems and reports from which it was derived, in 
addition to checking the accuracy of this data.

We will also liaise with the Derbyshire County Council Pension Fund Audit team who 
are the auditors of the Pension Fund, where this data was provided by the Pension 
Fund on the PCC and CC’s behalf to check the completeness and accuracy of such 
data. 

£

Significant Audit Risks

Those risks requiring specific audit attention and procedures to address the likelihood 
of a material financial statement error.

Risk :  2016 CIPFA Code on Local Authority Accounting

The new Code includes a small number of important changes on the previous year’s 
reporting requirements. The changes include new formats and reporting requirements 
for the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the Movement in 
Reserves Statement, and the introduction of a new Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
as a result of CIPFA’s ‘Telling the Story’ review of the presentation of local authority 
financial statements. 

A restatement of the 2015/16 balances will also be required.

Approach : We will liaise with the Finance team regarding the new requirements and 
agree the new disclosures, including the restatement of the prior year comparators.
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Other areas of audit focus

Those risks with less likelihood of giving rise to a material error but which are 
nevertheless worthy of audit understanding.

Financial statements audit planning (cont.)

Issue: Accounting for the LLP

The new joint HQ being built for the Police and Fire Service is accounted for via a LLP 
which is led by Derbyshire Fire Authority. The building was completed in 2016/17. As 
well as auditing the capital expenditure associated with the LLP we will also need to 
audit and understand the flow of revenue payments between the two LLP partners to 
ensure they are in line with the agreement and can be supported by evidence.

Approach : We will review your arrangements for accounting for all LLP transactions 
and the assurance you have obtained over the completeness and accuracy of the year 
end figures provided by the LLP. We will liaise with the audit team responsible for 
Derbyshire Fire Authority and the LLP to ensure a consistent approach to the audit of 
these figures.

Issue : Assurance over regional collaboration accounts and transactions

The level of collaborative work with other forces across the East Midlands has increased 
significantly over the past few years, with the previous accounts including some £6m of 
expenditure in relation to these arrangements.
This level of collaboration brings with it the need to ensure that appropriate governance 
arrangements are in place for each arrangement and that the necessary assurances are 
held over the completeness and accuracy of the financial information being provided to 
the PCC and CC for consolidation into its accounts.
Approach : We will review your governance arrangements over each aspect of regional 
collaboration and, more specifically, over the assurances you have sought in respect of 
the completeness and accuracy of the year end figures consolidated into your financial 
statements.

£
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Financial statements audit planning (cont.)
Materiality
We are required to plan our audit to determine with reasonable confidence whether or not the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. An omission or misstatement is 
regarded as material if it would reasonably influence the user of financial statements. This 
therefore involves an assessment of the qualitative and quantitative nature of omissions and 
misstatements.

Generally, we would not consider differences in opinion in respect of areas of judgement
to represent ‘misstatements’ unless the application of that judgement results in a financial 
amount falling outside of a range which we consider to be acceptable.
Materiality for planning purposes has been set at £4 million for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and the Chief Constable, which equates to 2 percent of the respective gross 
expenditure based on prior year gross expenditure. 

We design our procedures to detect errors in specific accounts at a lower level of precision.

Reporting to the Audit Committee (JARAC)
Whilst our audit procedures are designed to identify misstatements which are material to our 
opinion on the financial statements as a whole, we nevertheless report to the Audit Committee 
any unadjusted misstatements of lesser amounts to the extent that these are identified by our 
audit work.

Under ISA 260(UK&I) ‘Communication with those charged with governance’, we are obliged to 
report uncorrected omissions or misstatements other than those which are ‘clearly trivial’ to 
those charged with governance. ISA 260 (UK&I) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are 
clearly inconsequential, whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any 
quantitative or qualitative criteria.

In the context of the Police and Crime Commissioner and the Chief Constable, we propose 
that an individual difference could normally be considered to be clearly trivial if it is less than 
£200k.

If management have corrected material misstatements identified during the course of the 
audit, we will consider whether those corrections should be communicated to the JARAC to 
assist it in fulfilling its governance responsibilities.

£
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Value for money arrangements work

Background to approach to VFM work

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 requires auditors of local government bodies to be satisfied that the authority ‘has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources’. 

This is supported by the Code of Audit Practice, published by the NAO in April 2015, which requires auditors to ‘take into account their knowledge of the relevant local sector as a whole, 
and the audited body specifically, to identify any risks that, in the auditor’s judgement, have the potential to cause the auditor to reach an inappropriate conclusion on the audited body’s 
arrangements.’

The VFM approach is fundamentally unchanged from that adopted in 2015/2016 and the process is shown in the diagram below. The diagram overleaf shows the details of
the criteria for our VFM work.

VFM audit risk assessment

Financial statements and 
other audit work

Identification of 
significant VFM risks (if 

any) Conclude on 
arrangements to 

secure VFM

No further work required

Assessment of work by other review 
agencies

Specific local risk based work

V
FM

 conclusion

Continually re-assess potential VFM risks

£
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Value for money arrangements work (cont.) £

Informed 
decision 
making

Working 
with 

partners 
and third 
parties

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment 

Overall criterion

In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took 
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and 

sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.

Proper arrangements:

 Acting in the public interest, through 
demonstrating and applying the principles 
and values of sound governance.

 Understanding and using appropriate and 
reliable financial and performance 
information to support informed decision 
making and performance management.

 Reliable and timely financial reporting that 
supports the delivery of strategic priorities.

 Managing risks effectively and maintaining 
a sound system of internal control.

Proper arrangements:

 Planning finances effectively to support the 
sustainable delivery of strategic priorities 
and maintain statutory functions.

 Managing and utilising assets to support the 
delivery of strategic priorities.  

 Planning, organising and developing the 
workforce effectively to deliver strategic 
priorities.

Proper arrangements:

 Working with third parties effectively to 
deliver strategic priorities.

 Commissioning services effectively to 
support the delivery of strategic priorities.

 Procuring supplies and services effectively 
to support the delivery of strategic priorities.
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Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
£

VFM audit stage Audit approach

VFM audit risk assessment We consider the relevance and significance of the potential business risks faced by all local authorities, and other risks that apply specifically to the 
Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable. These are the significant operational and financial risks in achieving statutory functions and 
objectives, which are relevant to auditors’ responsibilities under the Code of Audit Practice.

In doing so we consider:

■ The Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable’s own assessment of the risks it faces, and its arrangements to manage and address 
its risks;

■ Information from Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary (HMIC) VFM profile data;

■ Evidence gained from previous audit work, including the response to that work; and

■ The work of other inspectorates and review agencies.

Linkages with financial 
statements and other
audit work

There is a degree of overlap between the work we do as part of the VFM audit and our financial statements audit. For example, our financial 
statements audit includes an assessment and testing of the organisational control environment, including the financial management and governance 
arrangements, many aspects of which are relevant to our VFM audit responsibilities.

We have always sought to avoid duplication of audit effort by integrating our financial statements and VFM work, and this will continue. We will 
therefore draw upon relevant aspects of our financial statements audit work to inform the VFM audit. 

Identification of
significant risks

The Code identifies a matter as significant ‘if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that the matter would be of interest to the 
audited body or the wider public. Significance has both qualitative and quantitative aspects.’

If we identify significant VFM risks, then we will highlight the risk to the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable and consider the most 
appropriate audit response in each case, including:

■ Considering the results of work by the Police and Crime Commissioner, Chief Constable, inspectorates and other review agencies; and

■ Carrying out local risk-based work to form a view on the adequacy of the arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources.
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Value for money arrangements work (cont.)
£

VFM audit stage Audit approach

Assessment of work by 
other review agencies

and

Delivery of local risk based 
work

Depending on the nature of the significant VFM risk identified, we may be able to draw on the work of other inspectorates, review agencies and other 
relevant bodies to provide us with the necessary evidence to reach our conclusion on the risk.

If such evidence is not available, we will instead need to consider what additional work we will be required to undertake to satisfy ourselves that we 
have reasonable evidence to support the conclusion that we will draw. Such work may include:

■ Meeting with senior managers;

■ Review of minutes and internal reports;

■ Examination of financial models for reasonableness, using our own experience and benchmarking data from within and without the sector.

Concluding on VFM 
arrangements

At the conclusion of the VFM audit we will consider the results of the work undertaken and assess the assurance obtained against each of the VFM 
themes regarding the adequacy of the Police and Crime Commissioner and Chief Constable’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources.

If any issues are identified that may be significant to this assessment, and in particular if there are issues that indicate we may need to consider 
qualifying our VFM conclusion, we will discuss these with management as soon as possible. Such issues will also be considered more widely as part 
of KPMG’s quality control processes, to help ensure the consistency of auditors’ decisions.

Reporting We will update our assessment throughout the year should any issues present themselves and report against these in our ISA260. 

We will report on the results of the VFM audit through our ISA 260 Report. This will summarise any specific matters arising, and the basis for our 
overall conclusion.

The key output from the work will be the VFM conclusion (i.e. our opinion on the arrangements for securing VFM), which forms part of our audit 
report. 
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Other matters 

Whole of government accounts (WGA)

We are required to review your WGA consolidation and undertake the work specified under 
the approach that is agreed with HM Treasury and the National Audit Office. Deadlines for 
production of the pack and the specified approach for 2016/17 have not yet been 
confirmed.

Elector challenge

The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 gives electors certain rights. These are:

— The right to inspect the accounts;

— The right to ask the auditor questions about the accounts; and

— The right to object to the accounts. 

As a result of these rights, in particular the right to object to the accounts, we may need to 
undertake additional work to form our decision on the elector's objection. The additional 
work could range from a small piece of work where we interview an officer and review 
evidence to form our decision, to a more detailed piece of work, where we have to 
interview a range of officers, review significant amounts of evidence and seek legal 
representations on the issues raised. 

The costs incurred in responding to specific questions or objections raised by electors is 
not part of the fee. This work will be charged in accordance with the PSAA's fee scales.

Our audit team

Our audit team will continue to be led by Andrew Cardoza, with Anita Pipes providing 
continuity at a day to day level. Appendix 2 provides more details on specific roles and 
contact details of the team.

Reporting and communication 

Reporting is a key part of the audit process, not only in communicating the audit findings 
for the year, but also in ensuring the audit team are accountable to you in addressing the 
issues identified as part of the audit strategy. Throughout the year we will communicate 
with you through meetings with the Head of Finance and Business Support and the 
JARAC. Our communication outputs are included in Appendix 1.

Independence and Objectivity

Auditors are also required to be independent and objective. Appendix 3 provides more 
details of our confirmation of independence and objectivity.

Audit fee

Our Audit Fee Letter 2016/2017 presented to you in July 2016 first set out our fees for the 
2016/2017 audit. This letter also sets out our assumptions. We have not considered it 
necessary to make any changes to the agreed fees at this stage although, we anticipate 
that it may be necessary to charge an additional fee during the year in respect of the extra 
work on the LGPS triennial revaluation and the Code changes around the CIES 
presentation. We will ensure that any additional fees are agreed with the respective Chief 
Finance Officers. 

Police and Crime Commissioner - The planned audit fee for 2016/17 is £31,035 There is 
no change in audit fee, compared to 2015/2016, of £31,035. 

Chief Constable - The planned audit fee for 2016/17 is £15,000. There is no change in 
audit fee, compared to 2015/2016, of £15,000.
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Appendix 1: Key elements of our financial statements audit approach

Driving more value from the audit through data and 
analytics
Technology is embedded throughout our audit approach 
to deliver a high quality audit opinion. Use of Data and 
Analytics (D&A) to analyse large populations of 
transactions in order to identify key areas for our audit 
focus is just one element. We strive to deliver new 
quality insight into your operations that enhances our 
and your preparedness and improves your collective 
‘business intelligence.’ Data and Analytics allows us to:
— Obtain greater understanding of your processes, to 

automatically extract control configurations and to 
obtain higher levels assurance.

— Focus manual procedures on key areas of risk and 
on transactional exceptions.

— Identify data patterns and the root cause of issues to 
increase forward-looking insight.

We anticipate using data and analytics in our work 
around key areas such as journals. We also expect to 
provide insights from our analysis of these tranches of 
data in our reporting to add further value from our audit.

CompletionPlanning Control evaluation Substantive testing
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Appendix 2: Audit team

Your audit team has been drawn from our specialist public sector assurance department. Our audit team remains mostly the same as in 2015/16 ensuring a consistency in 
day to day staff involved in your audit.

Name Andrew Cardoza

Position Partner/Director

‘My role is to lead our team and ensure the delivery 
of a high quality, valued added external audit 
opinion.

I will be the main point of contact for the JARAC 
and Chief Finance Officers.’

Andrew Cardoza
Director

0121 232 3869

andrew.cardoza@kpmg.co.uk

Name Anita Pipes

Position Assistant Manager

‘I provide quality assurance for the audit work 
and specifically any technical accounting and 
risk areas. I will be responsible for the on-site 
delivery of our work and will supervise the 
work of our audit assistants.’

Anita Pipes
Assistant Manager

0115 945 4481

anita.pipes@kpmg.co.uk

mailto:Andrew.cardoza@kpmg.co.uk
mailto:anita.pipes@kpmg.co.uk
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Appendix 3: Independence and objectivity requirements

Independence and objectivity

Professional standards require auditors to communicate to those charged with governance, 
at least annually, all relationships that may bear on the firm’s independence and the 
objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff. The standards also place 
requirements on auditors in relation to integrity, objectivity and independence.

The standards define ‘those charged with governance’ as ‘those persons entrusted with the 
supervision, control and direction of an entity’. In your case this is the Police and Crime 
Commissioner and Chief Constable. 

KPMG LLP is committed to being and being seen to be independent. APB Ethical 
Standards require us to communicate to you in writing all significant facts and matters, 
including those related to the provision of non-audit services and the safeguards put in 
place, in our professional judgement, may reasonably be thought to bear on KPMG LLP’s 
independence and the objectivity of the Engagement Lead and the audit team.

Further to this auditors are required by the National Audit Office’s Code of Audit Practice to: 

— Carry out their work with integrity, independence and objectivity;

— Be transparent and report publicly as required;

— Be professional and proportional in conducting work; 

— Be mindful of the activities of inspectorates to prevent duplication;

— Take a constructive and positive approach to their work; 

— Comply with data statutory and other relevant requirements relating to the security, 
transfer, holding, disclosure and disposal of information.

PSAA’s Terms of Appointment includes several references to arrangements designed to 
support and reinforce the requirements relating to independence, which auditors must 
comply with. These are as follows:

— Auditors and senior members of their staff who are directly involved in the 
management, supervision or delivery of PSAA audit work should not take part in 
political activity.

— No member or employee of the firm should accept or hold an appointment as a 
member of an audited body whose auditor is, or is proposed to be, from the same firm. 
In addition, no member or employee of the firm should accept or hold such 
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JOINT AUDIT, RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE (JARAC) 

9 MARCH 2017 
JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CHIEF FINANCE 

OFFICER FOR THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 
 

7A: VALUE FOR MONEY PROFILES 2016 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT   
1.1 To provide the Committee with the latest VFM profiles for Derbyshire Police. 

2. BACKGROUND 
2.1 HM Inspectorate of Constabulary publishes annual value for money profiles 

for all police forces.  The VFM profiles for Derbyshire Police were published in 
November 2016 and cover the period 2015/16. 

2.2 The profiles make comparisons with a range of “most similar forces”, which 
are considered to be the closest match to Derbyshire.  The comparator forces 
are Wiltshire, Kent, Northamptonshire, Cheshire, Avon & Somerset and 
Staffordshire.   

2.3 It is worth noting that the comparator forces vary significantly in size to 
Derbyshire and only 1 of the other comparator forces is in the East Midlands.  
Both our main Neighbouring forces Nottinghamshire and Leicestershire are 
excluded. 

2.4 Annex A provides a useful summary of the headline comparisons, while 
Annex B shows the detailed in depth comparisons, which cover a wide range 
of cost and policing activities over some 95 pages. 

2.5 Comparisons are further complicated by the fact that the figures for 
Derbyshire include the regional counter terrorism unit, EMCTIU, which is 
funded nationally.  This inflates the cost of Derbyshire but this is then offset by 
the national grant that covers this cost. 

3. INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS   
VFM Profiles 2016 

3.1 Overall the profiles continue to demonstrate that Derbyshire Police is an 
efficient force. 

3.2 Derbyshire’s costs still continue to be below the average of its comparator 
forces and well below the national average.  One area worth noting is that its 
PCSO costs are below both the national average and its comparator forces.  
In many ways this still reflects historic government funding decision, when 
PCSO were first introduced over 10 years ago. 

3.3 Positively, Derbyshire tends to spend more on visible policing than other 
forces and has lower support and administrative costs. 

Section B          
Part I -                 

For Publication  
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3.4 The profiles also point to the fact that Derbyshire is more heavily reliant on 
government funding than its comparator forces.  Given that this is the funding 
that has been cut, this demonstrates that Derbyshire has faced a bigger 
financial challenge than many of its comparator forces.  

3.5 The profiles highlight that Derbyshire Police that overall crime is less in 
Derbyshire than comparable forces and that we are dealing with fewer crimes. 

3.6 On a less positive note, it appears that non-crime, incident demand is much 
greater in Derbyshire.  In 2016 we introduced a new approach to dealing with 
these incidents, which we hope will bring our incident numbers more into line 
with other forces.  

3.7 While overall Derbyshire has identified slightly fewer suspects than the 
comparator group.  This is offset by the fact that Derbyshire Police is more 
likely to take action when suspects are identified than other comparator 
forces.   

4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
4.1 That the Committee can take assurance that Derbyshire Police continues to 

deliver value for money in the service that it provides. 

5. IMPLICATIONS 
 LOW MEDIUM HIGH 
Crime & Disorder X   
Environmental X   
Equality & Diversity X   
Financial X   
Health & Safety X   
Human Rights X   
Legal X   
Personnel X   
 

Contact details  
in the event  
of enquiries 

Name: Chief Superintendent Steve Wilson  
External telephone number: 0300 122 4140 
Email address: sgb@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk 
Name: Andrew Dale 
External telephone number: 0300 122 6005 
Email address:  andrew.dale.16973@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk 

 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Appendix A. HMIC Summary Value for Money Profile 2016 
Appendix B. HMIC Value for Money Profile 2016 
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HMIC Summary Value for Money Profile 2016

Derbyshire Constabulary

compared with:

Wiltshire, Kent, Essex, Northamptonshire, Cheshire, Avon & Somerset, Staffordshire and Derbyshire.

How to use this summary

Net revenue 

expenditure
£32m

Victim-based 

crime
-1,200

On the final page of this summary, we provide a list of all of the categories from the full VfM profile in which the force's spend is an outlier. The force's figures are 

compared to the spend of other forces. To be flagged as an outlier, the spend must be one of the highest 10 percent or lowest 10 percent of any force, and the effect of 

the difference must be at least £1 per head of population.

Comparisons are one of the most powerful ways of making data about the police service transparent. They expose important differences between forces and enable 

those without specialist knowledge of policing to find answers to questions and understand how the service provides value for public money.

HMIC’s Value for Money (VfM) profiles provide comparative data on a wide range of policing activities.  Rather than showing all of the details, this summary profile is 

designed to show you how this force differs from other similar forces. Does it spend more or less than the average? How differently does it invest its resources? Does it 

face greater or fewer demands? How does the crime rate differ from from those in comparable force areas?

From these starting points, the full profiles allow you to investigate further those differences identified by this summary and we encourage readers to probe further in 

areas of data where the information prompts particular questions.  However, the full profiles also raise additional questions. Why are some forces spending over four 

times more per head of population on criminal justice than others? Why does one force have a noticeably greater number of officers working in business support, 

compared to similar forces?

Bar charts show the percentage difference between your force’s income, expenditure or demand (known as the value), and the average for those forces which are 

most similar to it (known as its peers). The figures to the left or right of the bars are not the values themselves; rather they show the net 'cost' or impact of the variation. 

For example, they show the number of additional 999 calls a 10% difference to the average rate makes or how many fewer recorded crimes visible officers are dealing 

with in the force. Two illustrative examples (for a 'dummy' force) are shown below:

In all cases, details of the data used and relevant caveats can be found in the full profiles document (available from HMIC’s website, 

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmic/ ).

This force's net revenue expenditure per head of population is 25% above the average of its 

peers. This difference equates to a cost of £32m compared to if the force was spending the 

average of its peers.

This force's level of recorded victim-based crime is 10% lower than the average of its peers. 

This equates to 1,200 fewer victim-based crimes compared to if the force had the average 

recorded crime rate of its peers.

-30% -20% -10% 0% 10% 20% 30% 

% difference from peer average (illustrative example) 

-30% -20% -10% 0% 10% 20% 30% 

% difference from peer average (illustrative example) 
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Net revenue 

expenditure 

per head 

population

-£1.0m 0
Visible 

frontline
0 £2.5m

  Officers 0 £3.7m
Non-visible 

frontline
-£0.9m 0

  Staff 0 £0.4m
Frontline 

support
0 £1.4m

  PCSOs -£0.4m 0
Business 

support
-£3.1m 0

Non-staff 

costs
0 £1.1m

Earned 

income*
0 -£5.8m

For more information on the data used here, please see 'Income & Expenditure - Overview'.

Central funding 0 £10.1m

Local funding -£4.2m 0

POA estimates are used for all cost and workforce data unless stated otherwise. These data 

are taken as a snapshot as at 22 October. Any updates to the data made after this time will not 

be reflected in the profile. 

Income and expenditure in Derbyshire
Force's estimated expenditure and income in 2016/17.

The chart below shows how the local policing body's funding per head of population compares with the 

average of its peer group of forces:

* When considered next to areas of expenditure, below average income can be considered as 

a net cost to the force compared to other forces. Similarly, above average income can be 

considered as a net saving to the force compared to elsewhere.

For more information on the data used here, please see 'Income and expenditure - Financing' in the full 

profile document.

3. How is the local policing body funded compared with peers?

For more information on the data used here, please see 'Income & Expenditure - Spend by function' in the 

full profile document.

1. How does the force's income and expenditure compare with peers? 2. Where is the force spending money compared with peers?

The chart belows shows how total net revenue expenditure, and spending on staff costs (police officers, 

staff, PCSOs), non staff costs and earned income compares with other forces in its most similar group.

The chart below shows how the proportion of the force's spend across frontline, frontline support and 

business support functions compares with the average of its peer group of forces:

% difference from peer average 

-10% -5% 0% 5% 10% 

-20% -15% -10% -5% 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 

-80% -60% -40% -20% 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 

% difference from peer average 

% difference from peer average 
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999 calls -8.0k 0
Victim-based 

crime
-7.5k 0

Emergency 

incidents
0 49.8k

Other crimes 

against society
-1.3k 0

Priority 

incidents
0 22.8k

Victim-based 

crime
-10.3 0

Suspect 

identified
-0.5k 0

Other crimes 

against society
-1.6 0 Action taken 0 3.0k

Only victim-based crime is included in this chart.

Thirty forces provided tracked outcome data and "n/a" means the force have not provided 

tracked outcome data.

Demand in Derbyshire Crime in Derbyshire
Demands on the force in 2015/16. Crimes and outcomes recorded in the force in 2015/16.

For more information on the data used here, please see 'Demand 999 calls/Emergency & Priority incidents'. 

Note that these categories do not cover all of the demands on the force.

For more information on the data used here, please see 'Demand - Recorded crimes per visible officers' in 

the full profile document. For more information on the data used here, please see 'Offences and Outcomes' in the full profile 

document.

The chart below shows how the number of recorded crimes per visible officer in the force compares with the 

average of its peer group of forces:

The chart below compares formal investigative outcomes per crime for crimes (excl fraud) in the force with 

the average of its peer group of forces.

For more information on the data used here (including a break down by crime type), please 'Offences and 

Outcomes' in the full profile document.

5. Are the force's police officers dealing with more crimes compared with peers? 7. How do the investigative outcomes in the force compare with peers?

4. Is the force experiencing higher demand than peers? 6. How does the level of recorded crime in the force compare with peers?

The chart below shows how the number of 999 calls received and emergency and priority incidents recorded 

by the force per head of population compares with its peer group of forces:

The chart below shows how the number of recorded crimes per head of population in the force compares 

with the average of its peer group of forces:

-40% -30% -20% -10% 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 

% difference from peer average % difference from peer average 

% difference from peer average 

-40% -30% -20% -10% 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 

-40% -30% -20% -10% 0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 

-100% -75% -50% -25% 0% 25% 50% 75% 100% 

% difference from peer average 
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Outliers

£m £/head Avg Diff £m

          

COSTS BY OBJECTIVE £m £/head Avg Diff £m      

NRE by objective group          

  Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 11.0 -2.5      

  Support functions 30.8 29.7 36.7 -7.3      

          

Local policing          

  Neighbourhood policing 12.8 12.3 23.4 -11.5      

Dealing with the public          

  Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 11.0 -2.5      

Investigations          

  Serious and organised crime unit 5.3 5.1 2.3 2.8      

Support functions          

  ICT 6.4 6.2 9.1 -3.0      

  Training 2.6 2.5 3.5 -1.1      

  All other support functions 2.8 2.7 4.1 -1.4      

  Support functions 30.8 29.7 36.7 -7.3      

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

This page provides the areas in which the force is an outlier in costs. The force's figures are compared to the spend of other forces. To be flagged as an outlier, the spend must be 
one of the highest 10% or lowest 10% of any force and the effect of the difference is greater than £1 per head of population. The difference (Diff) calculations are the net cost of the 
difference in spend to the average per head of all forces. 
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HMIC Value for Money Profile 2016

Derbyshire Constabulary

compared with all forces in England & Wales

The forces in the most similar group can be identified

 in the charts in this section by using the key below

Derbyshire a Derbyshire

Staffordshire b Staffordshire

Avon & Somerset c Avon & Somerset

Cheshire d Cheshire

Northamptonshire e Northamptonshire

Essex f Essex

Kent g Kent

Wiltshire h Wiltshire

0

HMIC page 1
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Introduction 
 
Data about a single force can never reveal all there is to know. Insight comes 
from putting a force's data side by side with others so that the differences are 
revealed. No two forces face the same problems, so it makes sense to compare 
the performance of forces which share similar demographics and are therefore, 
more likely to have similar problems. For example, there is more value in 
comparing Greater Manchester Police’s crime performance with that of the West 
Midlands Police and other similar, large urban forces. In fact the Home Office 
has ‘clustered’ forces into most similar groups or MSGs, as we refer to them in 
this document, to produce a standard set of comparison forces to set against 
your force. We highlight these forces in the bar charts and, where relevant, we 
also show the most similar group of forces average (or MSG average), 
represented by a line across the bars in the charts. Forces in the same group as 
your force are listed on the front cover of this document. 
 
We also show the expenditure for each force (usually expressed as £ per head 
of population) and compare it with other MSG forces.  There are limitations, 
which you should be aware of. First and foremost, the way the police service is 
funded is largely based on past expenditure patterns and the ability of forces to 
raise different levels of income from their council tax base. 
 
Secondly, the financial comparisons used in this document do not adjust for the 
costs of operating in a particular part of the country. An “area cost adjustment” 
figure is available from the Home Office, but when we applied it to the data, it 
made a small difference to some forces close to London, such as Surrey and 
Thames Valley, and for obvious reasons, a larger difference to the Metropolitan 
Police. For most forces there was little change, so we decided to present costs 
without the adjustment. A few forces may want to make some adjustments; but 
in general most forces are not sufficiently affected. 
 
In any case, users of this information should be looking at larger differences in 
costs compared with the MSG average, than that represented by the area cost 
adjustment. Furthermore, it is often the case that the main factors which explain 
higher costs lie elsewhere. More often than not, the main factor is volume – 
higher PCSO expenditure is most likely due to having more of them, rather than 
the average cost of each PCSO. In some areas, such as training, the major 
factor is the mix of the workforce – a higher percentage of police officers can be 
expensive. (It may also be more appropriate in some cases.)  
 
The aim of the profiles is to help Police and Crime Commissioners, Police and 
Crime Panels and force managers identify significant differences, raise 
legitimate questions, ask for explanations and possibly further investigation. The 
information draws attention to questions which should be addressed.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
Here are some illustrative examples: 
- why is it that this force is more able to identify rape suspects and charge 

them, than others? 
- why is it that similar crimes attract different outcomes (such as charges or 

informal warnings) in different forces? 
- is there a relationship between high sickness rates for police officers and the 

fact that this force has fewer local police officers? 
- if more of our incidents are classified as emergencies than other similar 

forces, is that because we have too few call handlers (classified as dealing 
with the public) or because more training is required? 

- if our information, communications and technology costs are higher, is this 
helping our force to be more efficient or is it just expensive? 

- have major reductions in police staff resulted in more costly police officers 
doing ‘back office type jobs? 

 
HMIC’s Value for Money (VfM) profiles allow you to compare your force’s 
performance, and the costs of achieving it, with that of other forces. The VfM 
profiles provide an important tool not only to help discover areas of high relative 
cost or identify differences in performance, but also to identify other forces which 
are achieving more with less. Although last year’s autumn statement changed 
the financial climate for police forces; it remains challenging. This and a 
redistribution of the police grant among forces due to changes in the funding 
formula mean that the profiles continue to be a vital tool. 
 
The VfM profiles are: 
- designed for use by force management, police and crime commissioners 

(PCCs) and local policing bodies as well as HMIC; 
- wide ranging, covering a large amount of information in a single, easy to use 

document; 
- presented in a uniform format to allow you to focus attention on the main 

differences which require explanation and action to improve; 
- timely – being published close to the announcement of the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer’s autumn statement, when major financial decisions are being 
taken; 

- not league tables or targets – they are designed to raise questions, not 
make judgments. 

 
Each profile has two parts: a summary (published separately), and this more 
detailed profile; both are available on our website. They are designed to be 
investigative tools to draw attention to large, and possibly unexplained, 
differences in costs or performance. These should be followed up to confirm 
whether resources are being used efficiently and effectively.
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What changes have been made? 
 

The main changes this year are: 
1. There have not been any major changes to the Police Objective Analysis 

(POA) definitions and categories. However, public protection units have 
been separated from investigations and are now presented separately as a 
distinct category (pages 30 and 31). 

2.  The profiles now provide data on how incidents have been categorised 
(emergency, priority, scheduled or resolved without deployment) and how 
this has differed from 2012/13 to 2015/2016. 

3.  For the second year, the profiles include data covering outcomes 
associated with recorded crime. The profiles present the data on principle 
outcomes for each crime category along with the difference from the 
expected volumes of those outcomes based on the England and Wales 
average. 

 
How do I use the profiles? 
 

Most of the data are presented as bar charts so you can see how your force 
compares with others. Your force is highlighted in black with forces in your ‘most 
similar group’ (MSG) shown in teal. MSG forces share similar demographics 
(more details about MSG forces can be found on page 6). Finally, a horizontal 
line runs across each bar chart representing the average value across all forces 
in England and Wales (excluding the Metropolitan Police Service and City of 
London Police) unless stated otherwise. 
 
The profiles are presented as ‘logic trees’ with the data broken down 
progressively from left to right. By following the branches of the logic tree, you 
can identify the reason(s) for differences between your force and others. To 
illustrate, in the example given on page 5 a force could be spending more on 
police officers because there are more of them (officers per head of population), 
or because they are more expensive (cost per officer), or because it is spending 
more on overtime. 
 
Most pages also include tables which lay out the main data presented in the 
charts as well as some additional comparisons. Typically, from left to right they 
show:  
- a short description the relevant volumes (e.g. staff numbers/total 

costs/numbers of crimes)  
- a ratio for comparison (e.g. staff per head of population)  
- the average costs per volumes 
- the ‘difference’ which 

o for costs shows how much more, or less, it is costing your force 
than the average; 

o for crimes/outcomes shows how many more, or fewer, 
crimes/outcomes your force is recording as a result of the difference 
from the average; and 

o for workforce shows how much larger, or smaller, your force’s 
workforce is as a result of the difference from the average. 

- chevrons (<<) against the data highlight whether your force is an outlier for 
this item (whether the force is in the top or bottom 10 percent and the effect 
of the difference is greater than £1 per head of population). 

An example is shown on the following page 
 
Note on Crime Data Integrity 
 

In 2014 HMIC completed an inspection into the way police forces in England 
and Wales record crime data. This report identified serious concerns about the 
crime recording process and HMIC is now undertaking a programme of 
inspecting crime data recording across police forces in England and Wales. In 
response to the findings of both the 2014 report and the inspection programme, 
many forces have or are in the process of reviewing their crime recording 
processes. This may have an impact on recorded crime trends although the 
impact is likely to vary by force. 
 
Note on Collaboration 
 

For the majority of forces that are not involved in significant or large-scale 
collaborations, the use of net expenditure provides an adequate comparison. 
However, as the use of collaboration increases in scale, the way data are 
collected and presented has adapted. In 2014/15, additional headings were 
added to the POA, separating out staff and third party costs and income related 
to collaboration. CIPFA guidance explains how forces should record their 
collaborations depending on the type of model they operate – As we present 
costs net of earned income, costs in collaborating forces should be broadly 
comparable with other forces. The main exception is costs per FTE staff, which 
can be distorted if the collaboration is reported using the ‘lead force’ model 
(where all staff are shown as based in the force providing the service, rather 
than split across the forces taking part in the collaboration). 
 
Feedback 

 

Many forces worked with us throughout the development of the VfM profiles, 
and we are grateful to those that provided us with feedback and comments. 
HMIC is always keen to hear from users how the profiles can be improved. If 
you have any suggestions, or any analysis which you think might be useful to 
include, please contact HMICProfiles@hmic.gsi.gov.uk. 
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Guidance page - How to read the profiles
How much do officers in the force cost compared with others? How much overtime do they receive?

          

Averages Diff* £m

Officer costs £/head All MSG All MSG

All pay exc. overtime 127.7 99.0 121.0 16.0 3.7

Overtime 2.2 3.0 3.4 -0.4 -0.7

Total 129.8 102.0 124.4 15.5 3.0

Averages Diff* £m

Officer overtime as a % of total salary costs % sal All MSG All MSG

Total 1.7% 3.0% 2.9% -0.9 -0.8 <<
** Figure is flagged as outliers where the two differ by more than 5%

Averages Diff* £m

Number of officers and cost per officer All MSG All MSG

FTE per 1,000 population 2.54 1.93 2.40 17.2 3.8 <<

Cost per FTE (£000s) 50.3 51.3 50.4 -1.4 -0.1 

* Net cost of the difference in spend to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

3. ...equating to a 
difference of £15.5m 
when compared to the 
national (all) average. 

N.B Outliers are highlighted with blue chevrons, and 
represent the values that are in the highest and lowest 
10% of values across all force and, where appropriate, 
have a value of more than £1 per head. 

7. The cost of individual officers in the 
force is relatively low.  
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4. This chart shows a breakdown of the 
previous branch of the logic tree, revealing 
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2.  The force (a) has some of the highest officer costs 
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1. The profiles use 'logic trees' break each policing function 
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breakdown, you can see how the force (labelled 'a') compares 
to other forces in its most similar group of forces (labelled 'b - 
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equating to a difference 
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5. The force spends little 
(as a proportion) on 
overtime. 
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What checks have been applied to the data? How has collaboration been taken into account? 
Frequently asked questions 
 
What is the purpose of the most similar group (MSG) comparison? 
 

The MSG was designed to offer a fairer comparison of levels of crime between 
forces as they group forces with similar demographics. While MSG 
comparisons do not take account of the fact that some areas have higher costs 
than others; they are used here to compare costs since forces in a high crime 
MSG (such as large urban forces) are likely to have greater resources such as 
more officers, staff and PCSOs. While most forces share similar demographics 
with the rest of their group, there are a few that are less closely aligned (the 
Metropolitan Police Service, Dyfed-Powys Police, Surrey Police and City of 
London Police). Apart from City of London Police, the remaining forces are still 
included with a most similar group, but their appearance as an outlier means 
they should be treated with caution. MSGs were last updated for the 2013 VfM 
profiles using data from the 2011 Census; this grouping remains the most 
recent update. 
 
What checks have been applied to the data? 
 

The data presented in the profiles are subject to a systematic checking 
process: 
- The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) applies 

arithmetic and reconciliation checks to the financial data from forces. 
- Each force is asked to check its statistical outliers (where its costs are 

significantly different from average and/or from its return for the previous 
year). 

- Each force receives a draft profile to check the figures before publication. 
Each year forces identify anomalies or inconsistencies which HMIC attempts to 
resolve. Forces are able to resubmit data to correct any errors. 
 
Which workforce figures are used? 
 

The profiles include staff numbers drawn from two data sets: the Home Office 
annual data return (ADR), which is a snapshot at 31 March each year of full-
time equivalent staff in post and the Police Objective Analysis (POA) which 
counts the average, budgeted, full-time equivalent staff for the financial year. 
Given the differences between the two, these figures in some cases will not 
align completely. In general, the profiles use POA budgeted staff numbers to 
make detailed financial comparisons between forces. However, POA is a 
relatively recent invention and, prior to 2011/12, it was not validated by HMIC. 
Consequently, it cannot provide a series long enough to show changing trends 
over time. In contrast, ADR has been validated over several years so is used to 
present trends on police officers, PCSO and police staff numbers. It is also 
used where equivalent data are not available from POA. 
 
 
 
 
 

Which population figures are used? 
 

The profiles use mid-2015 population estimates, which are the latest available 
from the ONS. Please note that the ONS police recorded crime data 
publication,12 months to 31 March 2016 (published in July 2016) used mid-
2014 population estimates so numbers will not match exactly. 
 
Which crime figures are used? 
 

The VfM profiles include the crime statistics published by the ONS in for the 
data for the 12 months to March 2016. The Home Office introduced a new 
framework to measure outcomes associated with crimes in 2013. Data covering 
outcomes associated with crimes recorded in the 12 months to 31 March 2016 
for all forces are published by the Home Office and updated on 20 October 
2016.  
 
How are averages calculated? 
 

Unless stated otherwise, the simple average of all forces and MSG forces are 
used. Except for their own profiles, City of London Police and the Metropolitan 
Police Service are omitted from the averages and the charts because they are 
outliers in most categories. 
 
What rule is used to highlight outliers? 
 

The difference is highlighted if the indicator puts the force in the top or bottom 
10 percent and the effect of the difference is greater than £1 per head of 
population. 
 
Where can I find further contextual information to help me understand the 
data? 
 

Further contextual information can be provided by HMIC, for example the 
definitions used by CIPFA in constructing the POA dataset. 
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What checks have been applied to the data? Frequently asked questions How has collaboration been taken into account? Section One – Costs, workforce and demand/performance 
 
This section looks at how a force deploys its workforce and the associated 
costs for each of the 13 headline categories within the Police Objective 
Analysis (POA). POA subcategory information on costs is also presented. 
POA estimates are used for all cost and workforce data unless stated 
otherwise. These data are taken as a snapshot as at 8 November 2016. Any 
updates to the data made after this time will not be reflected in the profile. 
Home Office Annual Data Requirement (ADR) data is used where relevant 
POA data is not available. Examples include officers by rank, sickness rates, 
restricted/recuperative duty rates, officers' length of service and 
leavers/joiners.  
 
With the exception of special constables, workforce data comprises full-time 
equivalent (FTE) figures. In POA estimates these are calculated as the 
number of staff budgeted for each staff type. Police workforce figures 
published by the Home Office are based on those in-post as of 31 March each 
year. The two sets of figures are not, therefore, directly comparable. 
 
Key to the data and calculations 
 

- Net revenue expenditure: The profiles use a different calculation for net 
revenue expenditure to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA); it is calculated as total expenditure minus earned 
income to show the total cost of policing to the taxpayer. 

- Earned income: Where earned income is referred to, this covers 
partnership income, sales fees charges and rents, special police services, 
reimbursed income and interest. 

- Averages: All averages in this section (unless otherwise stated) are 
simple, unweighted England and Wales averages, including the force in 
question. As the Metropolitan Police and City of London Police data distort 
the chart scales, they have been excluded from all charts and averages 
except for those in their own profiles. 

- Difference to most similar group (MSG) / All force: Differences are 
calculated using the difference in cost per head. An example calculation is 
as follows: (Force cost per head - MSG cost per head) multiplied by 
population = absolute cost of difference. 

- Police officer spend as % of gross expenditure: The profiles show the 
proportion of spend on officers (including overtime) by function. 
Calculation is as follows: (Police officer spend + Police officer overtime) / 
Gross Revenue Expenditure (GRE) = police officer spend as % of GRE. 

- National policing: To more accurately compare forces, national policing 
functions (such as counter terrorism/special branch) is not included in 
totals of spend and workforce (unless stated otherwise). 

- Operational frontline, frontline support and business support: POA data is 
mapped onto these categories.  Since counter-terrorism/special branch is 
a national policing function, we do not include this as a frontline role (for 
the reason given above). Due to this, and the previously described 
differences between the ADR and POA workforce data, the totals and 
proportions may not match those published elsewhere. The list of POA 
categories and their classifications are given in Annex 3. 

 
Please note that, throughout the profiles, rounding may cause apparent 
discrepancies between totals and the sums of the parts. 
 
How to use this section 
 

Users may wish to focus on those charts where the force is an outlier, i.e. 
where the force is significantly different from the average, Outliers are 
highlighted with blue chevrons and indicate that the force falls within the 
highest or lowest 10% and, where applicable, the financial value is greater 
than £1 per head. Alternatively users may wish to examine where the force of 
interest is positioned relative to other forces they think are similarly performing 
or where they expect that force to be.  
 
Users should consider exploring the reasons for any differences by looking at 
the force as a whole, using relevant local knowledge. Staffing levels should 
also be considered in the context of workforce modernisation, collaboration 
efforts and the outsourcing of services. Please note that in some cases, charts 
are not given for all breakdowns; priority is given to those areas with the 
highest costs or levels.  
 
Throughout the profiles the chart scales vary and as a result the differences 
shown may not be as significant as they first appear. 
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Income and expenditure - Overview                                                                                                                                                                      

How much does the force spend in each area of business compared with others? How much does it earn in income?

Population 1,037k

£m £/head All MSG All MSG

Police officers 93.3 90.0 95.1 86.4 -5.3 3.7

Police staff 40.8 39.3 38.9 39.0 0.4 0.4

PCSOs 5.1 4.9 6.4 5.3 -1.6 -0.4 

Workforce 139.2 134.3 140.4 130.7 -6.4 3.7

Non-staff costs 42.4 40.9 45.2 39.8 -4.5 1.1

Earned income -14.4 -13.9 -8.4 -8.4 -5.7 -5.8 

NRE exc nat.pol. 167.1 161.2 177.2 162.1 -16.6 -1.0 

National policing** 11.0 10.6 4.3 3.9 6.5 6.9

NRE inc nat. pol. 178.1 171.8 181.5 166.1 -10.1 5.9

* Net cost of the difference in spend to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Note that national policing has been included in the table only for reference so that the totals reconcile to the financing totals later in this section.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire
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The profiles calculate net revenue expenditure (NRE) as total expenditure 
minus earned income to show the total cost of policing to the taxpayer. Note 
that this is different from NRE as reported in the raw POA data. 
 
To improve comparability between forces, national policing functions (such as 
counter-terrorism/special branch) are excluded from the data analysis and 
charts. 
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Income and expenditure - Spend by function

What proportion of spend is on the front line or in business support compared with others? What proportion is spent in visible functions?

NRE £m All MSG

  Visible 62.3 39.7% 38.2% 38.1% 2.5

  Non-visible 50.5 32.2% 32.4% 32.7% -0.9

Operational front line 112.8 71.9% 70.6% 70.8% 1.6

Frontline support 15.5 9.9% 8.7% 9.0% 1.4

Business support 28.7 18.3% 20.7% 20.2% -3.1

Other* 10.2

Total (NRE) 167.1 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

* Functions classified as Other  do not fit into any of the three categories. They include costs associated with the PCC and central costs such as capital financing and pension costs.

** Net cost of the difference in proportion spent in each category compared to the average of MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire Derbyshire
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Police workforce roles are split into three categories: operational front line, frontline 
support and business support. The front line is further broken down into visible and 
non-visible roles (see Annex 3 for a breakdown by POA category). These plots 
show the NRE in each category.  To improve comparability between forces, 
national policing functions are excluded. 
 
Collaboration and outsourcing affect workforce numbers so costs, rather than FTE 
figures, are presented.  
 
Note that in PEEL:Police efficiency 2015 (October 2015) HMIC define frontline 
support as operational support. Since this is the name of a POA category, frontline 
support is used here to avoid confusion. 
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Income and expenditure - Workforce costs - Officers

How much do officers in the force cost compared with others? How much overtime do they receive?

FTE police officers 1,715 (exc national policing functions)

Officer costs    £m £/head All MSG All MSG

All pay exc. overtime 91.1 87.9 92.3 84.1 -4.6 3.9

Overtime 2.2 2.1 2.7 2.3 -0.6 -0.2

Total 93.3 90.0 95.1 86.4 -5.3 3.7

% salary All MSG All MSG

Total 2.4% 2.9% 2.7% -0.5 -0.3

Force All MSG All MSG

FTE per 1,000 population ###### 1.65 1.76 1.59 -5.9 3.4

Cost** per FTE (£000s) ###### 53.1 52.5 52.8 1.0 0.5

* Net cost of the difference in spend to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Cost excludes overtime.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Police officer costs are split into salary and overtime (OT). OT costs are also shown 
as a percentage of the overall salary costs (including OT).  To improve 
comparability between forces, national policing functions are excluded. 
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Income and expenditure - Workforce costs - Police staff and police community support officers (PCSOs)

How much do police staff and PCSOs cost in the force compared with others?

Police staff

Police staff FTE 1,165 (exc national policing functions)

£m £/head All MSG All MSG

Police staff cost 40.8 39.3 38.9 39.0 0.4 0.4

Including overtime costs

Force All MSG All MSG

FTEs per 1,000 pop 1165 1.1 1.1 1.1 0.0 1.1

Cost** per FTE (£000s) 1165.3 35.0 35.2 36.9 -0.2 -2.2

PCSOs

PCSOs FTE 165 (exc national policing functions)

£m £/head All MSG All MSG

PCSO cost 5.1 4.9 6.4 5.3 -1.6 -0.4

Including overtime costs

  Force All MSG All MSG

FTEs per 1,000 pop 165.00 0.2 0.2 0.2 -1.4 -0.3

Cost** per FTE (£000s) £165.0k 30.9 31.7 31.9 -0.1 -0.2

* Net cost of the difference in spend to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Cost includes overtime.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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National policing functions have been excluded to improve comparability between forces.  
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing arrangements will affect staff costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - Non-staff costs

Apart from on the workforce, where else is the force spending money compared with others?

Force workforce costs £139m

% of w'force

    £m costs All MSG All MSG

Supplies and services** 17.3 12.4% 11.5% 11.0% 1.3 1.9

Force collaboration payments 4.8 3.5% 5.2% 4.9% -2.4 -2.0

Premises related expenses 6.7 4.8% 5.0% 4.8% -0.2 -0.1

Transport related expenses 3.8 2.7% 2.5% 2.5% 0.3 0.3

Restructure, training and conference 0.4 0.3% 0.6% 0.3% -0.4 0.0

Other employee expenses*** 2.5 1.8% 2.5% 2.2% -0.9 -0.5

PCC outsource/collab/commission 2.7 1.9% 2.2% 2.0% -0.4 -0.2

Non-staff costs 38.2 27.4% 29.4% 27.7% -2.7 -0.4

Capital financing 4.2 3.0% 3.1% 2.8% -0.2 0.3

Total non-staff costs 42.4 30.5% 32.5% 30.6% -2.9 -0.1

* Net cost of the difference in spend to the average percentage of all/MSG forces.

** Includes 3rd party payments excluding collaboration.

*** Including temporary and agency staff, injury and ill health costs.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Non-staff costs as a percentage of workforce costs 
Workforce costs include officer, staff and PCSO salary and overtime costs only. Temporary and agency 
costs are classified as non-staff. To improve comparability between forces, national policing functions are 
excluded. 
 
Non-staff costs are broken down into specific types of running costs.  They are shown as a percentage of 
workforce costs as many are largely dependent on the size of the workforce.  
 
Note that collaboration, outsourcing and partnership arrangements will affect the data for some forces.  
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Income and expenditure - Financing

How much money does the local policing body receive in funding compared with others and from where? What is the level of council tax in the force and how does that compare with others?

Population 1,037k

£m £/head All MSG

  Formula funding* 99.8 96.3 107.4 94.6 1.8

  Legacy council tax grants 8.7 8.4 6.7 7.7 0.7 `

  Specific grants 14.8 14.2 7.3 6.8 7.7

Central funding 123.3 118.9 121.3 109.2 10.1

  Council tax 54.3 52.3 58.5 56.4 -4.2

  Reserves 0.5 0.5 1.7 0.5 0.0

Local funding 54.8 52.9 60.2 56.9 -4.2

Net revenue expenditure 178.1 171.8 181.5 166.1 5.9 Council tax % of c.tax       Averages

* Sum of police grant, non-domestic rates and revenue support grant.   Band D tax rate All MSG  £/head to police All MSG

** Net cost of the difference in spend to the average per head of MSG forces. £177.1 £178.4 £171.3 £52.3 0% £0.00 £0.00

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Funding per head of population 
Central funding is broken down into formula-based funding*, and government grants, 
which are not formula based. Local funding is comprised of council tax, use of 
reserves and council tax support grants.  
 
To show  a typical council tax payment in the force, Band D tax rates (from CIPFA 
estimates) have been included . The yield shows the amount, from every £1 of 
council tax collected, that goes to the local policing body.  
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Income and expenditure - Earned income

How much money does the force earn compared with others and from where does it receive it?

Population 1,037k

Averages

£m £/head All MSG All MSG

Reimbursed income

 - From collaboration 10.3 9.9 3.0 3.2 7.2 7.0

 - Other 0.2 0.2 0.7 0.7 -0.5 -0.5

 Sales, fees, charges and rents 3.1 3.0 2.7 2.6 0.3 0.4

 Special police services 0.4 0.4 0.9 0.9 -0.5 -0.6

 Partnership income 0.3 0.3 0.9 0.8 -0.7 -0.6

 Interest 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 -0.1 0.0

Total earned income 14.4 13.9 8.4 8.4 5.7 5.8

* Net cost of the difference in earnings to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17
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Income per head of population 
Earned income is removed from Gross Revenue Expenditure (GRE) in order to 
calculate NRE and does not include government grants. 
 
To improve comparability between forces national policing functions have been 
excluded. 
 
Some forces have high earned income related to special functions such as 
policing ports and airports or policing large events (sports, festivals etc.).   
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Income and expenditure - Funding trends

How has the local policing body's income changed over time compared with others?

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Force £ per 1,000 pop

Central funding* 119.9 119.0 113.6 109.3 110.5 -8%

Legacy council tax grants 1.3 8.4 8.4 8.4

Council tax 52.6 53.8 48.4 50.6 52.3 -1%

Reserves 1.5 0.6 1.6 0.5 0.5

Total funding 174.1 174.7 172.0 168.8 171.8 -1%

Central funding* 114.3 112.3 107.0 101.2 101.4 -11%

Legacy council tax grants 1.5 6.8 7.0 7.7

Council tax 55.6 54.8 51.3 54.3 56.4 1%

Reserves 0.9 0.1 -0.8 0.1 0.5

Total funding 170.8 168.8 164.3 162.6 166.1 -3%

Band D tax rate £164 £167 £170 £174 £177

All Average £166 £169 £172 £175 £178

*Central funding does not include council tax freeze grant.

Derbyshire Source: POA Estimates 2012/13 to 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Please note that estimates of reserves are unreliable and that these figures are not adjusted for 
inflation. The change over time is, therefore, a nominal and not a real change.  
The Band D council tax rates are from CIPFA estimates.  
 
Note that change over time for reserves has not been given due to values crossing zero, with 
the potential for false negatives. 
 
Note that values for previous years have been adjusted using mid-2015 population figures. 
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Income and expenditure - Total costs by function

How does the force apportion its spend across the different functions compared with others? How has this changed since last year?

Population 1,037k

Budgeted 

spend £m Force MSG Av MSG £m Last year Force MSG Av Force MSG Av

Neighbourhood policing 12.8 12.3 23.3 -11.4 0.0 8.0% 14.9% 59.6% 66.9%

Incident (response) management 37.8 36.5 22.4 14.6 1.4 23.6% 14.3% 98.5% 73.6%

Local investigation/prisoner processing 12.9 12.4 10.1 2.4 0.0 8.0% 6.4% 99.8% 88.3%

Other local policing 4.7 4.5 5.1 -0.6 0.2 2.9% 3.3% 61.0% 67.1%

Local policing 68.2 65.7 60.9 5.0 1.6 42.4% 38.9% 88.9% 84.8%

Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 9.5 -0.9 0.2 5.6% 6.1% 10.4% 13.2%

Road policing 3.7 3.5 2.9 0.6 0.0 2.3% 1.9% 64.1% 62.7%

Operational support 6.0 5.8 6.4 -0.6 -0.3 3.8% 4.1% 85.5% 83.4%

Intelligence 6.0 5.8 6.5 -0.7 -0.2 3.7% 4.1% 46.0% 51.9%

Investigation - Public protection 7.9 7.6 8.9 -1.4 0.2 4.9% 5.7% 76.6% 76.2%

Investigations [exc local investigation) 9.4 9.1 9.6 -0.5 -0.4 5.9% 6.1% 64.5% 68.3%

Investigative support 4.5 4.3 4.3 0.0 0.0 2.8% 2.7% 6.0% 5.6%

Custody 5.7 5.5 5.3 0.2 1.3 3.6% 3.4% 41.9% 36.2%

Other criminal justice arrangements 5.9 5.7 5.2 0.5 -1.3 3.6% 3.3% 1.4% 3.1%

Criminal justice arrangements 11.6 11.2 10.5 0.7 0.0 7.2% 6.7% 17.2% 20.8%

ICT 6.4 6.2 7.7 -1.5 0.0 4.0% 4.9% 0.0% 0.3%

Human resources 2.6 2.5 2.0 0.4 0.0 1.6% 1.3% 0.0% 3.1%

Training 2.6 2.5 3.2 -0.7 -0.1 1.6% 2.0% 44.1% 44.7%

Other support functions 19.2 18.6 20.3 -1.9 -0.5 12.0% 13.0% 13.9% 15.4%

Support functions 30.8 29.7 33.3 -3.7 -0.6 19.2% 21.2% 9.4% 10.6%

Police and Crime Commissioner 3.7 3.6 3.9 -0.4 0.1 2.3% 2.5% 0.0% 0.0%

Total exc national policing and central costs 160.7 155.0 156.7 -1.8 0.6 100.0% 100.0% 51.4% 50.9%

National policing 11.0 10.6 3.9 6.9 1.7

Central costs 6.4 6.2 5.5 0.8 0.7

Total 178.1 171.8 166.1 5.9 3.0

Note that workforce under the heading of 'local investigation' are included within 'local policing' not 'investigation' as in POA 74%

* The difference in spend per 1,000 population and last year values have been adjusted with mid-2015 population figures.

** Percentage of budgeted spend (excluding on national policing and central costs) by function.

*** Cost of police officers as % of total gross cost by function.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2015/16 and 2016/17 Derbyshire

Spend per head £ Diff from* % of total** % Officers***
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Summary

What does the force spend across the different functions compared with others?

Population 1,037k

£m £/head All MSG All MSG

Local policing** 68.2 65.7 66.7 60.9 -1.0 5.0

Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 11.0 9.5 -2.5 -0.9 <<

Criminal justice arrangements 11.6 11.2 11.2 10.5 0.0 0.7

Road policing 3.7 3.5 4.0 2.9 -0.5 0.6

Operational support*** 6.0 5.8 7.2 6.4 -1.4 -0.6

Intelligence 6.0 5.8 7.2 6.5 -1.5 -0.7

Public protection 7.9 7.6 9.4 8.9 -1.9 -1.4

Investigations 9.4 9.1 8.2 9.6 1.0 -0.5

Investigative support 4.5 4.3 4.5 4.3 -0.2 0.0

Support functions 30.8 29.7 36.7 33.3 -7.3 -3.7 <<

PCC/Local Policing Body 3.7 3.6 4.2 3.9 -0.6 -0.4

Tot. exc national pol. & central costs 160.7 155.0 170.3 156.7 -15.9 -1.8

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire

Averages Diff* £m

*** Note that this is the POA category, not the workforce descriptor used in Policing in Austerity: Meeting 

the Challenge  (July 2014).

** Note that workforce under the heading of 'local investigation' are included within 'local policing' and not 

'investigation' as in POA.
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Local policing (including local investigation/prisoner processing)

What does the force spend on the different areas within local policing compared with others?

Population 1,037k

% MSG

£m  £/head All  MSG All  MSG Off** Avg.

Incident (response) management 37.8 36.5 26.2 22.4 10.7 14.6 98% 74%

Neighbourhood policing 12.8 12.3 23.4 23.3 -11.5 -11.4<< 60% 67%

Local investigation/prisoner processing*** 12.9 12.4 11.8 10.1 0.6 2.4 100% 88%

Specialist community liaison 2.8 2.7 3.4 3.1 -0.8 -0.5 55% 59%

Policing command team & support 1.9 1.9 1.8 2.0 0.1 -0.1 69% 77%

overheads

Local policing 68.2 65.7 66.7 60.9 -1.0 5.0 89% 85%

Total exc local investigation 55.3 53.3 54.9 50.8 -1.6 2.6 86% 84%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure.

*** Workforce included 'local investigation' are included within 'local policing' not investigation as in POA.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire Derbyshire

Averages Diff* £m
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Local policing (including local investigation/prisoner processing) - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within local policing compared with others?

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 1,145    1.10           1.12        1.02       -14 84

PCSOs 165       0.16           0.20        0.17       -44 -10

Police staff 43         0.04           0.07        0.07       -29 -30

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 60.9 58.7 57.4 52.1 1.3 6.8

PCSOs 5.1 4.9 6.4 5.3 -1.5 -0.4

Police staff 1.1 1.1 2.2 2.6 -1.2 -1.5

Non-staff costs 1.6 1.5 1.6 1.7 0.0 -0.2

Earned income -0.5 -0.5 -0.9 -0.8 0.4 0.3

Total cost 68.2 65.7 66.7 60.9 -1.0 5.0

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £53k £51k £51k 2.0 2.6

PCSOs £31k £32k £31k -0.1 -0.1

Staff £26k £32k £36k -0.3 -0.4

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.


** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire

Averages Diff** £m
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Dealing with the public

How does the force spend its money within dealing with the public compared with others?

Population 1,037k

% MSG

£m  £/head   All MSG    All MSG  Officer** Average

Central communications unit 8.0 7.7 9.5 8.3 -1.9 -0.6 9% 13%

Local call centres/front desk 0.6 0.6 1.2 1.1 -0.7 -0.5 0% 3%

Command team and support 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.0 0.1 59% 62%

Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 11.0 9.5 -2.5 -0.9 << 10% 13%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire Derbyshire
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Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Dealing with the public - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within dealing with the public compared with others?

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0

Police staff 227 0.22 0.24     0.23     -21 -7

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 13 0.01 0.03     0.02     -22 -7

Police staff and PCSOs 227 0.22 0.24     0.23     -21 -7

Expenditure £m £/head   All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 0.9 0.9 2.1 1.2 -1.2 -0.4

Police staff and PCSOs 8.0 7.7 8.4 8.0 -0.8 -0.3

Non-staff costs 0.0 0.0 0.6 0.3 -0.6 -0.3

Earned income 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.0 0.0                                                                                                                                                                                         

Total cost 8.9 8.6 11.0 9.5 -2.5 -0.9

Cost/FTE Force   All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £71k £60k £65k 0.1 0.1

Police staff and PCSOs £35k £35k £35k 0.0 -0.1

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain 
forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Criminal justice arrangements

What does the force spend on the different areas within criminal justice arrangements compared with others?

Population 1,037k

% MSG

£m  £/head    All MSG   All MSG Off** Average

   Custody 4.6 4.4 5.2 4.3 -0.8 0.1 42% 36%

   Police doctors / nurses and surgeons 1.1 1.1 1.1 1.0 0.1 0.1 0% 0%

Custody subtotal 5.7 5.5 6.3 5.3 -0.7 0.2 34% 29%

                                                                                                                                                                                        Criminal justice 3.1 3.0 2.6 2.9 0.5 0.1 0% 7%

Police national computer 1.1 1.0 1.1 1.0 0.0 0.1 0% 0%

Criminal records bureau 0.7 0.6 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0% 0%

Property officer / stores 0.5 0.5 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2 0% 2%

Fixed penalty scheme 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2 -0.2 -0.2 0% 0%

Coroner assistance 0.0 0.0 0.2 0.2 -0.2 -0.2 n/a 0%

Command team and support 0.4 0.4 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2 23% 58%

Other criminal justice arrangements subtotal 2.7 2.6 2.3 2.3 0.3 0.4

Criminal justice arrangements 11.6 11.2 11.2 10.5 0.0 0.7 17% 21%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces. ** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure, 'n/a' indicates zero expenditure.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that individual charts for all functions are not included. Priority is given to 
areas with the highest costs. 
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Criminal justice arrangements - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within criminal justice arrangements compared with others?

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0

Police staff 214             0.21           0.19     0.19        21 20

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 31                0.03           0.05     0.04        -18 -12

Police staff and PCSOs 214 0.21 0.19     0.19        21 20

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 2.0 2.0 2.9 2.3 -1.0 -0.4

Police staff and PCSOs 6.6 6.4 5.6 6.0 0.8 0.4

Non-staff costs 3.1 3.0 3.4 2.8 -0.5 0.2

Earned income -0.1 -0.1 -0.7 -0.6 0.6 0.5

Total cost 11.6 11.2 11.2 10.5 0.0 0.7

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £65k £61k £56k 0.1 0.3

Police staff and PCSOs £31k £30k £32k 0.2 -0.3

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Road policing

What does the force spend on the different areas within road policing compared with others?

Population 1,037k

   % of which MSG

£m  £/head    All MSG   All MSG Officers** Average

Traffic Units 3.6 3.4 4.3 3.3 -0.9 0.1 95% 89%

Command Team and Support 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.1 94% 49%

Casualty Reduction Partnership -0.1 -0.1 -0.3 -0.4 0.2 0.4 12% 5%

All other road policing subtotal 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1  -  -

Road policing 3.7 3.5 4.0 2.9 -0.5 0.6 64% 63%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that individual charts for all functions are not included. Priority is given to 
areas with the highest costs. 
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing may affect costs for certain forces. - 
particularly those hosting such arrangements.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Road policing - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within road policing compared with others?

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0

Police Staff 28        0.03           0.03      0.03      -1 -1

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 68        0.07           0.08      0.06      -10 8

Police staff and PCSOs 28        0.03           0.03      0.03      -2 -1

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 3.7 3.5 4.1 3.2 -0.6 0.4

Police staff and PCSOs 0.8 0.8 0.9 1.0 -0.1 -0.2

Non-staff costs 1.2 1.2 0.8 1.0 0.4 0.2

Earned income -2.0 -2.0 -1.7 -2.2 -0.2 0.2

Total cost 3.7 3.5 4.0 2.9 -0.5 0.6

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £54k £54k £55k 0.0 -0.1

Police staff and PCSOs £29k £31k £34k 0.0 -0.1

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that collaboration, outsourcing and other partnership arrangements will affect costs and 
earned income  for some forces - particularly those hosting such arrangements.  
 
Earned income will include driver awareness courses and Casualty Reduction Partnerships.   
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Operational support

What does the force spend on the different areas within operational support compared with others?

Mounted police 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 -0.1 -0.1 n/a 10%

Event -0.2 -0.1 0.1 0.0 -0.2 -0.1 100% 48%

Airports and ports policing unit 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 -0.1 n/a 33%

Specialist terrain 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 -0.1 -0.1 n/a 32%

Population 1,037k % MSG

£m  £/head All MSG All MSG Off** Average

Firearms unit 2.9 2.8 3.3 3.1 -0.4 -0.3 100% 95%

Dogs section 0.7 0.6 1.1 1.0 -0.5 -0.4 92% 92%

Advanced public order 1.1 1.1 0.9 0.7 0.2 0.4 100% 73%

Air operations 0.5 0.5 0.8 0.5 -0.3 0.0 0% 7%

Civil contingencies 0.6 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.2 74% 62%

Command team and support 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 -0.1 -0.1 53% 63%

Other functions -0.2 -0.1 0.2 0.3 -0.4 -0.5

Operational support 6.0 5.8 7.2 6.4 -1.4 -0.6 85% 83%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire
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Note that individual charts for all functions are not included. Priority is given to areas with the 
highest costs. Operational support used here is the POA category, not the workforce descriptor 
used in HMIC's PEEL: Police efficiency 2015 (October 2015) 
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Operational support - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within operational support compared with others?

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0

Police staff 11         0.01           0.01     0.01       1 0

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 99         0.10           0.11     0.11       -20 -16

Police staff and PCSOs 11         0.01           0.01     0.01       1 0

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 5.4 5.2 6.5 6.1 -1.3 -0.9

Police staff and PCSOs 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.4 -0.1 0.0

Non-staff costs 0.6 0.6 1.3 0.9 -0.8 -0.3

Earned income -0.3 -0.3 -1.0 -0.9 0.8 0.7

Total cost 6.0 5.8 7.2 6.4 -1.4 -0.6

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £54k £56k £55k -0.2 -0.1

Police staff and PCSOs £28k £37k £33k -0.1 -0.1

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Intelligence

What does the force spend on the different areas within intelligence compared with others?

Population 1,037k

% MSG

£m  £/head All MSG All MSG Off** Average

Intelligence gathering 2.1 2.1 3.5 3.6 -1.5 -1.6 33% 58%

Intelligence analysis / threat assessments 3.7 3.5 3.4 2.6 0.1 0.9 60% 32%

Command team and support 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.2 -0.1 0.0 78% 63%

Intelligence 6.0 5.8 7.2 6.5 -1.5 -0.7 46% 52%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Intelligence - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within intelligence compared with others?

PCSO 0 0 2E-05 0 -0.02104 0

Police staff 87         0.08 0.07 0.06 11 21

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 68         0.07 0.07 0.05 -8 11

Police staff and PCSOs 87         0.08 0.07 0.06 11 21

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 3.7 3.6 4.2 3.5 -0.7 0.1

Police staff and PCSOs 3.2 3.1 2.5 2.5 0.6 0.6

Non-staff costs 1.2 1.1 0.9 0.7 0.2 0.4

Earned income -2.1 -2.0 -0.4 -0.3 -1.7 -1.8

Total cost 6.0 5.8 7.2 6.5 -1.5 -0.7

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £55k £57k £64k -0.2 -0.6  

Police staff and PCSOs £37k £34k £39k 0.2 -0.2

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Investigation public protection

Population 1,037k

% Average

£m  £/head     All MSG     All MSG Off** MSG

Witness protection 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.2 -0.1 -0.2 n/a 14%

Child protection 2.2 2.2 2.4 2.5 -0.3 -0.3 89% 75%

Adult protection 5.6 5.4 6.9 6.2 -1.5 -0.8 72% 77%

Public protection 7.9 7.6 9.4 8.9 -1.9 -1.4 77% 76%

''n/a' indicates zero expendature public protection 10% 20%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire

Averages Diff* £m

What does the force spend on the different areas within public 

protection compared with others?

£0 

£2 

£4 

£6 

£8 

£10 

£12 

£14 

£16 

    f           c                 d b                         a g   h           e 

Public protection 

£0 

£0 

£0 

£1 

£1 

  e h   d                   f         c       b               g           a       

Witness protection 

-£2 

£0 

£2 

£4 

£6 

£8 

              c         h             b   d   f a e       g                       

Child protection 

£0 

£5 

£10 

£15 

    f                       b     d g c           a                       h     e 

Adult protection 

page 30HMIC



Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Investigation public protection - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within investigations compared with others?

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00     0.00 0 0

Police staff 46          0.04         0.05 0.06 -2 -12

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 112 0.11 0.14 0.14 -37 -33

Police staff and PCSOs 46 0.04 0.05 0.06 -2 -12

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 6.0 5.8 7.6 7.1 -1.9 -1.3

Police staff and PCSOs 1.6 1.5 1.5 1.7 0.0 -0.2

Non-staff costs 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.3 -0.2 -0.1

Earned income 0.0 0.0 -0.2 -0.2 0.1 0.1

Total cost 7.9 7.6 9.4 8.9 -1.9 -1.4

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £54k £53k £51k 0.1 0.3

Police staff and PCSOs £34k £32k £30k 0.1 0.2

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire

Averages Diff** £m

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs 
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Investigations (excluding local investigation/prisoner processing)

What does the force spend on the different areas within investigations compared with others?

Population 1,037k

% Average

£m  £/head     All MSG     All MSG Off** MSG

Major investigations unit 2.6 2.5 2.9 2.7 -0.4 -0.2 62% 61%

Serious and organised crime unit 5.3 5.1 2.3 2.5 2.8 2.7 << 64% 70%

Economic crime 1.2 1.2 1.0 1.0 0.2 0.2 73% 58%

Command team and support overheads 0.2 0.2 0.9 0.8 -0.7 -0.5 62% 76%

Specialist investigation units 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3 -0.2 -0.2 0% 43%

Cyber crime 0.0 0.0 0.8 2.3 -0.8 -2.4 n/a 21%

Investigations 9.4 9.1 8.2 9.6 1.0 -0.5 65% 68%

public protection n/a 0%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that spend on local investigation/prisoner processing is classified 
under local policing.  Collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for 
certain forces.  
 
A new category for cyber crime was added to the POA dataset for 
2015, for use when a force has a seperate cyber crime unit. Many 
forces (10) have entered a zero value. 
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Investigations  (excluding local investigation/prisoner processing) - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within investigations compared with others?

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 124        0.12           0.09 0.09 32 35

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00     0.00 0 0

Police staff 35          0.03           0.04 0.04 -12 -10

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 6.9 6.7 5.9 6.9 0.8 -0.2

Police staff and PCSOs 1.2 1.2 1.6 1.6 -0.5 -0.5

Non-staff costs 2.6 2.5 1.4 1.6 1.2 0.9

Earned income -1.3 -1.2 -0.7 -0.4 -0.5 -0.8

Total cost 9.4 9.1 8.2 9.6 1.0 -0.5

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £56k £66k £80k -1.3 -3.0

Police staff and PCSOs £35k £37k £38k 0.0 -0.1

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire

Averages Diff* FTEFTE/

 1,000 pop

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of 

FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Investigative support

What does the force spend on the different areas within investigative support compared with others?

Population 1,037k

%

£m  £/head   All MSG   All MSG Off**

Scenes of crime officers 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 0.0 0.0 0%

External forensic costs 1.3 1.2 1.1 0.8 0.1 0.4 0%

Other forensic services 1.2 1.2 1.0 1.4 0.2 -0.2 18%

Fingerprint/internal forensic 0.3 0.3 0.5 0.5 -0.2 -0.2 0%

Photographic image recovery 0.1 0.1 0.3 0.1 -0.1 0.0 0%

Command team and support 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 -0.1 -0.1 0%

Investigative support 4.5 4.3 4.5 4.3 -0.2 0.0 6%

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

** Officer salaries and overtime as % of gross expenditure.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that individual charts for all functions are not included. Priority is given to areas with 
the highest costs.  
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Investigative support - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within investigative support compared with others?

-       -            -       -      

Police staff 133      0.13           0.07     0.07    61 65

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 10 0.01 0.00     0.00    7 6

Police staff and PCSOs 133      0.13           0.07     0.07    61 65

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 0.5 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.2

Police staff and PCSOs 5.1 4.9 2.7 2.5 2.3 2.4

Non-staff costs 2.8 2.7 2.0 1.9 0.8 0.8

Earned income -3.9 -3.8 -0.4 -0.5 -3.5 -3.4

Total cost 4.5 4.3 4.5 4.3 -0.2 0.0

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £51k £62k £79k -0.1 -0.3

Police staff and PCSOs £38k £38k £38k -0.1 0.0

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Support functions

What does the force spend on the different areas within support functions compared with others?

Population 1,037k

£m £/head All MSG All MSG

ICT 6.4 6.2 9.1 7.7 -3.0 -1.5 <<

Estates / central building 7.3 7.0 7.8 7.1 -0.8 -0.1

Fleet services 2.9 2.8 3.1 2.7 -0.3 0.1

Training 2.6 2.5 3.5 3.2 -1.1 -0.7 <<

Performance review 1.3 1.2 2.3 1.7 -1.1 -0.5

Administration support 2.4 2.3 2.1 2.1 0.3 0.2

Human resources 2.6 2.5 2.1 2.0 0.4 0.4

Professional standards 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.6 0.0 -0.2

Finance 1.1 1.1 1.2 1.1 -0.2 0.0

All other support functions 2.8 2.7 4.1 4.0 -1.4 -1.3 <<

Support functions 30.8 29.7 36.7 33.3 -7.3 -3.7 <<

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that individual charts for all functions are not included. Priority 
is given to areas with the highest costs.  
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain 
forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Support functions - Use of resources

How does the force spend its money within support functions compared with others?

PCSOs 0 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 0

Police staff 325        0.31            0.34 0.33 -27 -12

Staffing FTE    All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 45          0.04            0.06 0.06 -21 -13

Police staff and PCSOs 325        0.31            0.34 0.33 -27 -12

Expenditure £m £/head All MSG    All MSG

Police officers 3.3 3.1 4.1 3.7 -1.0 -0.6

Police staff and PCSOs 12.1 11.7 12.2 11.9 -0.6 -0.2

Non-staff costs 19.4 18.7 22.0 19.5 -3.4 -0.8

Earned income -4.0 -3.9 -1.7 -1.8 -2.2 -2.1

Total cost 30.8 29.7 36.7 33.3 -7.3 -3.7

Cost/FTE Force All MSG    All MSG

Police officers £72k £65k £67k 0.3 0.2

Police staff and PCSOs £37k £36k £37k 0.4 0.2

* Net difference in the number of staff/officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all/MSG forces.

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Support functions - Use of resources

POA 2016/17 estimates

(including national policing functions)

Total FTE* 3,238

Officer FTE 1,828

Total NRE (£m) 178.1

*Officers, staff and PCSOs

All

Avg

ICT 6.4 £1,989 £2,900 -3.0

Estates 7.3 £2,253 £2,474 -0.7

Training 2.6 £791 £1,118 -1.1

Human resources 2.6 £789 £667 0.4

Finance 1.1 £340 £390 -0.2

All

Avg

ICT 3.6% 5.0% -2.5

Estates 4.1% 4.3% -0.3

Training 1.4% 1.9% -0.9

Human resources 1.4% 1.2% 0.5

Finance 0.6% 0.7% -0.1

Source: POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire

Cost per FTE Percent NRE

** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average 

per head of all forces.

Diff** £m

% NRE Diff** £m

Cost £m per FTE

£0.0k 

£0.5k 

£1.0k 

£1.5k 

        c         a             e b d         f h             g                   

Human resources 

£0.0k 

£0.5k 

£1.0k 

        b   c                   e h           a         f     g         d         

Finance 

£0k 

£2k 

£4k 

£6k 

          b                   f h     c             g     d                 a   e 

ICT 

£0.0k 

£1.0k 

£2.0k 

£3.0k 

      c h     g               f         d                             a       b e 

Training 

0% 

1% 

2% 

        c   a     d               f b     h     g             e                   

Human resources 

0% 

1% 

2% 

      b     c                 h               a   f       g e       d             

Finance 

0% 

5% 

10% 

        b           f     h             g       c d                       a     e 

ICT 

0% 

1% 

2% 

3% 

h     g c                     f   d                                 a         b e 

Training 

These charts provide a detailed breakdown of support 
service functions as a cost per FTE and a percentage of total 
NRE. 
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for 
certain forces. 
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Income and expenditure - NRE by function - Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC)/Local policing bodies

What is the expenditure of the local policing body on its own office and non-policing commissioned services?

 

Population 1,037k

£m  £/head All MSG All  MSG

    Community Safety 1.27 1.22 1.36 1.04 -0.15 0.18

    Victims & witnesses, restorative justice & other 1.39 1.34 1.64 1.76 -0.31 -0.44

PCC/local policing body commissioned services 2.65 2.56 3.00 2.80 -0.46 -0.25

Cost of PCC/Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 0.17 0.16 0.15 0.16 0.01 0.00

Office of PCC/local policing body & other costs 0.89 0.86 1.03 0.97 -0.17 -0.12

PCC/Local policing body cost 3.71 3.58 4.18 3.93 -0.62 -0.37

* Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG PCCs/local policing bodies.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire

Averages Diff* £m

Data on the office of the PCC should be read with caution as staff 
numbers will vary according to the local context. Some staff within 
the OPCC may be providing a dual service to the force, e.g., finance, 
communications or analysis teams.   
 
Note that HMIC do not inspect expenditure incurred by local policing 
bodies/PCCs.  
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Broadly, 'Cost of PCC/Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime' includes salary and 
associated costs (including expenses and training) of the PCC, deputy PCC and 
any appointed deputies and special advisers. For the Metropolitan Police Service 
this relates to the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and similar staff and 
costs. PCC salaries are set by the Senior Salaries Review Body.  
  
'Office of PCC/local policing body & other costs' includes salary and associated 
costs of the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and any other staff employed 
to support the PCC/ Deputy Mayor as well as office-running costs. It also includes 
other local policing body costs such as external audit and council tax leaflets.  
  
PCC Commissioned services includes  
- services previously commissioned under the community safety fund grant;  
- victim and witness services including restorative justice (RJ); and 
- services directly commissioned by the PCC. 
 
The split between Community Safety and Victims/Witnesses/RJ/Other costs is 
based on percentage of gross PCC Commissioned Services spent on Community 
Safety. 
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Income and expenditure - Criminal justice costs

How much does the force spend per charge compared with others? What is the size of its workforce that deals with criminal justice?

Charges 10,186

Per 100

Force charges All MSG

Criminal justice FTE 118 1.2 1.0 1.1 5 *

Criminal justice cost £3.1m £31k £29k £35k -£0.4m **

* Net difference in the number of FTEs compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of MSG forces.


** Net cost of the difference in spend compared to the average per head of all/MSG forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 (costs/FTE) and Home Office Crime Statistics 2015/16 (charges)

Derbyshire

Averages
MSG Diff
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These charts show the NRE cost of criminal justice (as opposed 
to criminal justice arrangements) per 100 charges.  
 
FTE within the criminal justice function is then shown per 100 
charges. 
 
Note that charges data is from 2015/16 whereas FTE and cost 
figures are from 2016/17 estimates. 
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Workforce - Summary

How large is the force's workforce relative to it's population compared with others? How many officers, staff, PCSOs and special constables do they employ per 1,000 population?

Population 1,037k

All

Avg Diff* FTE Force Avg

Police officers 1,828 1.76 1.83 -67 56% 57%

PCSOs 165 0.16 0.20 -45 5% 6%

Sub-total 1,993 1.92 2.03 -112 62% 64%

Police staff 1,245 1.20 1.15 52 38% 36%

Total 3,238 3.12 3.18 -60 100% 100%

Special constables ** 223 0.22 0.24 -31

Contractors 28 0.03 0.05 -21

* Net difference in the number of officers compared to if the force had the average number of FTEs per head of all forces.


** Headcount

Source: POA estimates 2016/17, ADR 502 for special constables as at March 2016 Derbyshire
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Figures in the charts give the total number (including those within national policing) of FTEs  
(or head count for special constables) per 1,000 population. 
 
All data is from POA except for contractors - which comes from ADR and is 2015/16 FTE. 
Special constables data, taken from POA, is average head count across the year.  
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect staff/non-staff costs for certain forces. 
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Workforce - Officers/PCSOs by rank

How are officers in the force split amongst the ranks compared with other forces? What is the supervisory ratio of sergeants to constables (and PCSOs) compared with others?

Officers and PCSOs FTE % All Avg Supervision ratio

NPCC ranks 5 0.3% 0.2%

Chief superintendents 6 0.3% 0.3%

Superintendents 10 0.5% 0.7%

Chief inspectors 22 1.1% 1.3%

Inspectors 83 4.3% 4.4%

Sergeants 255 13.3% 14.2%

Constables 1,385 72.3% 69.4%

PCSOs 149 7.8% 9.5%

Force total 1,916 100.0% 100.0%

Supervision ratio Force All Avg msg

Constables per sergeant 5.4           4.9            

Constables and PCSOs per sergeant 6.0           5.6            

Source: ADR 502 March 2016

Derbyshire Derbyshire
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Inspectors (inc. chief inspectors) Charts show the proportion of the total officer/PCSO workforce at each 
rank. The chart for superintendents includes chief superintendents, and the 
chart for inspectors includes chief inspectors. National Police Chiefs 
Council (NPCC) are officers above the rank of chief superintendents. 
 
Two further charts show numbers of constables (and PCSOs) per sergeant 
giving an indication of the average supervision requirement for each 
sergeant.  
 
Note that this is ADR data for all officers and so totals will not match the 
POA data given elsewhere. 
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Workforce - Officers/staff by back office function

Police Police Diff* Police Police Diff*Police 

officers Staff FTE Off

Police 

officers Staff FTE Off Force All avg

Criminal justice 0 150 100% 89% -16 0 118 100% 89% -13 0.2 0.2

Local call centres / front desk 0 40 100% 92% -3 0 21 100% 98% 0 0.0 5.9

Intelligence analysis 70 38 35% 62% 28 40 47 54% 68% 12 18.8 6.6

Intelligence gathering 29 5 14% 26% 4 26 39 60% 32% -19 46.1 5.3

Scenes of crime officers 0 40 100% 95% -2 0 29 100% 99% 0 0.0 3.8

Central communications unit 22 110 83% 83% -1 11 204 95% 82% -28 11.5 -0.7

Custody 31 51 62% 44% -15 30 49 62% 44% -14 -0.4 0.2

Training 27 19 41% 46% 2 24 17 41% 47% 2 0.1 1.6

Human resources 3 51 94% 98% 2 0 62 100% 99% -1 5.8 1.4

Administration support 9 69 88% 97% 7 0 59 100% 96% -2 11.6 -0.7

Total (of above functions) 191 572 75% 72% -2 131 645 83% 75% -61 8.1 2.8

* Net difference in the number of officers if the force had the average proportion of staff of all forces.

Source: POA estimates 2016/17 & 2012/13 Derbyshire

Percentage point change in % roles 

fulfilled by staff

In functions where officers and staff can fulfil similar roles, what proportion of these functions are made up of police staff compared with other forces? How has that changed?

2012/13 Estimates

% Staff All AvgAll Avg

2016/17 Estimates

% Staff

Data shows the proportion of workforce who are staff across the 
functions outlined below. 2012/13 data are used as a baseline for 
the presentation of trends (so the change is over three years).  
 
The categories below have been chosen since they highlight 
areas where change may be occurring. 
 
Care should be taken when examining functions with a small 
workforce. Exclamation marks are used to indicate categories 
which have fewer than 20 FTE officers and staff in total. 
 
Note that collaboration/outsourcing will affect staff numbers for 
certain functions in some forces. 
 
 

HMIC split police workforce roles into three categories using the ADR601 functions: 
operational front line (including visible and non-visible), frontline support* and 
business support.  
 
ADR601 categories are mapped to the POA data for use here. For consistency to 
elsewhere in the profile, counter terrorism/special branch (a national policing 
function)  has been removed from the front line.  Due to this, and the fact that 
ADR601 data deals with officers in post as of 31 March whereas POA data is of 
budgeted posts for the whole financial year, proportions will not necessarily match to 
other published figures. Annex 4 shows a list of POA functions and their 
classification. 
 
Note that PCSOs are not included here as they, almost exclusively, work in visible 
frontline roles. 
 
* In PEELPolice efficiency 2015, HMIC define this role as operational support. Since 
this is the name of a POA category, frontline support is used here to avoid confusion.  
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Workforce - Workforce numbers by function

What are the numbers of police officers, staff and PCSOs across various functions? How has this changed since last year?

Population 1,037k

Workforce FTE Workforce FTE  Diff from % change from

2016/17 2015/16 last year, FTE last year

Neighbourhood policing 315 321 -6 -2%

Incident (response) management 720 699 21 3%

Local investigation / prisoner support* 241 249 -8 -3%

Other local policing 77 79 -2 -3%

Local policing 1,353 1,348 5 0%

Investigation - public protection 158 164 -6 -4%

Investigations exc local investigations 159 162 -3 -2%

Dealing with the public 240 245 -5 -2%

Operational support 110 116 -6 -5%

Intelligence 155 166 -12 -7%

Investigative support 143 146 -2 -2%

Road policing 96 96 0 0%

Custody 79 79 0 0%

Other criminal justice arrangements 166 169 -2 -1%

Criminal justice arrangements 245 248 -2 -1%

Information communication technology 54 55 -1 -1%

Human Resources 62 63 -1 -1%

Finance 19 20 0 0%

Other support functions 234 243 -9 -4%

Support functions 370 381 -11 -3%

Police and Crime Commissioner** 17 17 0 -1%

Total exc national policing and central costs 3,045 3,087 -42 -1%

Central costs 0 0 0

National policing 193 197 -4 -2%

Total 3,238 3,284 -46 -1%

* Note that workforce under the heading of 'local investigation' are included within 'local policing' not 'investigation'.

** Previously called Police Authority/Crime Commissioner in 2012/13 POA.

Derbyshire Source: POA estimates 2016/17, 2015/16 Derbyshire
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Workforce - Leavers

What proportion of the workforce left the force last year and how does that compare with other forces? 

Police officers 1,863

Leaving force 122 6.5% 6.4% 6.5

Transfers 6 0.3% 0.5% 0.3

Officers exc transfers 116 6.2% 5.9% 6.1

PCSOs 163 16 9.6% 14.2% 0.5

Police staff 1,213 110 9.1% 11.6% 3.8

Force total 3,240 241 7.4% 8.5% 10.5

* as at 31 March 2015

** Salary calculated using leaver FTE multiplied by average officer/staff/PCSO cost excluding overtime (POA data).

Source (leavers): ADR531 (31 March 2015 & 31 March 2016). Source (strength): ADR502 (as at 31 March 2015). Source (salary): POA estimates 2016/17

Derbyshire

Salary** £m% w'forceStrength* Leavers All Avg
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These charts show the number and percentage of the workforce (FTEs) 
that left the force between 31 March 2015 and 2016 (using 31 March 2015 
totals figures to calculate percentage of workforce).  
 
Officers are broken down into those who transferred or left the service.  
We have costed the salary impact of the workforce leaving the service to 
give context.  
 
Note that PCSOs leaving forces may return as police officers.  
 
Note that ADR data is used and workforce totals will not match the POA 
data given elsewhere. 
 
Note that data for some forces may not match published data sources due 
to data resubmissions. 
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Workforce - Joiners

What proportion of the workforce joined the force last year and how does that compare with others? 

Police officers 1,863

Officers exc transfers 32 1.7% 3.2% 1.7

Transfers 0 0.0% 0.6% 0.0

Joining force 32 1.7% 3.8% 1.7

PCSOs 163 9 5.5% 6.7% 0.3

Police staff 1,213 95 7.8% 10.2% 3.3

Overall 3,240 136 4.2% 6.2% 5.3

* as at 31 March 2015

** Salary calculated using leaver FTE multiplied by average officer/staff/PCSO cost excluding overtime (POA data).

Derbyshire Source (joiners): ADR521 (31 March 2015 & 31 March 2016).  Source (strength): ADR502 (as at 31 March 2015 ). Derbyshire

% w'force All Avg Salary** £mStrength* Joiners
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These charts show the number and percentage of the 
workforce (FTEs) that joined the force between 31 March 
2015 and 2016 using 31 March 2015 as the baseline.  
 
Note that ADR data is used and  totals will not match the 
POA data given elsewhere. 
 
Note that data for some forces may not match published 
data sources due to data resubmissions. 
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Workforce - Sickness and recuperative/restricted duty
What proportion of the force's workforce are absent and what proportion of officers are on restricted/recuperative duty? How do these rates compare with other forces?

All

Avg

 Officers 1,766

Long-term sickness 45 2.6% 2.1%

Short/medium sickness 28 1.6% 2.0%

PCSOs 149

Long-term sickness 1 0.7% 1.8%

Short/medium sickness 0 n/a 2.3%

Staff 1,183

Long-term sickness 14 1.2% 1.8%

Short/medium sickness 25 2.1% 2.0%

Long-term sickness during 2015/16 Q4  

All

Avg

 Officers 1,766

Restricted duty 104 5.9% 4.1%

Recuperative duty 45 2.5% 3.4%

* as at 31 March 2015

Note that ADR 554 figures (restricted and recuperative duty) are headcount not FTE.

Derbyshire Source: ADR 502 (strength and short/medium term sickness); 551 (long term); and 554 (recuperative/restricted duty) - as at 31 March 2016 Derbyshire
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These charts show sickness broken down into short and medium term 
(28 days and less) and long term (more than 28 days).  
  
Officers on restricted duties (i.e. officers who, because of a disability or 
other factors, are unable to undertake the full range of operational duties) 
and recuperative duties (officers returning to work in a phased way after 
injury or illness) are  included separately.  
 
Note that gaps towards the left of some charts indicate that data is not 
available or has not been included; zero absence levels have been 
excluded as it is likely to be due to data inaccuracies. 
 
Note that ADR data is used and workforce totals will not match the POA 
data given elsewhere. 
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Workforce - Officers' length of service
What is the age profile of officers in the force compared with others? How many officers are projected to retire over the next few years and what are the estimated savings from them doing so?

All officers

Total

March 2016 Headcount 186 303 475 291 267 287 1,809

Officers with 25 years' service or more - Projected retirement

Total

March 2016 Headcount 21 49 63 72 62 20 287

Salary cost** £1.1m £2.6m £3.3m £3.8m £3.3m £1.1m £15.2m

* Please note that typically officers cannot retire until they have completed 30 years service.

** Headcount multiplied by average salary cost per FTE excluding overtime.

Derbyshire Source (officer head count): ADR582 (31 March 2016 ); Source (salary): POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire
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The projected number of retirees is shown for officers with 25-30 years' service.* The estimated saving of them retiring is also  
provided, calculated from the average cost of a police officer. This does not take into account replacements. Data is given a s 
headcount. 
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Demand - Crime trends
How is the number of crimes and charges per officer changing over time in the force and how does this compare with others?

 

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16

Police officers 2,074 2,021 1,819 1,827 1,788 1,863 1,766

Police staff 1,359 1,245 1,082 1,022 1,014 1,213 1,183

All crime excl fraud 66,960 64,931 60,540 50,831 52,538 51,701 52,903

Charges* 9,799 10,698 10,530 9,024 10,073 10,762 10,186

Crimes/officer 32.3 32.1 33.3 27.8 29.4 27.7 30.0

All average 31.6 30.9 31.0 28.5 29.0 30.2 33.9

Charges*/officer 4.7 5.3 5.8 4.9 5.6 5.8 5.8

All average 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.0 5.3 5.3 5.1

*Total charges recorded during the period. Note the charges in section two refer to the number of outcomes for only those offences which were recorded during the period.

Source: ADR 502 March 2016;  Home Office (charges) / ONS Crime statistics 2015/16. Derbyshire
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Total crime (excluding fraud) is included but not broken down into the different crime -types to ensure there is sufficient data to show a robust series. 
 
Note that PCSOs are not included and officer/staff numbers are given in FTEs. This data is from ADR (end -of-year actuals as at 31 March) and so will not match the POA data (estimates) given 
elsewhere. 
Note that recorded crime and charges data on this page is from a live (refreshed) database and therefore will not match the d ata given elsewhere taken from the March publication snapshot.  
 
The series have been plotted as indices to enable comparison of the change over time in each series.  
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Demand - Recorded crimes per visible officers

How does the number of crimes per visible police officer in the force compare with others?

no

Visible police officers 1,037

Recorded crime All MSG

Victim-based 47,842 46.2 52.7 56.5 -10.3

Other crimes against society 5,014 4.8 6.2 6.4 -1.6

Crimes (exc fraud) 52,856 51.0 58.9 62.9 -11.9

* Net difference in the number of crimes per visible officer compared to if force had the MSG average number of crimes.

Derbyshire Sources: POA estimates 2016/17 ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16. Derbyshire
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While police officers are not just dealing with crime, the numbers of crimes per 
visible police officer  gives some indication of how the measurable crime workload 
for this force's visible officers compares with other forces. 
 
Note that PCSOs are not included. Visible roles are defined in Annex 4. 
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Demand - Crime outcomes per visible officer

  

Visible police officers 1,037

Crimes (exc fraud) 52,856

Suspect identified 25,479 24.6 31.3 -6.7

Action taken 15,995 15.4 13.7 1.8

Charged/Summonsed 9,743 9.4 8.7 0.7

No action 9,484 9.2 17.7 -8.5

Not charged 6,252 6.0 5.0 1.0

* Net difference in the number of outcome per visible officer compared to if force had the MSG average.

Sources: Detections: Home Office Outcome Statistics 2015/16, Visible officers: POA estimates 2016/17 Crime data: ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16. Derbyshire

How does the force respond to crimes compared with others? 

What are the number of cases with suspect identified, action taken and charges per visible police officer?

Force
Per vis. 

officer MSG Avg

MSG 

Diff*

Please refer to 'Offences and outcomes introduction' section for 
the definition of 'suspect identified' and 'action taken'.  
 
This page includes both victim-based crime and other crimes 
against society. 
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Demand - 999 calls

What is the level of demands on the force from 999 calls compared with others? How much does dealing with these calls cost compared with others and what 

is the level of workforce required to deal with them?  Central communications unit only Central communications unit and front desk

Population 1,037k

999 Calls received 118,578 LIN = Lincolnshire CLE = Cleveland

FTE workforce 215 FTE workforce 235

Gross cost £8.0m Gross cost £8.6m

MSG All

FTE per 1,000 pop 0.21 0.23 0.24 FTE per 1,000 pop 0.23 0.26 0.27 -31 -46

Calls per FTE 553 547 666 Calls per FTE 504 500 606 -2 40

Calls per 1000 pop 114 122 122 Calls per 1,000 pop 114 122 122 -7,974 -7,878

Cost per call £68 £70 £83 Cost per call £73 £79 £94

Sources: Calls: ADR 441 2015/16, Cost and workforce: POA estimates 2016/17 Derbyshire

* Net difference in number of FTEs/999 calls compared to if force matched average of MSG forces

Diff*
All AvgForce MSG Avg MSG AvgForce All Avg
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Cost per 999 call Costs and workforce levels are calculated across central 
communications units (CCU) and also within CCU and front desk 
combined to account for differences in force structure.  
 
Note that 
- for consistency with elsewhere in this section, the horizontal 
lines in the bar charts represent the average of all forces, not the 
MSG average.   
 - staff in CCU and front desk perform a range of functions and 
may spend differing amounts of their time dealing with 
emergency calls.  
- Collaboration/outsourcing will affect costs for certain forces.  
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Demand - Emergency incidents

What is the level of emergency calls in the force compared with others? How have these levels changed?

Population 1,037k

Incidents 

per 1,000 pop All MSG All MSG Force All MSG

Crime incidents 12,631 12 9 10 3,038 2,257 2% 31% 6%

ASB incidents 9,948 10 4 5 5,502 4,484 -4% 82% -1%

Other incidents 78,733 76 32 34 45,350 43,046 0% -1% 1%

Total emergency incidents 101,312 98 46 50 53,891 49,787 0% 0% 1%

* Net difference in the number of incidents compared to if the force had the average number per head of all/MSG forces.

Derbyshire Source: ADR 342 2015/16 Derbyshire

Force
Change in emergency incidentsAverages      Differences*
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An emergency response occurs when the police call handler assesses 
that there is a degree of importance or urgency associated with the 
incident and an emergency response is required.  
 
All police forces record incidents in accordance with the provisions of 
the National Standard for Incident Recording (NSIR). These figures are 
not subject to the same level of quality assurance as recorded crime 
data. 
 
Incident counts should be interpreted only as incidents recorded by the 
police, and may under estimate the true level of incidents. 
 
Incidents are separated into anti-social behaviour (ASB) incidents, 
crimes (notifiable, classified command and control) incidents and other 
command and control incidents. 
 
The charts on the right side  of the page show the percentage change 
in each type of incident over the past 12 months. 
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Demand - Priority incidents

What is the level of priority calls in the force compared with others? How have these levels changed?

Population 1,037k

` Incidents 

per 1,000 pop All MSG All MSG Force All MSG

Crime incidents 12,853 12 13 13 -641 -796 -17% -3% -6%

ASB incidents 20,267 20 12 11 8,334 8,577 -16% -14% -21%

Other incidents 56,846 55 44 40 11,249 14,978 -19% -8% -13% <<

Total priority incidents 89,966 87 69 65 18,942 22,758 -18% -9% -13%

* Net difference in the number of incidents compared to if the force had the average number per head of all/MSG forces.

Derbyshire Source: ADR 342 2015/16 Derbyshire

Change in priority incidentsAverages Differences*
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A priority response occurs when the police call handler assesses that 
there is a degree of importance or urgency associated with the incident 
but an emergency response is not required.  

 
All police forces record incidents in accordance with the provisions of 
the National Standard for Incident Recording (NSIR). These figures are 
not subject to the same level of quality assurance as recorded crime 
data. 
 
Incident counts should be interpreted only as incidents recorded by the 
police, and may under estimate the true level of incidents. 
 
Incidents are separated into anti-social behaviour (ASB) incidents, 
crimes (notifiable, classified command and control) incidents and other 
command and control incidents. 
 
The charts on the right side  of the page show the percentage change 
in each type of incident over the past 12 months. 
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Demand - All incidents

How has the categorisiation of incidents changed over time and how does the most recent year compare compare to the MSG?

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2015/16 MSG Diff %

Emergency 93 97 98 98 50 97%

Priority 104 110 106 87 65 34%

Scheduled 19 17 15 19 34 -45%

Resolved (w/o deployment) 49 51 46 53 83 -36%

Total 265 274 264 256 231 11%

Derbyshire Source: ADR 342 2012/13 to 2015/16 Derbyshire
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All police forces record incidents in accordance with the provisions of the National Standard for Incident Recording 
(NSIR). These figures are not subject to the same level of quality assurance as recorded crime data.  
 
Incident counts should be interpreted only as incidents recorded by the police, and may under estimate the true level of 
incidents. 
 
Large changes between years may be due to the force changing their internal recording categories  
 
Scheduled are appointment where a contact does not require an immediate or priority response but still requires police 
attendance, it will result in a scheduled response.  
 
Resolution without deployment can occur where the needs of the caller can be adequately met through provision of 
advice, information, helpdesk or telephone investigation function or signposting to another lead agency/service.  
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What checks have been applied to the data? Frequently asked questions How has collaboration been taken into account? Section two – offences and outcomes  
 
This section focuses on criminal offences recorded by each force and resulting 
outcomes from those offences over the 12 month period to March 2016.  
These pages use the ONS published data on police recorded crime alongside 
Home Office data on outcome types. Definitions of offences in each crime 
category can be found in Annex 1. Data covering all outcome types (1-21) in 
the new outcome framework are available from 2014/15. This publication uses 
the outcomes definitions on page 58 below to analyse outcomes. Definitions of 
outcome type (1-18) in each group can be found in Annex 2.   
     
The following pages present the volumes and changes in recorded crime for 
top-level crime categories as well as the change since 2014/15.  They also 
present the proportion of recorded crimes where a suspect was identified and 
where action was taken based the new outcome framework. The following 
categories from the outcome framework were used to identify if a suspect was 
identified and or action taken (please see page 58).  
 

- Suspect Identified – is defined as an outcome where an offender is 
identified enabling actions such as a charge, formal or informal sanction or 
an offence to be taken into consideration by the court. Also included are 
outcomes where a suspect is identified but evidential difficulties prevent 
prosecution or prosecution is not in the public interest. 
 

- Action Taken - Defined as an outcome where an offender receives a 
charge or summons, an out-of-court formal outcome, an out-of-court 
informal outcome or who asks the offence to be taken into consideration.  

 
Further analysis on pages 80 to 85 provides the volume of key outcomes for 
more detailed crime categories and presents the difference from the expected 
volume of that outcome based on the England and Wales average. Users may 
want to question why there are differences from the expected volumes, why a 
force might have higher than expected outcomes for some crimes, or lower 
than expected outcomes in others. 

Also to Note 
 
- Outcome 20 "action undertaken by another body/agency" was introduced 

from April 2015 and outcome 21 "further investigation to support formal 
action not in the public interest" was introduced from January 2016 (on a 
voluntary basis). Together, these outcomes account for 0.5% of total 
offences and have been offences with these outcomes have been excluded 
from the pages 60-85 of the profiles. For this reason  
 

- some figures may appear different to those published by the Home Office 
and HMIC's PEEL reports. 

 

- Pages 60-85 report on the outcomes for offences recorded during the 
period to 31 March 2016 and will differ from page 49 data on charges, 
which presents all charges recorded during the period, even if the offence 
to which it relates was not recorded in the period.   

 

- On pages 80-85 England and Wales percent of outcomes is not provided 
for broad offence categories (violence against person, sexual offences etc) 
as the profile of component offence subcategories will differ by forces and 
comparison would be unreliable.  

 

- Changes over time for crimes are measured against a baseline of 2014/15. 
 

- Crimes against children are included in overall crime data. 
 

- Fraud is excluded from all crime to make comparisons between forces 
more meaningful. Fraud offences are now recorded by the National Fraud 
Intelligence Bureau. 
 

- Categories with fewer than 50 cases are not included in analysis such as 
crime rate or trend as small volumes will not provide robust estimates.  

 

- For recorded crime and outcomes, MSG (simple, unweighted) averages are 
used. With the exception of pages 80 to 85, horizontal lines in the plots 
show the MSG. 
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Section two - Offences and outcomes

Homicide

Violence against the person Violence with injury

Violence without injury

Rape

Sexual offences

Other sexual offences

Robbery

Victim-based crime

Burglary

Vehicle offences

Theft from the person

Theft offences

Bicycle theft

Shoplifting

Crimes Other theft offences

Criminal damage

Criminal damage and arson offences

Arson

Trafficking of drugs

Possession of drugs

Other crimes against society Possession of weapons offences

Public order offences

Miscellaneous crimes

Fraud

Note: Definitions of offences in each category can be found in Annex 1.

The offences described in this section are presented as a crime tree as shown below.  The tree distinguishes between victim based crimes and other crimes against society where there is 

no victim but a criminal offence has been committed. Fraud is shown separately with a dotted line because a practical and reliable method for collecting force-level data has not been 

developed. Nevertheless, this profile provides the latest ONS information. 

Introduction

The ONS crime tree
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Rape

Crime against children Sexual offences / abuse

Cruelty / other

Note: Definitions of offences in each category can be found in Annex 1.

Outcome terminology

Charged/Summonsed

Out-of-court (formal)

Action taken

Out-of-court (informal)

Suspect identified

Taken into consideration

All Outcome Evidential difficulties (suspect identified; victim supports action)

No action taken Evidential difficulties (suspect identified; victim does not support action)

Prosecution prevented or not in the public interest

Investigation complete - no suspect identified (including evidential difficulties - suspect not identified; victim does not support action)

Not yet assigned an outcome

Note

Definitions of outcome types in each category can be found in Annex 2.

The Home Office introduced a new way of classifying the results of police investigations in April 2013. New classifications called ‘outcomes’ are associated with all recorded crimes, 

providing a more detailed picture of how the police deal with investigations. The following outcome groups are used in this section:

Crime committed against children

Outcome 20 "action undertaken by another body/agency" was introduced from April 2015 and outcome 21 "further investigation to support formal action not in the public interest" was introduced from Janurary 2016 (on a 

volantary basis). Together, these outcomes account for 0.5% of total offences and have been exluded from the profiles. For this reasons some figures may appear different to those published by the Home Office and 

HMIC's PEEL reports. 

This year, the profiles include a section on crime committed against children and the resulting outcomes. This includes crimes where the victims are specifically stated as children or 

victims are highly likely to be children (see crime tree below) There are other crime categories that may include child victims, but it is not possible to distinguish between adult and child 

victims (e.g. theft). These categories are not included in this section. Although not a perfect measure, these crimes give a good indication of the scale of crimes committed specifically 

against children within the force.
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Offences and outcomes - Crimes - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for crimes (excluding fraud) in the force and how does this compare with others?

How does the Recorded offence rate compare with last year and how does the change compare with others?

This page has been intentionally left blank.
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Offences and outcomes - Crimes - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for crimes (excluding fraud) in the force and how does this compare with others?

How does the Recorded offence rate compare with last year and how does the change compare with others?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

MSG Victim-based crime 47,842 46.2 53.4 -7,496 -14%

Avg Other crimes against society 5,014 4.8 6.1 -1,290 -20%

3,249              3.13             3.51                   -394 Crimes (excl fraud) 52,856 51.0 59.5 -8,786 -14%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Victim-based crime 46,731 2% 7%

Other crimes against society 4,970 1% 14%

Crimes (excl fraud) 51,701 2% 8%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 ***Uses the same population figure as the rest of the profile and may not match ONS figures Derbyshire

Offences
per 

1,000 pop
Difference*

Difference
per 

1,000 pop***

Offences
% change**

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average number 

of offences per 1,000 population. A negative difference means the force has a lower Recorded 

offence rate than the MSG average.
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Fraud  

Fraud data are experimental statistics published as part of ONS crime statistics and are 
in the testing phase and not yet fully developed.  
 
The figures presented here for police force areas are based on victims' address 
information. This is in contrast with traditional crimes which are based on where the 
offence took place (which in the case of fraud is often hard to define).  
 
Offences where the victim's police force area is unknown relate to cases where it has 
not be possible to attribute offences to a police force area, for example, due to missing 
address information, or where the offence occurred outside the UK. There were 24,593 
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Offences and outcomes - Crimes (excluding fraud) - Outcome

What are the outcomes for crimes (excluding fraud) and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg* Avg*

Victim-based crime 47,842 21,131 44% 46% 12,455 26% 19%

Other crimes against society 5,014 4,348 87% 84% 3,540 71% 55%

Crimes (excl fraud) 52,856 25,479 48% 50% 15,995 30% 22%

Derbyshire Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome 
showing that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  
'Offences and outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. 
 
Crimes against society include those with no identifiable victim, such as drug offences. The 
proportion of cases which have an identified suspect has not been reported as there is little 
variation between forces. 
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Offences and outcomes - Victim-based crime - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for victim-based crime in the force and how does this compare with others?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Violence against the person 12,433 12.0 16.4 -4,573 -27%

Sexual offences 1,585 1.5 1.7 -130 -8%

Robbery 551 0.5 0.5 7 1%

Theft offences 24,764 23.9 25.9 -2,117 -8%

Criminal damage and arson 8,509 8.2 8.9 -683 -7%

Victim-based crime 47,842 46.2 53.4 -7,496 -14%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Violence against the person 10,035 24% 27%

Sexual offences 1,253 26% 15%

Robbery 515 7% 8%

Theft offences 26,748 -7% -1%

Criminal damage and arson 8,180 4% 4%

Victim-based crime 46,731 2% 7%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average 

number of offences per 1,000 population. A negative difference means the force has a lower 

Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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Offences and outcomes - Victim-based crime - Outcome

What are the outcomes for victim-based crime and how does this compare with others? Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

`

Percentage with Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg* Avg*

Violence against the person 12,433 10,721 86% 84% 5,697 46% 27%

Sexual offences 1,585 990 62% 67% 247 16% 13%

Robbery 551 282 51% 49% 143 26% 19%

Theft offences 24,764 6,432 26% 27% 4,565 18% 16%

Criminal damage and arson 8,509 2,706 32% 30% 1,803 21% 15%

Victim-based crime 47,842 21,131 44% 46% 12,455 26% 19%

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome showing 
that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  'Offences and 
outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. 
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Offences and outcomes - Violence against the person - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for violence against the person in the force and how does this compare with others? How does the rate compare with last year?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Homicide 15 n/a n/a n/a n/a

Violence with injury 7,242 7.0 7.2 -235 -3%

Violence without injury 5,176 5.0 9.2 -4,343 -46%

Violence against the person 12,433 12.0 16.4 -4,573 -27%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Homicide 4 275% 59%

Violence with injury 6,087 19% 15%

Violence without injury 3,944 31% 39%

Violence against the person 10,035 24% 27%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Derbyshire Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

Offences
% change**

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average number of offences per 1,000 population. A 

negative difference means the force has a lower Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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As homicide numbers are so small, care should be taken when making 
comparisons between forces. For this reason, a plot has not been included 
for homicide. 
 
Categories with fewer than 50 cases will not be included in analysis as the 
results may not be robust  and will be shown as "n/a".  
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Offences and outcomes - Violence against the person - Outcome

What are the outcomes for violence against the person and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg* Avg*

Homicide 15 14 n/a n/a 11 n/a n/a

Violence with injury 7,242 6,116 84% 83% 3,244 45% 31%

Violence without injury 5,176 4,591 89% 85% 2,442 47% 24%

Violence against the person 12,433 10,721 86% 84% 5,697 46% 27%

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome 
showing that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  
'Offences and outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. 
 
As homicide numbers are so small, care should be taken when making comparisons 
between forces. For this reason, a plot has not been included for homicide. 
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Offences and outcomes - Sexual offences - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for sexual offences in the force and how does this compare with others? How does the rate for sexual offences compare to last year 

and how does it compare with others?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Rape 517 0.5               0.54           -39 -7%

Other sexual offences 1,068 1.0               1.12           -91 -8%

Sexual offences 1,585 1.5               1.65           -130 -8%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Rape 416 24% 14%

Other sexual offences 837 28% 17%

Sexual offences 1,253 26% 15%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

Offences

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average number of offences per 1,000 population. A negative 

difference means the force has a lower Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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Note that due to the complex nature of these crimes, particularly rape, care 
should be taken when comparing crime rates across forces as there are 
many factors which can affect the level of recorded crime. For example, 
victims being encouraged to report crimes or cultural differences.  
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Offences and outcomes - Sexual offences - Outcome

What are the outcomes for sexual offences and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg* Avg*

Rape 517 328 63% 90% 45 9% 10%

Other sexual offences 1,068 662 62% 64% 202 19% 15%

Sexual offences 1,585 990 62% 67% 247 16% 13%

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a 
tracked outcome showing that a suspect has been identified and that an action 
has been taken. Please see  'Offences and outcomes introduction' (from page 
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Offences and outcomes - Robbery - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for robbery in the force and how does this compare with others? How does the rate for robbery compare with last year and how does this compare 

with others?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg `

Robbery 551 0.5 0.5 7 1%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Robbery 515 7% 8%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

Offences

Offences

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average number of offences 

per 1,000 population. A negative difference means the force has a lower Recorded offence rate than the MSG 

average.
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Categories with fewer than 50 cases will not be included in 
analysis as the results may not be robust  and will be suppressed. 
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Offences and outcomes - Robbery - Outcome

What are the outcomes for robbery and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

MSG MSG

Avg* Avg*

Robbery 551 282 51% 49% 143 26% 19%

`

Robbery of 

 -  business property 551 282 51% 50% 143 26% 23%

 -  personal property 0 0 n/a #DIV/0! 0 n/a #DIV/0!

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

Suspect Identified Action Taken
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome showing 
that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  'Offences and 
outcomes introduction' (from page 56) for definitions. 
 
Categories with fewer than 50 cases will not be included in analysis as the results may not be robust  
and will be suppressed. 
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Offences and outcomes - Theft offences - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for theft offences in the force and how Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

does this compare with others? How does the rate compare with last year?

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Burglary 6,138 5.9 6.3 -352 -5%

Vehicle offences 5,785 5.6 5.3 274 5%

Bicycle theft 870 0.8 1.1 -308 -26%

Theft from the person 540 0.5 0.7 -203 -27%

Shoplifting 5,603 5.4 5.8 -367 -6%

All other theft offences 5,828 5.6 6.7 -1,161 -17%

Theft offences 24,764 23.9 25.9 -2,117 -8%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Burglary 6,874 -11% -3%

Vehicle offences 5,706 1% 5%

Bicycle theft 1,007 -14% -9%

Theft from the person 566 -5% 8%

Shoplifting 6,176 -9% 0%

All other theft offences 6,419 -9% -5%

Theft offences 26,748 -7% -1%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15

Derbyshire

Offences
% change **

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average 

number of offences per 1,000 population. A negative difference means the force has a 

lower Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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Offences and outcomes - Theft offences - Outcome

What are the outcomes for theft offences and how does this compare with others? Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

`

MSG MSG

Avg Avg

Burglary 6,138 934 15% 14% 415 7% 7%

Vehicle offences 5,785 640 11% 11% 277 5% 5%

Bicycle theft 870 114 13% 12% 54 6% 5%

Theft from the person 540 69 13% 15% 29 5% 4%

Shoplifting 5,603 3,284 59% 59% 3,040 54% 47%

All other theft offences 5,828 1,391 24% 27% 750 13% 8%

Theft offences 24,764 6,432 26% 27% 4,565 18% 16%

Derbyshire Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome showing 
that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  'Offences and 
outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. 
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Offences and outcomes - Criminal damage and arson - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for criminal damage and arson in the force and how does this compare with others? How does the rate compare with last year and how 

does this compare with others?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Criminal damage 8,189 7.9 8.5 -662 -7%

Arson 320 0.3 0.3 -21 -6%

Criminal damage and arson 8,509 8.2 8.9 -683 -7%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Criminal damage 7,868 4% 4%

Arson 312 3% 1%

Criminal damage and arson 8,180 4% 4%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

Offences
% change **

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average number of offences per 1,000 population. A negative difference 

means the force has a lower Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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Offences and outcomes - Criminal Damage and Arson - Outcome

What are the outcomes for criminal damage and arson and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg Avg

Criminal damage 8,189 2,610 32% 31% 1,752 21% 15%

Arson 320 96 30% 26% 51 16% 11%

Criminal damage and arson 8,509 2,706 32% 30% 1,803 21% 15%

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome 
showing that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  
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Offences and outcomes - Other crimes against society - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for other crimes against society in the force and how does this compare with others? How does the rates compare with last year?

Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population 1,037k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Trafficking of drugs 460 0.4 0.4 -3 -1%

Possession of drugs 1,853 1.8 1.5 248 15%

Public order offences 1,356 1.3 2.8 -1,507 -53%

Possession of weapons 431 0.4 0.4 29 7%

Misc crimes against society 914 0.9 0.9 -56 -6%

Other crimes against society 5,014 4.8 6.1 -1,290 -20%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Trafficking of drugs 505 -9% 13%

Possession of drugs 2,169 -15% -18%

Public order offences 1,218 11% 43%

Possession of weapons 353 22% 19%

Misc crimes against society 725 26% 17%

Other crimes against society 4,970 1% 14%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average 

number of offences per 1,000 population. A negative difference means the force has a lower 

Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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Outcomes - Other crimes against society

What are the outcomes for other crimes against society and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg Avg

Trafficking of drugs 460 354 77% 83% 316 69% 76%

Possession of drugs 1,853 1,728 93% 95% 1,624 88% 88%

Public order offences 1,356 1,152 85% 80% 843 62% 38%

Possession of weapons 431 399 93% 90% 328 76% 69%

Misc crimes against society 914 715 78% 75% 429 47% 37%

Other crimes against society 5,014 4,348 87% 84% 3,540 71% 55%

Derbyshire Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked outcome showing 
that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. Please see  'Offences and 
outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. 
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Offences and outcomes - Crime against children - Recorded offences

What is the Recorded offence rate for crime against children in the force and 

how does this compare with others and with last year? Recorded offence rate Percent change from 2014/15

Population - Child under 16 188k

MSG

2015/16 Avg

Rape 202 1.1 1.0 20 11%

Sexual offences / abuse 535 2.9 2.6 48 10%

Cruelty / other 97 0.5 0.6 -15 -13%

Crime against children 834 4.4 4.2 53 7%

2014/15 Force MSG Avg

Rape 167 21% 11%

Sexual offences / abuse 372 44% 17%

Cruelty / other 77 26% 16%

Crime against children 616 35% 14%

**Percentage change from 2014/15 to 2015/16

Source:  ONS Crime Statistics 2015/16, 2014/15 Derbyshire

Offences
per 

1,000 pop
Difference*

Offences
% change **

* Net difference in the number of offences compared to if the force had the MSG average number of offences per 1,000 population. A 

negative difference means the force has a lower Recorded offence rate than the MSG average.
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Categories with fewer than 50 cases will not be included in analysis as the results 
may not be robust  and will be shown as "n/a". 
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Offences and outcomes - Crime against children - Outcome

What are the outcomes for crime against children and how does this compare with others?

Percentage with Suspect Identified Percentage with Action Taken

Percentage with Suspect Identified

MSG MSG

Avg* Avg*

Rape 202 116 57% 66% 23 11% 12%

Sexual offences / abuse 535 326 61% 60% 100 19% 14%

Cruelty / other 97 71 73% 74% 39 40% 29%

Crime against children 834 513 62% 63% 162 19% 15%

* E&W average for 30 forces that submitted tracked outcome data.

Derbyshire Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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The charts show the proportion of crimes recorded in 2015/16 that have a tracked 
outcome showing that a suspect has been identified and that an action has been taken. 
Please see  'Offences and outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. 
 
Categories with fewer than 50 cases will not be included in analysis as the results may 
not be robust  and will be shown as "n/a". 
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Offences and outcomes - Outcome percentage - Victim-based crime

What proportion of offences result in each outcome for victim-based crime and how does this compare with the other forces?

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

Note: It is imperative to look at the allocation of outcomes in their totality to get the complete picture of how a force is handling 

their crime demand, including crimes which have not yet been assigned an outcome. Forces with high proportions of crimes 

categorised as ‘not yet assigned an outcome’ may appear as outliers in the branches of suspect identified and in no suspect 

identified. A full breakdown of outcomes is available from page 80.
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Please see  'Offences and outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions.  
The percentage  takes into account the volume difference between crime types. 
 
Note that 
- Out of court (formal) includes caution and penalty notices for disorder. 
- Out of court (informal) includes cannabis/khat warning and community resolution. 
- Suspect identified - no action includes evidential difficulties (victim supports action and victim does 
not support action) and prosecution prevented or not in the public interest. 
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Offences and outcomes - Outcome percentage - Other crimes against society

What proportion of offences result in each outcome for crimes against society and how does this compare with the other forces?

Derbyshire Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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Please see  'Offences and outcomes introduction' (from pages 56) for definitions. Thirty 
forces provided tracked outcome data.  
 
The percentage  takes into account the volume difference between crime types. 
 
Crimes against society include those with no identifiable victim, such as drug offences. 
The proportion of cases which have an identified suspect has not been reported as 
there is little variation between forces. 
 
Note that 
- Out of court (formal) includes caution and penalty notices for disorder. 
- Out of court (informal) includes cannabis/khat warning and community resolution. 
 
A full breakdown of outcomes is available from page 80. 

HMIC Page 79



Offences and outcomes - Charged/Summonsed

What proportion of offences result in charges and how does this compare with the other forces?

Offences Outcomes % % E&W Expected Difference

Homicide 15 11 73% 63% 10 1

Violence with Injury 7,242 1,949 27% 21% 1,539 410

Violence without Injury 5,176 1,495 29% 16% 805 690

Violence against the person 12,433 3,455 28% 19% 2,354 1,101

Rape 517 45 9% 9% 48 -3 

Other Sexual Offences 1,068 159 15% 13% 134 25

Sexual offences 1,585 204 13% 11% 181 23

Robbery 551 137 25% 18% 100 37

Burglary 6,138 361 6% 6% 376 -15 

Vehicle offences 5,785 235 4% 4% 252 -17 

Theft from the Person 540 19 4% 3% 15 4

Bicycle Theft 870 37 4% 3% 25 12

Shoplifting 5,603 2,035 36% 31% 1,764 271

Other Theft Offences 5,828 332 6% 4% 248 84

Theft offences 24,764 3,019 12% 11% 2,681 338

Criminal damage 8,189 873 11% 8% 627 246

Arson 320 42 13% 7% 23 19

Criminal damage & arson 8,509 915 11% 8% 650 265

Victim-based crime 47,842 7,730 16% 12% 5,966 1,764

Trafficking of drugs 460 285 62% 58% 269 16

Possession of drugs 1,853 509 27% 32% 594 -85 

Possession of weapons offences 431 257 60% 53% 226 31

Public Order Offences 1,356 623 46% 23% 316 307

Miscellaneous crimes 914 339 37% 32% 290 49

Other crimes against society 5,014 2,013 40% 34% 1,696 317

Total 52,856 9,743 18% 14% 7,656 2,087

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

These charts and tables show the charge rates for all crime types compared with the MSG. 
 
The actual percentage expected plot shows the force's actual charges divided by the number the force would 
expect if it were performing in line with all forces for each crime type. For example, if the number of offences is 
above/below 100%, more/fewer offences are resulting charges/summons for this force than the average.  
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Offences and outcomes - Out-of-court (formal)

What proportion of offences result in out-of-court (formal) outcomes and how does this compare with the other forces?

Offences Outcomes % % E&W Expected Difference

Homicide 15 0 0% 0% 0 0

Violence with Injury 7,242 445 6% 5% 375 70

Violence without Injury 5,176 335 6% 4% 205 130

Violence against the person 12,433 780 6% 5% 580 200

Rape 517 0 0% 0% 0 -0 

Other Sexual Offences 1,068 18 2% 2% 18 -0 

Sexual offences 1,585 18 1% 1% 19 -1 

Robbery 551 1 0% 0% 2 -1 

Burglary 6,138 15 0% 0% 19 -4 

Vehicle offences 5,785 16 0% 0% 17 -1 

Theft from the Person 540 3 1% 0% 2 1

Bicycle Theft 870 1 0% 0% 4 -3 

Shoplifting 5,603 363 6% 6% 347 16

Other Theft Offences 5,828 69 1% 1% 64 5

Theft offences 24,764 467 2% 2% 452 15

Criminal damage 8,189 205 3% 3% 211 -6 

Arson 320 2 1% 1% 3 -1 

Criminal damage & arson 8,509 207 2% 3% 215 -8 

Victim-based crime 47,842 1,473 3% 3% 1,267 206

Trafficking of drugs 460 29 6% 11% 53 -24 

Possession of drugs 1,853 332 18% 24% 442 -110 

Possession of weapons offences 431 49 11% 10% 43 6

Public Order Offences 1,356 154 11% 6% 83 71

Miscellaneous crimes 914 43 5% 4% 36 7

Other crimes against society 5,014 607 12% 13% 656 -49 

Total 52,856 2,080 4% 4% 1,923 157

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

These charts and tables show the rates of out-of-court (formal) outcomes for all crime types compared with the 
MSG. 
 
The actual percentage  expected plot shows the force's out-of-court (formal) outcomes divided by the number the 
force would expect if it were performing in line with all forces for each crime type. For example, if the number of 
offences is above/below 100%, more/fewer offences are resulting in out-of-court (formal) outcomes for this force 
than the average.  

0% 

50% 

100% 

150% 

200% 

                          e           h   a         d f     g c               b   

Actual % Expected 

0% 

2% 

4% 

6% 

8% 

                              h e     a       d             f   c g     b         

% Outcome 

HMIC Page 81



Offences and outcomes - Out-of-court (informal)

What proportion of offences result in out-of-court (informal) outcomes and how does this compare with the other forces?

Offences Outcomes % % E&W Expected Difference

Homicide 15 0 0% 0% 0 0

Violence with Injury 7,242 850 12% 5% 373 477

Violence without Injury 5,176 612 12% 5% 235 377

Violence against the person 12,433 1,462 12% 5% 608 854

Rape 517 0 0% 0% 0 -0 

Other Sexual Offences 1,068 25 2% 1% 11 14

Sexual offences 1,585 25 2% 1% 11 14

Robbery 551 3 1% 0% 2 1

Burglary 6,138 25 0% 0% 15 10

Vehicle offences 5,785 22 0% 0% 14 8

Theft from the Person 540 6 1% 1% 3 3

Bicycle Theft 870 16 2% 1% 8 8

Shoplifting 5,603 584 10% 10% 536 48

Other Theft Offences 5,828 346 6% 2% 123 223

Theft offences 24,764 999 4% 3% 699 300

Criminal damage 8,189 667 8% 4% 299 368

Arson 320 7 2% 2% 5 2

Criminal damage & arson 8,509 674 8% 4% 304 370

Victim-based crime 47,842 3,163 7% 3% 1,623 1,540

Trafficking of drugs 460 2 0% 1% 6 -4 

Possession of drugs 1,853 783 42% 33% 606 177

Possession of weapons offences 431 22 5% 4% 19 3

Public Order Offences 1,356 66 5% 5% 64 2

Miscellaneous crimes 914 45 5% 2% 22 23

Other crimes against society 5,014 918 18% 14% 716 202

Total 52,856 4,081 8% 4% 2,340 1,741

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

These charts and tables show the charge rates for all crime types compared with the MSG. 
 
The actual percentage expected plot shows the force's actual charges divided by the number the force would 
expect if it were performing in line with all forces for each crime type. For example, if the number of offences is 
above/below 100%, more/fewer offences are resulting charges/summons for this force than the average.  
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Offences and outcomes - Suspect identified - no action taken

What proportion of offences have not had any action taken and how does this compare with the other forces?

Offences Outcomes % % E&W Expected Difference

Homicide 15 3 20% 11% 2 1

Violence with Injury 7,242 2,872 40% 50% 3,627 -755 

Violence without Injury 5,176 2,149 42% 59% 3,041 -892 

Violence against the person 12,433 5,024 40% 54% 6,670 -1,646 

Rape 517 283 55% 56% 287 -4 

Other Sexual Offences 1,068 460 43% 48% 517 -57 

Sexual offences 1,585 743 47% 51% 804 -61 

Robbery 551 139 25% 25% 135 4

Burglary 6,138 519 8% 7% 443 76

Vehicle offences 5,785 363 6% 5% 316 47

Theft from the Person 540 40 7% 9% 49 -9 

Bicycle Theft 870 60 7% 6% 54 6

Shoplifting 5,603 244 4% 12% 654 -410 

Other Theft Offences 5,828 641 11% 17% 981 -340 

Theft offences 24,764 1,867 8% 10% 2,497 -630 

Criminal damage 8,189 858 10% 14% 1,167 -309 

Arson 320 45 14% 12% 40 5

Criminal damage & arson 8,509 903 11% 14% 1,207 -304 

Victim-based crime 47,842 8,676 18% 24% 11,313 -2,637 

Trafficking of drugs 460 38 8% 10% 44 -6 

Possession of drugs 1,853 104 6% 8% 139 -35 

Possession of weapons offences 431 71 16% 23% 99 -28 

Public Order Offences 1,356 309 23% 42% 575 -266 

Miscellaneous crimes 914 286 31% 36% 328 -42 

Other crimes against society 5,014 808 16% 24% 1,184 -376 

Total 52,856 9,484 18% 24% 12,490 -3,006 

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

These charts and tables show the rates of offences of which a suspect has been identified but no action 
has been taken for all crime types compared with the MSG. 
 
The actual percentage expected plot shows the force's offences of which no action has been taken 
divided by the number the force would expect if it were performing in line with all forces for each crime 
type. For example, if the number of offences is above/below 100%, more/fewer offences are resulting in 
no action being taken for this force than the average.  
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Offences and outcomes - Investigation complete – no suspect identified

What proportion of offences result in no suspect being identified and how does this compare with the other forces?


Offences Outcomes % % E&W Expected Difference

Homicide 15 0 0% 2% 0 -0 

Violence with Injury 7,242 733 10% 14% 1,034 -301 

Violence without Injury 5,176 334 6% 13% 661 -327 

Violence against the person 12,433 1,067 9% 14% 1,695 -628 

Rape 517 15 3% 7% 35 -20 

Other Sexual Offences 1,068 152 14% 19% 200 -48 

Sexual offences 1,585 167 11% 15% 236 -69 

Robbery 551 226 41% 50% 276 -50 

Burglary 6,138 4,999 81% 82% 5,029 -30 

Vehicle offences 5,785 5,006 87% 87% 5,033 -27 

Theft from the Person 540 458 85% 84% 456 2

Bicycle Theft 870 742 85% 88% 764 -22 

Shoplifting 5,603 2,119 38% 36% 2,039 80

Other Theft Offences 5,828 4,105 70% 72% 4,202 -97 

Theft offences 24,764 17,429 70% 71% 17,523 -94 

Criminal damage 8,189 5,377 66% 69% 5,685 -308 

Arson 320 207 65% 74% 237 -30 

Criminal damage & arson 8,509 5,584 66% 70% 5,923 -339 

Victim-based crime 47,842 24,473 51% 54% 25,652 -1,179 

Trafficking of drugs 460 7 2% 5% 24 -17 

Possession of drugs 1,853 5 0% 1% 17 -12 

Possession of weapons offences 431 5 1% 6% 25 -20 

Public Order Offences 1,356 115 8% 20% 265 -150 

Miscellaneous crimes 914 68 7% 15% 138 -70 

Other crimes against society 5,014 200 4% 9% 470 -270 

Total 52,856 24,673 47% 49% 26,139 -1,466 

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire
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These charts and tables show the rates of offences which have no suspect identified for all crime types compared 
with the MSG. 
 
The actual % expected plot shows the force's offences which no suspect identified divided by the number the force 
would expect if it were performing in line with all forces for each crime type. For example, if the number of offences 
is above/below 100%, more/fewer offences are resulting in non suspect being identified for this force than the 
average.  
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Offences and outcomes - Not yet assigned an outcome

What proportion of offences have not yet been assigned an outcome and how does this compare with the other forces?

Offences Outcomes % % E&W Expected Difference

Homicide 15 1 7% 24% 4 -3 

Violence with Injury 7,242 393 5% 4% 292 101

Violence without Injury 5,176 251 5% 4% 228 23

Violence against the person 12,433 645 5% 4% 524 121

Rape 517 174 34% 28% 146 28

Other Sexual Offences 1,068 254 24% 18% 187 67

Sexual offences 1,585 428 27% 21% 333 95

Robbery 551 43 8% 6% 36 7

Burglary 6,138 205 3% 4% 215 -10 

Vehicle offences 5,785 139 2% 2% 127 12

Theft from the Person 540 13 2% 3% 14 -1 

Bicycle Theft 870 14 2% 2% 14 0

Shoplifting 5,603 200 4% 3% 164 36

Other Theft Offences 5,828 332 6% 3% 200 132

Theft offences 24,764 903 4% 3% 735 168

Criminal damage 8,189 202 2% 2% 188 14

Arson 320 17 5% 4% 12 5

Criminal damage & arson 8,509 219 3% 2% 200 19

Victim-based crime 47,842 2,238 5% 4% 1,828 410

Trafficking of drugs 460 99 22% 14% 64 35

Possession of drugs 1,853 120 6% 3% 54 66

Possession of weapons offences 431 27 6% 5% 19 8

Public Order Offences 1,356 89 7% 4% 53 36

Miscellaneous crimes 914 131 14% 11% 98 33

Other crimes against society 5,014 466 9% 6% 289 177

Total 52,856 2,704 5% 4% 2,113 591

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016 Derbyshire

These charts and tables show the rates of offences which have not yet been assigned an outcomes for all crime 
types compared with the MSG. 
 
The actual percentage expected plot shows the force's offences which have not yet been assigned outcomes 
divided by the number the force would expect if it were performing in line with all forces for each crime type. For 
example, if the number of offences is above/below 100%, more/fewer offences are not yet being assigned 
outcomes for this force than the average.  
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Annex 1 - Crime Codes
Offences included in each category

1. Victim-based crime

1.1. Violence against the person

1.1.1. Homicide

1       Murder 4.10    Corporate manslaughter

4.1     Manslaughter 4.2     Infanticide

1.1.2. Violence with injury

2 Attempted murder 5E Endangering life

4.3 Intentional destruction of a viable unborn child 6 Endangering railway passengers (outcomes only)

4.4 Causing death by dangerous driving 7 Endangering life at sea (outcomes only)

4.6 Causing death by careless driving under influence of drink or drugs 8F Inflicting grievous bodily harm without intent (outcomes only)

4.7 Causing or allowing death of child or vulnerable person 8G Actually bodily harm and other injury(outcomes only)

4.8 Causing death by careless or inconsiderate driving 8H Racially or religiously aggravated inflicting grievous bodily harm 

without intent (outcomes only)

4.9 Causing death or serious injury by driving: unlicensed drivers etc. 8J Racially or religiously aggravated actual bodily harm and other injury 

(outcomes only)

5A Wounding or carrying out an act endangering life (outcomes only) 8K Poisoning or female genital mutilation (outcomes only)

5B Use of substance or object to endanger life (outcomes only) 8N Assault with injury

5C Possession of items to endanger life(outcomes only) 8P Racially or religiously aggravated assault with injury

5D Assault with intent to cause serious harm 37.1 Causing death by aggravated vehicle taking

1.1.3. Violence without injury

3A Conspiracy to murder 13 Child abduction

3B Threats to kill 14 Procuring illegal abortion

8L Harassment 36 Kidnapping

8M Racially or religiously aggravated harassment 104 Assault without injury on a constable

8Q Stalking 105A Assault without injury

11 Cruelty to and neglect of children (outcomes only) 105B Racially or religiously aggravated assault without injury

11A Cruelty to children/young persons 106 Modern slavery

12 Abandoning child under two years (outcomes only)

1.2. Sexual offences

1.2.1. Rape

19C Rape of a female aged 16 and over 19F Rape of a male aged 16 and over

19D Rape of a female child under 16 19G Rape of a male child under 16

19E Rape of a female child under 13 19H Rape of a male child under 13

(cont.)
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1.2.2. Other sexual offences

17A Sexual assault on a male aged 13 and over 70 Sexual activity etc with a person with a mental disorder

17B Sexual assault on a male child under 13 71 Abuse of children through sexual exploitation

20A Sexual assault on a female aged 13 and over 72 Trafficking for sexual exploitation

20B Sexual assault on a female child under 13 73 Abuse of position of trust of a sexual nature

21 Sexual activity involving a child under 13 88A Sexual grooming

22A Causing sexual activity without consent 88C Other miscellaneous sexual offences

22B Sexual activity involving child under 16 88D Unnatural sexual offences

23 Incest or familial sexual offences 88E Exposure and voyeurism

1.3. Robbery

1.3.1 Robbery of business property

34A     Robbery of business property

1.3.2 Robbery of personal property

34B     Robbery of personal property

1.4. Theft offences

1.4.1. Burglary

1.4.1.1. Domestic burglary

28A     Burglary in a dwelling 28D     Attempted distraction burglary in a dwelling

28B     Attempted burglary in a dwelling 29      Aggravated burglary in a dwelling

28C     Distraction burglary in a dwelling

1.4.1.2 Non-domestic burglary

30A     Burglary in a building other than a dwelling 31      Aggravated burglary in a building other than a dwelling

30B     Attempted burglary in a building other than a dwelling

1.4.2. Vehicle offences

126     Interfering with a motor vehicle 45      Theft from vehicle

37.2    Aggravated vehicle taking 48      Theft or unauthorised taking of motor vehicle

1.4.3. Theft from the person

39      Theft from the person

1.4.4. Bicycle theft

44      Theft or unauthorised taking of a pedal cycle

1.4.5. Shoplifting

46      Shoplifting

1.4.6. Other theft offences

35 Blackmail 43 Dishonest use of electricity

40 Theft in a dwelling other than from an automatic machine or meter 47 Theft from automatic machine or meter

41 Theft by an employee 49 Other theft

42 Theft of mail 49A Making off without payment

(cont.)
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1.5. Criminal damage and arson

1.5.1. Criminal damage

58A     Criminal damage to a dwelling 58F     Racially or religiously aggravated criminal damage to a building other 

than a dwelling (outcomes only)

58B     Criminal damage to a building other than a dwelling 58G     Racially or religiously aggravated criminal damage to a vehicle (outcomes only)

58C     Criminal damage to a vehicle 58H     Racially or religiously aggravated other criminal damage (outcomes only)

58D     Other criminal damage 58J     Racially or religiously aggravated criminal damage

58E     Racially or religiously aggravated criminal damage to a dwelling 

(outcomes only)

1.5.2. Arson

56A     Arson endangering life 56B     Arson not endangering life

2. Other crimes against society

2.1. Drug offences

2.1.1. Trafficking of drugs

92A     Trafficking in controlled drugs

2.1.2. Possession of drugs

92C     Other drug offences 92E     Possession of controlled drugs (Cannabis)

92D     Possession of controlled drugs (excl. Cannabis)

2.2. Possession of weapons offences

10A Possession of firearms with intent 10D Possession of article with blade or point

10B Possession of firearms offences 81 Other firearms offences

10C Possession of other weapons 90 Other knives offences

2.3. Public order offences

9A Public fear, alarm or distress 63 Treason felony (outcomes only)

9B Racially or religiously aggravated public fear, alarm or distress 64 Riot (outcomes only)

62 Treason (outcomes only) 65 Violent disorder (outcomes only)

62A Violent disorder 66 Other offences against the State or public order

2.4. Miscellaneous crimes

15      Concealing an infant death close to birth 76      Aiding suicide

24      Exploitation of prostitution 78      Immigration Acts (outcomes only)

26      Bigamy 79      Perverting the course of justice

27      Soliciting for the purposes of prostitution 80      Absconding from lawful custody

33      Going equipped for stealing, etc 802     Dangerous driving

33A     Making, supplying or possessing articles for use in fraud 814     Fraud, forgery etc associated with vehicle or driver records

38      Profiting from or concealing knowledge of the proceeds of crime 82      Customs and Revenue offences (outcomes only)

53H     Making or supplying articles for use in fraud (outcomes only) 83      Bail offences

53J     Possession of articles for use in fraud (outcomes only) 84      Trade descriptions etc (outcomes only)

54      Handling stolen goods 85      Health and Safety offences (outcomes only)

59      Threat or possession with intent to commit criminal damage 86      Obscene publications etc

60      Forgery or use of false drug prescription 87      Protection from eviction (outcomes only)

61      Other forgery 89      Adulteration of food (outcomes only)

61A     Possession of false documents 91      Public health offences (outcomes only)

67      Perjury 94      Planning laws (outcomes only)

68      Libel (outcomes only) 95      Disclosure, obstruction, false or misleading statements etc

69      Offender Management Act offences 96 Wildlife

75      Betting, gaming and lotteries (outcomes only) 99      Other notifiable offences

(cont.)
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3. Fraud offences

51 Fraud by company director (outcomes only) 53D Fraud by false representation: other frauds (outcomes only)

52 False accounting (outcomes only) 53E Fraud by failing to disclose information (outcomes only)

53B Preserved other fraud and repealed fraud offences (pre Fraud Act 

2006) (outcomes only)

53F Fraud by abuse of position (outcomes only)

53C Fraud by false representation: cheque, plastic card and online bank 

accounts (not PSP) (outcomes only)

55 Bankruptcy and insolvency (outcomes only)

* At March 2013 ONS publication crime code 53B was categorised under fraud offences.

Crime committed against children

Offences included in each category

Crime against children

Rape

19D     Rape of a female child under 16

19E     Rape of a female child under 13

19G     Rape of a male child under 16

19H     Rape of a male child under 13

Sexual offences / abuse

17B     Sexual assault on a male child under 13

20B     Sexual assault on a female child under 13

21      Sexual activity involving a child under 13

22B     Sexual activity involving child under 16

71      Abuse of children through sexual exploitation

73      Abuse of position of trust of a sexual nature

88A     Sexual grooming

Cruelty / other

11      Cruelty to and neglect of children (outcomes only)

11A     Cruelty to children/young persons

4.3     Intentional destruction of a viable unborn child

4.7     Causing or allowing death of child or vulnerable person

12      Abandoning child under two years (outcomes only)

13      Child abduction

15      Concealing an infant death close to birth

Other offences against children not included

(It is not possible to distinguish between adult and child victims within these crime types.)

23 Incest or familial sexual offences

86 Obscene publications etc

99 Other notifiable offences
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Annex 2 - Outcome Types

Outcome group / type

1 Charged/Summonsed

4 Taken into consideration

Out-of-court (formal)

2      Caution - youths

3      Caution - adults

6      Penalty Notices for Disorder

Out-of-court (informal)

7      Cannabis/Khat warning

8      Community resolution

Prosecution prevented or not in the public interest

5      Offender died

9      Not in public interest (CPS)

10      Not in public interest (Police)

11      Prosecution prevented – suspect under age

12      Prosecution prevented – suspect too ill

13      Prosecution prevented – victim/key witness dead/too ill

17      Prosecution time limit expired

15 Evidential difficulties (suspect identified; victim supports action)

Evidential difficulties (victim does not support action) 

14      Evidential difficulties: suspect not identified; victim does not support further action

16      Evidential difficulties: suspect identified; victim does not support further action

18 Investigation complete - no suspect identified

20 Action undertaken by another body/agency

Source: Home Office Crime Outcome Statistics for year ending March 2016, as published October 2016

Outcome Types

Outcome 1 Charge / Summons: A person has been charged or summonsed for the crime (irrespective of any subsequent acquittal at Court).

Outcome 2 Caution – youths: A youth offender has been cautioned by the police.

Outcome 3 Caution – adults: An adult offender has been cautioned by the police.

Outcome 4 Taken into Consideration (TIC): The offender admits the crime by way of a formal police interview and asks for it to be taken into 

consideration by the court. There must be an interview where the suspect has made a clear and reliable admission of the offence and 

which is corroborated with additional verifiable auditable information connecting the suspect to the crime.

Outcome 5 Offender died: The offender has died before proceeding could be initiated.

(cont.)

Outcomes 20 (action undertaken by another body/agency) and 21 (further investigation to support formal action not in the pblic interest) have been excluded. 
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Outcome 6 Penalty Notices for Disorder: A Penalty Notice for Disorder (or other relevant notifiable offence) has been lawfully issued under Section 1 

– 11 of the Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001.

Outcome 7 Cannabis/Khat Warning: A warning for cannabis or khat possession has been issued in accordance with College of Policing guidance. 

Note: Khat warnings were introduced from 24 June 2014 and numbers are likely to be small.

Outcome 8 Community Resolution: A Community Resolution (with or without formal (Restorative Justice) has been applied in accordance with 

College of Policing guidance.

Outcome 9 Not in public interest (CPS): Prosecution not in the public interest (CPS decision). The Crown Prosecution Service (CPS) by virtue of their 

powers under the Criminal Justice Act 2003 decides not to prosecute or authorise any other formal action.

Outcome 10 Not in public interest (Police) (from April 2014): Formal action against the offender is not in the public interest (Police decision).

Outcome 11 Prosecution prevented – suspect under age (from April 2014): Prosecution prevented – named suspect identified but is below the age of 

criminal responsibility.

Outcome 12 Prosecution prevented – suspect too ill (from April 2014): Prosecution prevented – Named suspect identified but is too ill (physical or 

mental health) to prosecute.

Outcome 13 Prosecution prevented – victim/key witness dead/too ill (from April 2014): Named suspect identified but victim or key witness is dead or 

too ill to give evidence.

Outcome 14 Evidential difficulties: suspect not identified; victim does not support further action (from April 2014): Evidential difficulties victim based – 

named suspect not identified. The crime is confirmed but the victim declines or is unable to support further police action to identify the 

offender.

Outcome 15 Evidential difficulties (suspect identified; victim supports action) (from April 2014): Evidential difficulties named suspect identified – the 

crime is confirmed and the victim supports police action but evidential difficulties prevent further action. This includes cases where the 

suspect has been identified, the victim supports action, the suspect has been circulated as wanted but cannot be traced and the crime is 

finalised pending further action.

Outcome 16 Evidential difficulties: suspect identified; victim does not support further action (from April 2014): Evidential difficulties victim based – 

named suspect identified. The victim does not support (or has withdrawn support from) police action.

Outcome 17 Prosecution time limit expired (from April 2014): Suspect identified but prosecution time limit has expired (from April 2014).

Outcome 18 Investigation complete –no suspect identified (from April 2014): The crime has been investigated as far as reasonably possible – case 

closed pending further investigative opportunities becoming available.

Outcome 19 National Fraud Intelligence Bureau filed (NFIB only) (from April 2014): A crime of fraud has been recorded but has not been allocated for 

investigation because the assessment process at the NFIB has determined there are insufficient lines of enquiry to warrant such 

dissemination.

Outcome 20 Action undertaken by another body/agency (from April 2015): Further action resulting from the crime report will be undertaken by another 

body or agency other than the police, subject to the victim (or person acting on their behalf) being made aware of the action being taken. 

Note: during 2014/15 (and therefore in this publication), these were included within outcome 18.

Outcome 21 Not in the public interest – suspect identified (from January 2016) Further investigation resulting from the crime report that could provide 

evidence sufficient to support formal action being taken against the suspect is not in the public interest – police decision.
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Annex 3 – POA Categories

POA data are split into 12 categories, which sub-divide into headings as follows: 

POA estimates are used for all cost and workforce data unless stated otherwise. These data are taken as a snapshot as at 18 October. Any updates to the data made after this time will not be reflected in the profile. Home Office Annual Data Requirement (ADR) data is used where relevant POA data is not available. Examples include officers by rank, sickness rates, restricted/recuperative duty rates, officers' length of service and leavers/joiners.5) Operational support

a. Neighbourhood policing a. Operational Support Command Team and Support Overheads

b. Incident (response) management b. Air operations 

c. Local investigation * c. Mounted police 

d. Specialist community liaison d. Specialist terrain 

e. Local policing command team and support overheads e. Dogs section 

f. Advanced public order 

2) Dealing with the public g. Airport and ports policing unit 

a. Front desk h. Firearms unit 

b. Central communications unit i. Civil Contingencies 

c. Dealing with the public command team and support overheads j. Event

3) Criminal justice arrangements 6) Intelligence 

a. Custody (now include other custody costs) a. Intelligence command team and support overheads 

b. Police doctors/nurses and surgeons b. Intelligence analysis / threat assessments 

c. Interpreters and translators c. Intelligence gathering 

d. Criminal justice 

e. Police national computer 7) Investigations 

f. Criminal record bureau a. Investigations command team and support overheads 

g. Coroner assistance b. Major investigation unit 

h. Fixed penalty schemes (central ticket office) c. Economic crime (including regional asset recovery team) 

i. Property officer / stores d. Specialist investigation units 

j. Criminal justice arrangements command team and support overheads e. Serious and organised crime unit 

f. Local investigation/ prisoner processing*

4) Road policing g. Cyber crime 

a. Traffic units 

b. Traffic wardens / police community support officers - traffic 8) Investigative support 

c. Vehicle recovery a. Scenes of crime officers 

d. Casualty reduction partnership b. External forensic costs 

e. Road policing command team and support overheads c. Fingerprint / internal forensic costs

d. Photographic image recovery 

9) National policing e. Other forensic services 

a. Secondments (out of force) f. Investigative support command team and support overheads 

b. Counter terrorism / special branch 

c. NPCC projects / initiatives 11) Police & Crime Commissioner

d. Hosting national services a. Cost of the democratic process 

e. Other national policing requirements b. Office of Police Crime Commissioner 

c. Share of any Formal Shared Service Arrangement

10) Support functions d. Commissioned services 

a. Human resources 

b. Finance 12) Central costs 

c. Legal a. Revenue contribution to capital 

d. Fleet services b. Capital financing 

e. Estates / central building costs c. Pensions and exit costs 

f. Information communication technology 

g. Professional standards 13) Public protection (previously 7f)

h. Press and media a. Witness protection

i. Performance review / corporate development b. Child protection

j. Procurement c. Adult protection

k. Training 

l. Administration support 

m. Force command 

n. Support to associations and trade unions 

o. Social club support and force band 

p. Insurance / risk management 

q. Catering 

* Local investigation is included under local policing rather than investigations
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Annex 4 - Coding of POA categories

Local policing Investigative support Central costs

V Neighbourhood policing F Scenes of crime officers X Revenue contribution to capital

V Incident (response) management O External forensic costs X Capital financing

V Specialist community liaison O Fingerprint / internal forensic costs X Pensions and exit costs

V Local command team and support overheads O Photographic image recovery

O Other forensic services

Dealing with the public O Command team and support overheads National policing

F Local call centres / front desk X Secondments (out of force)

F Central communications unit Criminal justice arrangements X Counter terrorism / special branch

F Contact management units F Custody X ACPO projects / initiatives

F Command team and support overheads F Police doctors / nurses and surgeons X Hosting national services

F Interpreters and translators X Other national policing requirements

Road policing F Other custody costs

V Traffic units O Criminal justice

V Traffic wardens / PCSOs - traffic O Police national computer

F Vehicle recovery O Criminal records bureau

F Casualty reduction partnership O Coroner assistance

F Command team and support overheads O Fixed penalty schemes (central ticket office)

B Property officer / stores

Operational support O Command team and support overheads

F Command team and support overheads

F Air operations Support functions

V Mounted police B Human resources

F Specialist terrain B Finance

V Dogs section B Legal services

F Advanced public order B Fleet services

F Airports and ports policing unit B Estates / central building costs

V Firearms unit B Information communication technology

O Civil contingencies O Professional standards

V Events B Press and media

B Performance review / corporate development

Intelligence B Procurement

O Command team and support overheads B Training

O Intelligence analysis / threat assessments B Administration support

F Intelligence gathering O Force command

B Support to associations and trade unions

Public protection B Social club support and force band

F Witness protection B Insurance / risk management

F Child protection B Catering

F Adult protection

Police and Crime Commissioner

Investigations X Cost of police crime commissioner

F Command team and support overheads X Office of police crime commissioner

F Major investigations unit X Other costs

F Economic crime (including regional asset recovery team)

F Specialist investigation units

F Serious and organised crime unit

F Local investigation/ prisoner processing*

F Cyber crime

* Local investigation is included here under local policing rather than investigations

V = Visible operational front line  
F = Non-visible front line  
O = Frontline support 
B = Business support 
X = Excluded (not coded) 
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Outliers

£m £/head Avg Diff £m

          

COSTS BY OBJECTIVE £m £/head Avg Diff £m      

NRE by objective group          

  Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 11.0 -2.5      

  Support functions 30.8 29.7 36.7 -7.3      

          

Local policing          

  Neighbourhood policing 12.8 12.3 23.4 -11.5      

Dealing with the public          

  Dealing with the public 8.9 8.6 11.0 -2.5      

Investigations          

  Serious and organised crime unit 5.3 5.1 2.3 2.8      

Support functions          

  ICT 6.4 6.2 9.1 -3.0      

  Training 2.6 2.5 3.5 -1.1      

  All other support functions 2.8 2.7 4.1 -1.4      

  Support functions 30.8 29.7 36.7 -7.3      

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

          

This page provides the areas in which the force is an outlier in costs. The force's figures are compared to the spend of other forces. To be flagged as an outlier, the spend must be 
one of the highest 10% or lowest 10% of any force and the effect of the difference is greater than £1 per head of population. The difference (Diff) calculations are the net cost of the 
difference in spend to the average per head of all forces. 
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AGENDA ITEM 8A 
JARAC 

9 MARCH 2017 

JOINT AUDIT RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE 
9 MARCH 2017 

REPORT OF THE CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 

8A: SUMMARY OF REVENUE BUDGET AND PRECEPT PROCESS 2017/18 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To provide a summary of the revenue budget and precept process 2017/18 

2. INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS 

2.1 The Police Reform & Social Responsibility Act introduced in November 2012 

the legal concept of 2 corporations sole for the Police and Crime 

Commissioner (PCC) and the Chief Constable.  Working in consultation with 

the Chief Constable and having due regard for partners’ plans, the PCC 

issues a Police and Crime Plan.  

2.2 Under the new regime, the PCC retains responsibility for all funding – 

government grant, police precept and income streams.  Working closely with 

the Chief Constable and his Chief Officer team, a draft budget to deliver the 

Police and Crime Plan is compiled for initial internal consideration in 

December.  

2.3 Following the better-than-expected government settlement in 2015, the 

Constabulary was able to focus on more transformational change rather than 

simply making cuts (either in financial or people-terms).  This has served the 

Constabulary well, allowing it to invest in threat and risk whilst also realising 

efficiency gains by introducing a new policing model based around two 

divisions.  These themes are explored in further detail within the budget report 

considered by the Strategic Governance Board and approved by the 

Commissioner. 

2.4 Whilst the Government continues to ‘protect’ police funding in the round, it 

should be noted that this is at the macro level and inherent within that 

statement is an assumption that each PCC will increase his/her precept by 
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2% per annum.  This has left the PCC with little option but to implement such 

an increase. 

2.5 Prior to Christmas, the government issued its consultation on the police 

funding settlement and this then informs the final draft budget, which was 

considered in its full version at the Strategic Governance Board meeting on 23 

January 2017.  As part of my induction to the role of Chief Finance Officer, I 

was briefed regarding the Constabulary’s budget process and gained a high-

level of reassurance which enabled me to advise the PCC accordingly. 

2.6 A budget consultation exercise on precept levels for 2017/18 was carried out 

with a closing date of 31 December to inform the Strategic Governance Board 

meeting.  The results showed an overwhelming support (44.1%) for increasing 

the precept by 2% whilst a further 28.9% supported increasing the precept 

by more than 2%.  Whilst referendum thresholds make an increase of greater 

than 2% a high-risk strategy, it is nevertheless heartening to see such public 

support for the Constabulary and the role they play in every-day life.    

2.7 The Police and Crime Panel met on 26 January to consider the report of the 

Commissioner and consider his proposals for the level of precept for the 

2017/18 financial year.  The meeting of the Police and Crime Panel approved 

the Commissioner’s precept proposals unanimously, confirming it formally in 

writing. 

2.8 Unfortunately, the Government’s final grant announcements takes place 

during the first week of February and is normally after the Police and Crime 

Panel has met.  Furthermore, the referendum principles which restrict the 

increase in the level of council tax are not announced until after the Panel has 

met. 

2.9 The government confirmed the revenue grant allocation for 2017/18 and the 

referendum limits in February.  As the grant allocation was unchanged from 

the initial announcement before Christmas, no amendments to the budget 

have been necessary.  Similarly, the referendum limits were confirmed at 2% 

and therefore no further action was required. 
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2.10 The Commissioner considered and approved the final budget for 2017/18 of 

£163.248m, a council tax requirement of £55.522m and a Band D council tax 

of £180.60, an increase of 1.99% on 17 February 2017.  

2.11 The precept letters to the billing authorities were then issued.  Together with 

information for inclusion in the billing authorities’ own correspondence with 

tax-payers.  Please see appendix A for this submission.  At the time of writing, 

a digital leaflet is being worked-up that will be hosted on the PCC’s website 

and provide further information to tax-payers concerning the reasons for the 

precept increase and how the budget will be spent. 

2.12 All papers relating to the setting of the budget and the precept are available 

on the Commissioner’s website.  Please see: http://www.derbyshire-

pcc.gov.uk/Finance-and-Grants/How-your-money-is-

spent.aspx#PreceptProposals2017 for further information. 

2.13 As this process and its satisfactory outcome is fundamental to an efficient and 

effective force, it was considered that the JARAC may wish to be advised of 

the process and final outcome.   

3. RECOMMENDATIONS 

i. To gain assurance that due process has been completed in the revenue 

budget and precept report process. 

4. IMPLICATIONS 

All implications are assessed and scored to the table below.  
HIGH – supporting explanation and narrative required and to be contained 
within the report 
MEDIUM – narrative to be contained within the report at the discretion of the 
author  
LOW – no narrative required 
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 LOW MEDIUM HIGH 

Crime & Disorder √   

Environmental √   

Equality & Diversity √   

Financial   √ 

Health & Safety √   

Human Rights √   

Legal   √ 

Personnel √   

 

 
 

Contact details  
in the event  
of enquiries 

Name: Andrew Dale 
External telephone number: 0300 122 6005 
Email address:  andrew.dale.16973@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk  

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS:  

• Reports to the Strategic Governance Board (23 January 2017) – available at: 
 
http://www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/Finance-and-Grants/How-your-money-is-
spent.aspx#PreceptProposals2017  
 
OR  
 
http://www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/News-and-Events-Meetings/Meeting-
Information/Strategic-Governance-Board-Schedule-of-Meetings-2017.aspx 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 

• Appendix A – Information to be supplied to Council Tax payers 
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Information to be supplied to Council Tax payers – 2017/18 Precept 

Policing & Crime services provided by and on behalf of the Police & Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire: 

  
 2016/17   2017/18  

  
 £m   £m  

 
Gross Expenditure      167.522  169.522  

 
Contribution to Reserves                  -                  -    

 
Gross Expenditure      167.522  169.522  

 
less:  Specific Grants        (3.955)   (3.950) 

 
          Contribution from Reserves - specific        (0.775)   (1.301)  

 
          Contribution from Reserves - deficit funding                   -      (1.023)  

 
Net Expenditure          162.792     163.248  

    
    
 

less:  Revenue Support Grant           (37.711)      (37.183)  

 
Police Grant           (62.122)      (61.254)  

 
Council Tax Freeze Grant             (1.354)        (1.354)  

 
Council Tax Benefit Grant             (7.346)        (7.346)  

 
Collection Fund Surplus             (0.674)        (0.589)  

    
 

Council Tax Requirement (Precept)            53.585       55.522  

    Effect of Gross Expenditure on the Level of Precept: 

Gross Expenditure for policing will be £2.0m higher in 2017/18 than in 2016/17 which equates to an 
increase of 1.2%.  Approximately 2/3rds of the budget is funded from central government grants 
with the remainder funded by the police share of local council tax.   

The overall increase in expenditure includes pay and price inflation and other unavoidable cost 
increases totalling £4.855m.  Among these are the costs of two government initiatives which will 
impact on the Constabulary from April 2017: 

• the new Apprenticeship Levy, to which all large employers are required to contribute, based 
on their annual payroll (£0.472m) 

• Pension auto-enrolment, from which additional pension costs will arise, estimated at 
£0.800m. 

In addition to these necessary increases, resources totalling £1.608m have been allocated to high-
priority policing issues in 2017/18.   Some of these resources are to enable the Constabulary to 
implement its new model of policing which is based on 2 divisions (North and South) and uses 
mobile technology to enable officers to spend more time away from their base. 

It has only been possible to partially offset these additional costs through budget savings and income 
generation.   £4.984m of which will be implemented in 2017/18, including £1.025m of savings from 
the Constabulary's Priority-Based Budgeting programme (a process by which the organisation 



APPENDIX A TO AGENDA ITEM 8A 
JARAC 

9 MARCH 2017 
challenges itself to justify why activities are funded).   £3.565m will arise due to the time required to 
recruit new police officers to replace those who leave the organisation. 

Whilst the Government have pledged to protect police funding, that is on the assumption that PCCs 
will increase the Council Tax by 2% per annum.  In addition, the positive impact of housing 
development in Derbyshire (which increases council tax receipts) has been counteracted by a further 
cut in police grant funding.  

The PCC has therefore decided to increase the amount of Council Tax by 1.99% for 2017/18.  For a 
Band D property (the average) in Derbyshire, the council tax payable will be £180.60 for the year (a 
£3.53 increase on last year).  However, as the reduction in grant funding is greater than the increase 
in Council Tax, he will also need to use £1.023m from Reserves to balance the budget for 2017/18. 

The PCC has created a digital leaflet to explain to local taxpayers his rationale for increasing the 
Precept and also how the budget for 2017/18 will be spent.  The leaflet can be found at: 
http://www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/17-18preceptleaflet 
 
Further detail on 2017/18’s budget (including the detailed report) can be found on the PCC’s website 
by visiting: 
http://www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/Finance-and-Grants/How-your-money-is-
spent.aspx#PreceptProposals2017 
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JOINT AUDIT, RISK AND ASSURANCE COMMITTEE (JARAC) 

9 MARCH 2017 
JOINT REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF FINANCE AND CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER 

FOR THE POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER 
 

8B 2016/17 YEAR END ACCOUNTING ARRANGEMENTS AND ACCOUNTING 
 POLICIES 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT   
1.1 To advise of changes to the final accounts process both nationally and locally 

with particular emphasis on the role of the Committee. 

2. BACKGROUND 
2.1 Introduction of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (PRSR Act 

2011) changed the way in which the police in England and Wales are governed 
and held accountable. 

2.2 Under the PRSR Act 2011 Police and Crime Commissioners and Chief 
Constables were established as separate bodies. 

2.3 The primary function of the body headed by the Chief Constable is the exercise 
of operational policing duties under the Police Act 1996. One of the 
Commissioner’s functions is to hold the Chief Constable to account for the 
exercise of these duties, thereby securing the maintenance of an efficient and 
effective police service in Derbyshire. 

3. INFORMATION AND ANALYSIS   
Preparation of the 2016/17 Accounts 

3.1 The 2016/17 Statement of Accounts is prepared in accordance with the 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting 2016/17 (the Code). The Accounts reflect 
the current legislative framework as well as the local arrangements operating in 
practice. Key elements of this framework include: - 

• The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the Act). 

• Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

• The Home Office Financial Management Code of Practice for the Police 
Service of England and Wales 2013. 

• Joint Corporate Governance Framework – Scheme of Delegation and 
consent between the Commissioner and Chief Constable. 

• The Financial Handbook of the Commissioner and Chief Constable. 
3.2 Each year a timetable is prepared setting out the key processes that must be 

followed and respective deadlines to ensure the accounts are prepared in 

Section B          
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accordance with the above framework (paragraph 3.1) and by the statutory 
deadline. 

3.3 From next financial year-end (2017/18) the deadline for preparing the annual 
statement of accounts will be brought forward to 31 May. This is a significant 
change and requires a more pro-active approach and a greater level of 
information collation throughout the year.   In order to plan for meeting an earlier 
statutory deadline and maintain the quality and accuracy of information, since 
last year focus has been on identifying what can be prepared earlier, instead of 
waiting till the financial year end.  This is not possible or practical in some areas, 
due to frequency that some data changes and challenging as to avoid clashing 
with preparation of the budget.  However, a number of areas have been identified 
and already implemented as shown in the revised year-end timetable, as 
attached at Appendix A.  It is intended to implement changes now in order for a 
trial run to be completed to ensure we are fully prepared for 2017/18. 

3.4 Every year we are required, under statue to publish the annual statement of 
accounts before the end of September (from 2017/18 this date moves forward to 
31st July) of the following financial year. The primary financial statements within 
this document comprise:- 

• Movement in Reserves Statement. 

• Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Balance Sheet. 

• Cash Flow Statement. 
3.5 In addition to these primary statements the accounts include a Narrative Report 

providing context and explanations of key issues and a series of notes providing 
further detail to the primary statements. 

3.6 The Annual Governance Statements (AGS) also accompany the statements of 
accounts. The AGS sets out the management’s view of its governance 
arrangements, issues to be addressed and actions to be taken to strengthen 
governance.  For 2016/17 the guidance has been updated to include seven 
principles on which the AGS is derived and setting out the key requirements, 
being: -  

• An acknowledgement of responsibility for ensuring there is a sound system of 
governance (incorporating the system of internal control). 

• A reference to and assessment of the effectiveness of key elements of the 
governance framework, including group activities where the activities are 
significant, and the role of those responsible for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment such as the authority, the 
executive, the audit committee and others as appropriate. 

• An opinion on the level of assurance that the authority’s governance 
arrangements can provide.  

• An agreed action plan. 

• A conclusion. 
3.7 For 2016/17 a number of presentational changes to the financial statements have 

been included in the Code.  The main changes involve the removal of the link 
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between the Service Reporting Code of Practice (Service Expenditure Analysis) 
(SeRCOP) and the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, which 
reported on both the funding (fiscal) performance and accounting performance of 
Derbyshire Police.  These changes have resulted in the following: - 

• Adding a separate expenditure and funding analysis to the financial 
statements, which replaces the segmental reporting requirements. 

• The service segments section of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement are shown in the way in which Derbyshire Police are organised 
and manage financial performance, no longer being based on the full 
SeRCOP definition of total cost. 

• The entries for earmarked reserves and transfers are removed from the 
Movement in Reserves Statement. 

• These changes require the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and Movement in Reserves Statement prior year comparators 
(2015/16) to be restated. 

3.8 The key aim of these changes is to assist organisations with the requirement to 
prepare and approve accounts earlier from next year (2017/18) and make the 
financial performance more understandable to the reader, especially those who 
have no background in accountancy.  However, the amendments made to the 
Code in reality are unlikely to make the year-end closedown process easier, as 
SeRCOP is still required for the compilation of a number of government statutory 
year-end returns and the changes will add more content to what is already a 
lengthy document.  It is interesting to note that the majority of responses received 
to the consultation exercise disagreed with the proposed changes to the Code, 
but CIPFA decided to press ahead regardless. 

3.9 The Code has also introduced new disclosure requirements that affect 
accounting and reporting by Pension Funds.  In particular retirement benefit plan 
investments will be now measured at fair value and a new disclosure is included 
to show investment management transaction costs. 

3.10 Since the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 (the Act) came into 
effect, we have to publish two sets of financial statements: - 

• The Commissioner’s Statement of Accounts (including Group Accounts). 

• The Chief Constable’s Statement of Accounts. 
3.11 This requirement was brought about by the creation of two separate legal entities 

under the Act. 
3.12 Even though the Commissioner receives all income and funding and makes all 

payments from the Police Fund it is necessary to publish two sets of financial 
statements. This is because we are required to apply the accounting principle of 
‘Substance Over Form’. The accounting principle is used to ensure that financials 
statements present a complete, relevant and accurate picture of transactions and 
events by accounting for the financial reality (the ‘economic substance’) rather 
than the legal form of a transaction. 
Accounting Policies 

3.13 Accounting policies are the specific principals, conventions, rules and  
practices that are applied in preparing and presenting the annual accounts.  The 

3 
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Commissioner and Chief Constable follows broadly the standards and policies 
contained in the Code when preparing their final accounts.  The only change to 
the Accounting Policies for 2016/17 is where reference to SeRCOP needs 
removing. 

3.14 It is recommended that the Accounting Policies are approved by the Joint Audit, 
Risk and Assurance Committee, so setting the framework for final accounts to be 
prepared and the Statements produced by May 2017 ready for audit in July 2017. 
Attached at the Appendices B and C are the Statements of Accounting Policies 
for the 2016/17 Statement of Accounts for the Committee’s approval. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS 
4.1 That the Committee can take assurance that plans, including the draft timetable 

for the closure of accounts and the production of the Statements for 2016/17 are 
robust. 

4.2 The Statements of Accounting Policies for the Chief Constable and for the Police 
and Crime Commissioner are approved. To note the information and analysis as 
set out in this report and Appendix A. 

5. IMPLICATIONS 
 LOW MEDIUM HIGH 
Crime & Disorder X   
Environmental X   
Equality & Diversity X   
Financial X   
Health & Safety X   
Human Rights X   
Legal X   
Personnel X   
 

Contact details  
in the event  
of enquiries 

Name: Chief Superintendent Steve Wilson  
External telephone number: 0300 122 4140 
Email address: sgb@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk 
Name: Andrew Dale 
External telephone number: 0300 122 6005 
Email 
address:  andrew.dale.16973@derbyshire.pnn.police.uk 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS: 
 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting 2016/17 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 
 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Appendix A. 2016/17 Year-end closedown plan 
Appendix B. Statement of Accounting Policies for the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Derbyshire 
Appendix C. Statement of Accounting Policies for the Chief Constable for 
Derbyshire 
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Sep-Mar
Put Payments in advance, receipts in advance, creditors, debtors into system where possible. Raise debtor invoices for 
2016/17 where possible Strat Finance

Sep-Mar Ensure any miscodings are corrected, orders closed, reconciliations are up to date etc… Strat Finance
Nov/Dec Set up proforma accounts for 2016/17 for completion by 27 Jan FS
Nov/Dec Prepare Capital working Papers JB
Nov/Dec We provide GAD with formal Commissioning Letter (ensure they do work on injury payments) PS
Dec/Feb Set up Asset Registers for 2016/17, calculate depreciation, prepare spreadsheets to send out for disposals SM/JB
Jan/Feb Restate 2015/16 CIES for new requirements of the code JB
Jan/Feb Review Code of Practice for new requirements JB

Monday 16-Jan Draft Closing down timetable issued to External Auditors. JB
Tuesday 17-Jan

Wednesday 18-Jan Meeting with CW to go over closedown dates & tidying ledger for year end eg outstanding crs,drs and aged registrations JB/CW
Thursday 19-Jan Meeting with Regional Accountants -Final Accounts Issues
Friday 20-Jan PS GAD send out demographic assumptions and issues user instructions and cash flow data collection spreadsheets GAD
Saturday 21-Jan
Sunday 22-Jan
Monday 23-Jan
Tuesday 24-Jan Set up meeting with Assets (SS) re property sales/leases JB/KB
Wednesday 25-Jan
Thursday 26-Jan Meeting with Strategic Finance re Final Accounts Timetable Strat Finance
Friday 27-Jan Email to IS re asset disposals - deadline for return 24 February JB/SM

Email to Finance Support re lump sum payments JB
Saturday 28-Jan
Sunday 29-Jan
Monday 30-Jan Finance Support/Legal to review debtor invoices for write off during February - deadline for return 24 February CW

Written Instructions issued to users re year end procedures JB
Tuesday 31-Jan KPMG Final Accounts Workshop JB/MC
Wednesday 01-Feb
Thursday 02-Feb
Friday 03-Feb PS Deadline for acceptance of demographic assumptions to GAD PS
Saturday 04-Feb
Sunday 05-Feb
Monday 06-Feb Interim Audit this week (6-10 February) and 20-24 February

List of aged orders and registrations to be sent out to check if any need closing/chasing JPJ
Tuesday 07-Feb TW Scan all grant notifications & precepts for final accounts working papers FS

Send out email re CDC % to staff deadline 7 March KF
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Strategic Finance to review old orders and close by 1 March Strat Finance
Finance Support to review old registrations to clear by 1 March Fin Supp
Police FAN Final Accounts JB

Wednesday 08-Feb TW Check with Leicestershire that they can provide us with overtime/expenses (March) information by 12 April for accrual JB
Thursday 09-Feb TW Check debtors reconciliation of 0325 in anticipation of year end JB/FS
Friday 10-Feb TW
Saturday 11-Feb
Sunday 12-Feb
Monday 13-Feb TW Send out emails re leases and embedded arrangements to IS, Assets Team and Procurement. JB
Tuesday 14-Feb TW Emails Assets Team (SS) re new leases or terminated leases in 2016/17 JB/KB
Wednesday 15-Feb TW Email LLP (Derbyshire Fire) re deadlines for accruals and other information JB
Thursday 16-Feb
Friday 17-Feb JB Assets registers to be complete for start of year position SM/TW/JB

Deadline for JARAC - Report on Final Accounts incl Accounting Policies DF/MC
Saturday 18-Feb
Sunday 19-Feb
Monday 20-Feb Interim Audit this week Ext Audit

Tuesday 21-Feb
Written request sent to Finance (CW) & Divisions & CTIU for Petty Cash Imprest Account Reconciliations and a request 
to bank income on 31 March JB/TW
Written request sent to Business Services Support (EW) and Legal for Vehicle and Liability Insurance Claims deadline 4 
April TW

Wednesday 22-Feb Meeting with Assets (DP) re recharge to LLP for costs of New HQ's SM/Assets
Thursday 23-Feb Balance all reconciliation accounts in anticipation of year end (eg collection accounts, salaries Interims etc) LS/CW

Friday 24-Feb PS
Written request to Lampton Smith Hamptons and Head of Assets about assets to be valued, surplus assets and 
impairments DF/JB
List of Debtors to be written off/credited to be established CW
Deadline for DCC IAS19 information PS/MC
Deadline for return of lists for IS Disposals SM/JB

Saturday 25-Feb
Sunday 26-Feb
Monday 27-Feb Check with Director of Finance any changes to Chief Officer scheme TW
Tuesday 28-Feb Email to HR re TOIL, Annual Leave for Police Officers and Staff on DMS system as at 31/03/17 TW
Wednesday 01-Mar Send email to Claire for information on Police Property Fund Balances as at 31/03/17 AC 
Thursday 02-Mar Action write off any items in collection accounts and salaries interims (04's) LS/JB/CW
Friday 03-Mar Email to District/Borough Councils re Accounting for Council Tax - deadline Wednesday 3 May MC

Period 11 Monitoring reports run JPJ
Saturday 04-Mar
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Sunday 05-Mar
Monday 06-Mar Strategic Finance to work on Draft Outturn this week for Carry Forward meetings w/c 13 March Strat Finance

Check that monies have been received from Region re pensions deficit TW

Tuesday 07-Mar
Email to Assets Team (TH) re reports from Vehicle Management System re purchases and disposals up to 31/03/17. 
Deadline 6 April 2017. FS
Remind DCC to send debt charges and early retirement invoices before 31 March 2017 FS/AC/MC
Deadline for CDC% information KF

Wednesday 08-Mar Email Business Support (EW) re deadlines (10 April) for Fuel and Hire Cars (13 April) JPJ
Email Finance Support (CW) re deadlines (13 April) for Barclaycard, CW to email departments with deadline JPJ / CW
Email Finance Support (CW) re deadlines (10 April) for POCA information KB

Thursday 09-Mar JARAC
Cleaning Recharges to be actioned SM
Prepare utility accruals SM

Friday 10-Mar Action Debtor Write offs (JB) and credit notes (CW) by this date JB/CW
Provide GAD with a record of the summary data and cashflows during 16/17 AC / PS

Saturday 11-Mar
Sunday 12-Mar
Monday 13-Mar JB Draft outturn/Carry forward meetings with formations DF/Strat Fin
Tuesday 14-Mar JB Draft outturn/Carry forward meetings with formations DF/Strat Fin
Wednesday 15-Mar JB Draft outturn/Carry forward meetings with formations DF/Strat Fin
Thursday 16-Mar JB Draft outturn/Carry forward meetings with formations DF/Strat Fin

Review out of date cheques and write-off actioned by 30 March.                                                                                         LS
Friday 17-Mar JB Draft outturn/Carry forward meetings with formations DF/Strat Fin

Last day for virement requests from Divisions/Departments to be actioned by 23 March. Strat Finance
Deadline for Divisions/Departments/Strat Finance to send any invoices they might receive to Finance Support Divs/Depts/Strat Fin
All recharges to be sent to EMSOU (estimate for March) AC /MC

Saturday 18-Mar
Sunday 19-Mar
Monday 20-Mar JB, PS Email to Leicestershire/Business Support re salaries over £45,000 and P11D information. TW/JB

Email Finance Support (CW), Divisions and CTIU to remind about banking on 31 March 2017 JB
Deadline for Divisional Petty Cash to be received by Finance Support Divisions/Fin Supp
Email Business Support re deadline for repair costs Chief Officer Vehicles (7 April) for P11D calculation CW
CW to check that mileage details are up to date for Chief Officers CW

Tuesday 21-Mar PS Cheque/BACS run to pick up most invoices Fin Supp
BACS run for Widows payments required Fin Supp
Last day for debtor invoice details to reach Finance Support for input deadline 31 March 2017 Divs/Depts/Strat Fin

Wednesday 22-Mar PS Email Assets Team re assets held for sale, surplus assets and impairments JB
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Thursday 23-Mar PS Email to Sheila Sismey re Derby PFI CCR's PS
Friday 24-Mar PS Email TN re number of Fleet Vehicles as at 31 March & calculate Additional Vehicles recharge (Insurance) by 03 April MC
Saturday 25-Mar
Sunday 26-Mar
Monday 27-Mar DF
Tuesday 28-Mar DF Extra Cheque/BACS run if required Fin Supp
Wednesday 29-Mar DF
Thursday 30-Mar DF Out of date cheques In Agresso LS

Email to Chief offIcers and Office of PCC re related party transactions KF
Email to Force Solicitor, Director of Finance and Office of PCC (Treasurer & Chief Executive) re contingent liabilities MC

Friday 31-Mar DF Income (cash receipts)  to be banked. Divisions to send Statement of Receipts and Banking slip to Fin Supp by 2.30pm Div / Fin Supp
Emails sent to Force Managers re force assets as at 31/03/2017 due back 7 April JB
Cash Receipts to be registered in Agresso for HQ and Divisions. Fin Supp
Debtor invoices to be input. Fin Supp
All handdrawn cheques to be posted (Manual Payments) Fin Supp
Last Cheque/BACS run for 2016/17 and HQ Petty Cash. Fin Supp
Period/Year end routines and Agresso system default period changed to 201701. MC/JPJ
Run report of invoices registered but not approved (posted) plus other year end reports JB

Saturday 01-Apr
Sunday 02-Apr
Monday 03-Apr Open Purchase Orders as at 31 March carried forward to 201701 MC/JPJ

Police Officer/staff TOIL,RDIL, Flexi and Annual Leave to be obtained from HR system (DMS Staff only) TW
Check all Cash Receipts input JB/CW
GAD send out financial assumptions GAD

Tuesday 04-Apr Income banked (Manual Credits and Debits) up to 31 March 2017 posted within Agresso. Manual Receipts to be posted. Fin Supp
Auditors to request third-party verifications for bank balances. FS to send letters for investments as at 31 March 2017 to 
be returned to auditors- schedule to be sent to Auditors FS/AC
Deadline for vehicle and legal claims information Bus Ser/Legal
Send Information to LSH re capital spend JB/SM
Email PFI provider about lifecycle expenditure - capital/revenue PS
Calculate and post Additional Vehicles (insurance) MC

Wednesday 05-Apr Final reconcilation of Account code 0325 - debtors income - Liase with Finance Support if necessary FS
Emails sent to Force Managers re force assets as at 31/03/2017 due back 13 April JB
Email sent re capital orders to accrue JB/SM
DCC IAS19 reports available to employers DCC
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Thursday 06-Apr Final Bank Reconciliation for 2016/17 completed. Save copy in excel (Final Accounts Balance Sheet Working Papers) LS
Send out Bad Debt Provision information to Fin Support (CW) deadline for return 13 April KF/JB/CW
Deadline for information from Vehicle Management System re purchases and Disposals Assets/FS

Friday 07-Apr Deadline for Petty Cash Reconciliation Information Fin/Bus Supp/CTIU
Cancelled cheques (no reissue) relating to old year to be posted CW
Deadline for acceptance of financial assumptions to GAD PS
Deadline for repair costs Chief Officer vehicles Bus Supp
Deadline for Force Asset information from Assets Assets/JB
Finance Support to send overtime submission to Strategic Finance Fin Supp

Saturday 08-Apr
Sunday 09-Apr
Monday 10-Apr Balance System Debtors and Creditors and summarise in different formats KF

Deadline for Fuel recharges Bus Supp
Deadline POCA information CW/KB
Overtime and 10% allowance submission to Mouchel JPJ

Tuesday 11-Apr Send email out re Grants to be checked for conditions JB
Fuel Charges to be input into Agresso JPJ
Reconcile POCA to Finance Support records and post journals KB/Fin Supp

Wednesday 12-Apr Run report of invoices posted in 2017/18 to check which need accrueing into 2016/17. Send out to Strategic Finance JB/SM
EMSOU to send final spreadsheet, Notts to send Arrow Recharge EMSOU/Notts
Require overtime and expenses information from Leicestershire for accrual Leics

Thursday 13-Apr Download Year End PWLB Information from internet FS /AC
Deadline for Long/Short term hire vehicles for March transactions Bus Supp
Deadline for Barclaycard Expenditure spreadsheet to be received for March transactions Fin Supp
Bad Debt provision deadline CW
Finalise system accruals spreadsheet & input into Agresso SM/JB
Hire Cars and Barclaycard Expenditure to be input into Agresso JPJ
Amounts for Police Officers' &staff overtime/10% allowances in April 2017 payroll posted to period 201613. Also accrue 
March registered Overtime. JPJ
Amounts for Travel Expenses in April 2017 Police Officer and Police Staff payrolls posted to period 201613 JPJ
Pensions Deficit information input into Agresso JPJ
Information back from DCC - all other  IAS19 information DCC

Friday 14-Apr
Saturday 15-Apr
Sunday 16-Apr
Monday 17-Apr
Tuesday 18-Apr Vehicle Reconciliation to be completed FS
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Final reconciliation of salaries interims/collection accounts LS
DCC Maintenance recharges to be done SM

Wednesday 19-Apr Last journal entries to revenue codes  (Final outturn position) by 4pm Strat Fin
Excelerator Reports run for final outturn position JPJ/MC

Thursday 20-Apr Check Final Outturn Reports and send out Strat Fin
Capital Accounting 20 April to 8 May JB/SM
Collaboration Accounting 20 April to 8 May  TW/SL/KF/MC

Friday 21-Apr Information provided to Treasurer re Police Property Fund for Treasurer to prepare report CW
GAD issues the consolidate results re IAS19 GAD

Saturday 22-Apr
Sunday 23-Apr
Monday 24-Apr Balance Manual Debtors and Creditors and analyse for Debtor/Creditors note Deadline 12 May KB

Sponsorship balances in ledger balanced to Sponsorship register AC
Tuesday 25-Apr
Wednesday 26-Apr
Thursday 27-Apr
Friday 28-Apr Deadline for Provisional Outturn Figures for TN to report to PCC & Treasurer KF/DF

IAS19 figures to be posted in ledger MC
Lead Force Information to be sent/received from region re collabaration TW/SL/KF/MC

Saturday 29-Apr
Sunday 30-Apr
Monday 01-May
Tuesday 02-May Review Partnerships re Group accounts JB/TW
Wednesday 03-May Accounting for Council Tax Information received from Councils MC

Thursday 04-May
Friday 05-May Accounting for Council Tax Information posted in ledger MC

Last day for our share of EMSOU/Collaborations to be entered into Derbyshire's Accounts TW
Saturday 06-May
Sunday 07-May
Monday 08-May Final day for Capital journal entries JB/SM

Information required for Chief Officer renumeration note re P11D information CW/TW
Tuesday 09-May Last journal entries for contributions to/from Reserves and Balance Sheet (final position) JB/PS
Wednesday 10-May CW Reconciliation of Balance Sheet Codes complete Strat Fin
Thursday 11-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
Friday 12-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Information for Debtors/Creditors note complete KB
Saturday 13-May
Sunday 14-May
Monday 15-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
Tuesday 16-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
Wednesday 17-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
Thursday 18-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
Friday 19-May CW Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF
Saturday 20-May
Sunday 21-May
Monday 22-May Preparation of Statement of Accounts JB/PS/TW/MC/KF

SGB to include Provisional Outturn report
Tuesday 23-May Draft Statement of Accounts Finalised including Group Accounts -sent to be checked JB/PS/TW/MC/KF

Prepare Annual Governance Statement - Chief Constable and PCC for Audit Committee (JARAC) on 15 June DF/AD
Wednesday 24-May Draft Statement of Accounts Checked TN/DF/AD/PS
Thursday 25-May Changes to Statement of Accounts finalised JB/PS
Friday 26-May Statement of Accounts completed JB/PS
Saturday 27-May
Sunday 28-May
Monday 29-May
Tuesday 30-May MC Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Wednesday 31-May MC Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Thursday 01-Jun MC Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Friday 02-Jun MC Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin

Deadline for Outturn Reports (Revenue & Capital) for SGB on 26 June DF/JB
Deadline for Treasury Management Annual Report SGB 26 June FS/JB
Deadline for Annual Debtors report for SGB 26 June FS/JB

Saturday 03-Jun
Sunday 04-Jun
Monday 05-Jun MC Start Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) Return - for completion by 7 July?? - Date not known yet JB/KF

Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Tuesday 06-Jun MC Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Wednesday 07-Jun MC Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Thursday 08-Jun Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Friday 09-Jun Compilation of Final Accounts files/completion of Audit Checklist Strat Fin
Saturday 10-Jun
Sunday 11-Jun
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Monday 12-Jun
Tuesday 13-Jun
Wednesday 14-Jun
Thursday 15-Jun JARAC
Friday 16-Jun
Saturday 17-Jun
Sunday 18-Jun
Monday 19-Jun
Tuesday 20-Jun
Wednesday 21-Jun
Thursday 22-Jun
Friday 23-Jun
Saturday 24-Jun
Sunday 25-Jun
Monday 26-Jun DF Strategic Governance Board

Treasurer/Director of Finance to sign off Accounts following SGB approval of Outturn AD/TN
Tuesday 27-Jun DF Set of sign Accounts to be provided to Auditors JB
Wednesday 28-Jun DF
Thursday 29-Jun DF
Friday 30-Jun DF Completion of CO Forms (Deadline 07 July??) SM/JB
Saturday 01-Jul
Sunday 02-Jul
Monday 03-Jul
Tuesday 04-Jul
Wednesday 05-Jul
Thursday 06-Jul JB
Friday 07-Jul JB Completion of RO Forms MC

Deadline for WGA submission ? KF
Saturday 08-Jul
Sunday 09-Jul
Monday 10-Jul JB
Tuesday 11-Jul JB
Wednesday 12-Jul JB
Thursday 13-Jul JB
Friday 14-Jul JB
Saturday 15-Jul
Sunday 16-Jul
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Monday 17-Jul Accounts open to public inspection - to be notified by Auditor???
Tuesday 18-Jul Any Grant claims to auditors if need auditing Strat Fin
Wednesday 19-Jul
Thursday 20-Jul
Friday 21-Jul All debtor invoices that relate to old year to be sent to Finance Support to be raised Strat Finance
Saturday 22-Jul
Sunday 23-Jul
Monday 24-Jul
Tuesday 25-Jul
Wednesday 26-Jul
Thursday 27-Jul JB
Friday 28-Jul JB
Saturday 29-Jul
Sunday 30-Jul
Monday 31-Jul Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. Electronic working papers to be ready to give to auditors
Tuesday 01-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Wednesday 02-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Thursday 03-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Friday 04-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Saturday 05-Aug
Sunday 06-Aug
Monday 07-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Tuesday 08-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Wednesday 09-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Thursday 10-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Friday 11-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Saturday 12-Aug
Sunday 13-Aug
Monday 14-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Tuesday 15-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Wednesday 16-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Thursday 17-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Friday 18-Aug Audit of 2016/17 Accounts. 
Saturday 19-Aug
Sunday 20-Aug
Monday 21-Aug Section 13 Day - to be notified by Auditor
Tuesday 22-Aug
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Wednesday 23-Aug
Thursday 24-Aug
Friday 25-Aug
Saturday 26-Aug
Sunday 27-Aug
Monday 28-Aug
Tuesday 29-Aug
Wednesday 30-Aug
Thursday 31-Aug
Friday 01-Sep Deadline for Audited SOA for JARAC plus report in September?? 
Saturday 02-Sep
Sunday 03-Sep
Monday 04-Sep
Tuesday 05-Sep
Wednesday 06-Sep
Thursday 07-Sep
Friday 08-Sep KF
Saturday 09-Sep
Sunday 10-Sep
Monday 11-Sep KF
Tuesday 12-Sep KF
Wednesday 13-Sep KF
Thursday 14-Sep KF JARAC Accounts signed off
Friday 15-Sep KF
Saturday 16-Sep
Sunday 17-Sep
Monday 18-Sep Any completed Grant Claims to be sent back to grant awarding authority
Tuesday 19-Sep
Wednesday 20-Sep
Thursday 21-Sep
Friday 22-Sep
Saturday 23-Sep
Sunday 24-Sep
Monday 25-Sep DF
Tuesday 26-Sep DF
Wednesday 27-Sep DF
Thursday 28-Sep DF
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Day Date Leave Task/Comment Responsible

Friday 29-Sep DF Publish Accounts on Internet by this date
Saturday 30-Sep
Sunday 01-Oct
Monday 02-Oct
Tuesday 03-Oct
Wednesday 04-Oct
Thursday 05-Oct
Friday 06-Oct Audited WGA sent off

Weekend
Bank Holiday
Annual leave
High risk - management attention required
Medium risk - review by management required
Low risk - no action required
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POLICE AND CRIME COMMISSIONER AND GROUP 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Accounting Policies 
 
General Principles 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice (the Code) on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  The accounting policies 
contained in the Code apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted for the 
public sector by the International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). 
 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis using an historic cost convention, modified 
to account for the revaluation of certain categories of tangible fixed assets and financial liabilities. 
 
With the introduction of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 on 22 November 2012 two 
‘corporation sole’ bodies, the Police and Crime Commissioner for Derbyshire and the Chief Constable 
for Derbyshire were formed.  Both bodies are required to prepare separate Statements of Accounts. 
 
The Financial Statements included here represent the accounts for the Commissioner and also those for 
the Group.  The financial statements cover the 12 months to 31 March 2017.  The term ‘Group’ is used 
to indicate individual transactions and policies of the Commissioner and Chief Constable for the year 
ended 31 March 2017.  The identification of the Commissioner as the holding organisation and the 
requirement to produce group accounts stems from the powers and responsibilities of the Commissioner 
under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below: - 
 
Accruals of Income and Expenditure 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made and 
received.  Whilst all expenditure is paid for by the Group including the pay costs of police officers and 
staff, the actual recognition in the respective Commissioner and Chief Constable Accounts is based on 
economic benefit. 
 
Debtors – these are recognised in the accounts when the ordered goods or services have been 
delivered or rendered by the Group in the financial year but the income has not yet been received. 
Income has only been included in the accounts when it can be realised with reasonable certainty. Where 
there is evidence that the Group may not be able to collect all amounts due to it, a provision for bad 
debts is established. The provision made is the difference between the current carrying value of the debt 
and the amount likely to be collected. These amounts are set on an individual debtor basis. The 
provision for bad debts is recognised as a charge to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement for the income that might not be collected. 
 
Creditors – these are recorded where goods or services have been supplied to the Group by 31 March 
but payment is not made until the following financial year. 
 
Fair Value Measurement 
Some of the non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and some financial instruments are measured 
at fair value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid 
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  
The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either: - 
 
• In the principal market for the assets or liability; or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
 
The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic interest. 
 
When measuring a non-financial asset, the market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by 
using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use 
the asset in its highest and best use is taken into account. 
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Valuation techniques used are those appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is 
available, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable 
inputs. 
 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows: - 
 
• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be 

accessed at the measurement date. 
• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted process included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly or indirectly. 
• Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the assets or liability. 
 
Accounting for Local Taxes  
The collection of council tax is, in substance, an agency arrangement with the Derbyshire District and 
Derby City Authorities (billing authorities) collecting council tax on behalf of the Commissioner (the 
Police Precept). 
 
The council tax income is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement on an 
accruals basis and includes the precept for the year plus a share of Collection Fund surpluses and 
deficits from the billing authorities. 
 
The difference between the income reported in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
and the amount required by regulation to be credited to the General Reserve shall be taken to the 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account through the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The year-end Balance Sheet includes the share of year end debtors (arrears and collection fund 
surpluses) and creditors (prepayments, overpayments and collection fund deficits) attributable to the 
Group 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.  The following have been classed as cash 
and cash equivalents: 
 
• Cash on hand. 
• Cash in bank (Current Account, Call Account and Business Premium Account). 
• Temporary investments with instant access and no penalties. 
 
Exceptional Items 
When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, either 
on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, 
depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Group’s financial performance. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material 
error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future 
years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the 
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and 
conditions on the Group’s position or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied 
retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for 
the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
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Employee Benefits 
The Accounts are prepared in accordance with IAS19 Employee Benefits. This is a complex accounting 
standard but it is based on a simple principle that: 
 
“An organisation should account for employment and post-employment benefits when employees earn 
them and the authority is committed to give them, even if the actual giving will be many years into the 
future”. 
 
IAS 19 applies to all types of employee benefits paid including benefits payable during employment, 
termination benefits and post-employment benefits. 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They 
include such benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, expenses, bonuses and non-
monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in 
the year in which employees render service to the Group.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday 
entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the 
year end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, but then reversed out through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement to the Short Term Accumulating Compensated Absences Account so that holiday 
benefits are charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs but have no 
impact on the level of council tax. 
 
Termination Benefits  
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Group to terminate 
employment before the normal retirement date or a decision to accept voluntary redundancy and when 
the Group is demonstrably committed to the termination of the employment of an individual or group or 
making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
 
Post-employment Benefits (Pensions) 
The main effect of IAS19 in relation to post-employment benefits is the recognition of the net liability in 
the Balance Sheet (offset by an unusable Pension Reserve) for benefits earned but not yet paid, and 
entries in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for in-year movements in the liability.  
Reconciling entries in the Movement in Reserves Statement bring back the cost of pensions to the 
amount chargeable to the General Fund for the purposes of grant and local taxation).  
  
IAS19 relies on the recognition of pension’s liabilities (being the retirement benefits promised measured 
on an actuarial basis) and assets (being the Group’s share of investments (if any)). 
 
The Group participates in two different pension schemes both of which are “defined benefit schemes” as 
they are both based on employees earning benefits from years of service; 
 
a) Police Officers 
This scheme is unfunded. This means it provides pensions and other retirement benefits for police 
officers based on pensionable salaries but there are no investment assets built up to meet the pensions 
liabilities.   
 
The funding arrangements for the police officers pension scheme changed on 1 April 2006. Before April 
2006 each Police Authority was responsible for paying the pensions of its former officers on a “pay as 
you go” basis. From April 2006 there is now an employer’s contribution instead (currently 24.2% of 
pensionable salary) which is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
The Group is required by legislation to operate a Pension Fund Account and the amounts that must be 
paid into and paid out of the Pension Fund are specified by regulation.  Officer’s contributions and the 
employer’s contribution are paid into the pension’s account from which pension payments are then 
made. The account is topped up as necessary by a grant from the Home Office if the contributions are 
insufficient to meet the cost of pension’s payments. Any surplus is recouped by the Home Office. Injury 
awards and the capital costs associated with ill health retirements are paid from the Group’s 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The pension fund account does not take account of the obligation to pay pensions and benefits which 
fall due after the end of the financial year.  
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b) Police Staff and PCSO’s 
Police staff and PCSO’s, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government 
Pension Scheme administered by Derbyshire County Council. It is a defined benefit occupational 
pension scheme.  Pensions and other retirement benefits earned prior to 1 April 2014 are based on final 
salaries, benefits earned after that date are calculated on earnings accrued in a scheme year. 
Employers and employees make regular contributions into the fund, which are invested in various types 
of asset, so that the liabilities are paid for evenly over the employment period. Actuarial valuations of the 
fund are undertaken every three years to determine the contributions rates needed to meet its liabilities. 
 
For both schemes the liabilities are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the 
projected unit method (an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement 
benefits earned to date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover 
rates, etc., and projections of projected earnings for current employees). Liabilities are discounted to 
their value at current prices, using a discount rate. The Discount Rate used is based on the ‘current rate 
of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities’, 
which is often referred to as AA Corporate Bond Rate.  
 

 Assets in the Local Government Pension scheme are included in the net pension liability in the Balance 
Sheet at their fair value: - 

 
• Quoted and Unitised Securities – Current Bid Price. 
• Unquoted Securities – Professional Estimate. 
• Property – Market Value. 
 
The changes in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
 
Service cost comprising: 
 
• Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of one additional year of service earned 

this year – allocated to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
• Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of scheme amendment or curtailment whose 

effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of non-
distributed costs. 

• Net interest expense – the change during the period in the net defined liability (asset) arising from 
the passage of time charged to Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure line, taking into 
account changes in net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution 
and benefit payments 
 
 

Remeasurements comprising: 
 
• Return on plan assets – excluding amounts included above in net interest, charged to Pensions 

Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
• Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have 

not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have 
updated their assumptions – debited to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income & 
Expenditure. 

 
• Contributions paid to the pension fund. 

 
Discretionary Benefits 
The Group also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event 
of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are 
accrued in the year of the decision to make the award. 
 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
These are events that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.  The Group will report these in the following way if it is determined 
that the event has had a material effect on the Group’s financial position: - 
• Events which provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period will be 

adjusted and included within the figures in the accounts. 

• Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting will be reported in the narrative 
notes to the accounts. 
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Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts. 
 
Financial Instruments - Liabilities and Assets 
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and carried at 
their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest payable are based on the carrying 
amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the 
borrowings that the Group has, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the 
outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) and interest charged to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement is the amount payable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
The Group has not undertaken any repurchasing or early settlement of borrowing. 
 
Financial assets are classified into two types: - 
• Loans and receivables – assets that have fixed or determinable payments but are not quoted in an 

active market. 
• Available-for-sale assets – assets that have a quoted market price and/or do not have fixed or 

determinable payments. 
 
The Group only has financial assets based on the first category of loans and receivables. 
 
Loans and receivables are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and carried at 
their amortised cost. Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for interest receivable are based on the carrying 
amount of the asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the loans 
that the Group has made, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is the amount receivable for the year in the loan agreement. 
 
Government Grants & Contributions 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, Government Grants and third party contributions 
and donations are recognised as due to the Group when there is reasonable assurance that: - 
 
• The Group will comply with the conditions attached to the payments. 
• The grants or contributions will be received 
 
Amounts recognised as due to the Group are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution has been satisfied. 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefit or service potential embodied in 
the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by the recipient as 
specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the transferor. 
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are carried in 
the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution is credited to the 
Net Cost of Services (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income (non ring fenced grants and all capital grants) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.  Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, they are reversed out of the General Reserve Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it is applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. Amounts 
in the Capital Grants Unapplied reserve are transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account once they 
have been applied to fund capital expenditure. 
 
Non-Current Assets - Property, Plant and Equipment 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services or for 
administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are 
classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. 
 
Recognition and Measurement 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of assets is capitalised on an accruals basis, 
provided that it yields benefits to the Group and the services it provides for more than one financial year 
and that the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
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Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to 
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management. Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following 
measurement bases: 
 
• Land, property and other operational assets are included in the Balance Sheet at fair value (existing 

use value). Operational assets can either be specialised or non-specialised. Specialised Assets, 
where there is no particular market or demand for their specific use, are valued at Depreciated 
Replacement Cost (DRC) as an estimate for fair value. The only assets to be classified as 
specialised property relate to the operational custody suites situated within the various properties. 
In cases where there is only a small number of cells, or where cells are now out of use, these have 
not been treated as specialised properties.  

• Surplus assets are included at the current value measurement base (fair value), estimated at 
highest and best use from a market participant’s perspective. 

• Assets under construction are held in the Balance Sheet at historical cost until completed, 
whereupon they will be valued and included in the Balance Sheet as operational assets.  

 
Where non property assets have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost 
basis is used as a proxy for fair value e.g. Vehicles, IT and Communications equipment and other 
equipment. 
 
Revaluation 
Assets included in the Balance Sheet at fair value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure that the 
carrying amount is not materially different from their fair value but as a minimum every five years. 
Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation Reserve to recognise unrealised 
gains. Occasionally, gains might be credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
where they arise from the reversal of an impairment loss previously charged to the account. 
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for by: - 
 
• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 

amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains) 

• Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date of its 
formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the Capital 
Adjustment Account. 
 
Impairments 
Assets are assessed at each year end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the 
asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall. Where impairment losses are identified, they 
are accounted for by: 

 
• Where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, the carrying 

amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount of the accumulated 
gains). 

• Where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the carrying 
amount of the asset is written down in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that 
would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis for on all Property, Plant, Vehicles and Equipment 
assets by the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives, as advised by a 
suitably qualified advisor. An exception is made for assets without a determinable finite useful life (i.e. 
freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).   

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   
Component Accounting – where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components 
whose cost is significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated 
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separately.  The component is judged to be significant were the replacement value is above £0.5m or 
25% of the asset.  
 
It is the Group’s policy not to charge depreciation in the year of acquisition but a full year’s charge is 
made in the year of disposal.  Depreciation is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and is reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on their 
historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. 
 
Disposals and Assets held for sale 
When a non-current asset is planned to be disposed of, it is reclassified as an Asset held for sale. To be 
reclassified it must meet the following criteria: - 
 

• The asset must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject to terms that are 
usual and customary for sales of such assets. 

• The sale must be highly probable (with management commitment to sell and active marketing of the 
asset initiated). 

• It must be actively marketed for a sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair 
value. 

• The sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year. 
 
The asset is revalued immediately before reclassification and then carried at the lower of this amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. Where there is a subsequent decrease to fair value less costs to sell, 
the loss is posted to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. Gains in fair value are recognised only up to the amount of any previous losses 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Depreciation is not charged on Assets Held for Sale. 
 
If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified as Assets Held for Sale, they are reclassified back to 
non-current assets and valued at the lower of their carrying amount before they were classified as held 
for sale; adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been recognised had 
they not been classified as Held for Sale, and their recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to 
sell. 
 
Assets that are abandoned or scrapped are not reclassified as Assets Held for Sale. 
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals are credited to 
the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on 
disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of the disposal). Any 
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. The balance 
of receipts is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only be used to 
finance new capital investment or set aside to reduce the Group’s underlying need to borrow (the capital 
financing requirement). Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Reserve Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against council tax, as the cost of fixed assets is fully 
provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital 
Adjustment Account from the General Reserve Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and 
controlled by the Group as a result of past events (e.g. software licences), are capitalised when it is 
expected that future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the 
Group. 
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Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely or primarily 
intended to provide information on policing matters. 
 
Intangible assets are measured at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of the assets 
held by the Group can be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, no intangible asset 
held by the Group meets this criterion, and they are therefore carried at amortised cost. The depreciable 
amount of an intangible asset is amortised to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
over its useful life. Amortisation, as with depreciation, commences in the financial year following that in 
which they are received. Amortisation is not permitted to have any impact on the General Reserve 
Balance; it is therefore reversed through the Movement in Reserves Statement and posted to the 
Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is debited with the following amounts to record 
the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:  - 
 
• Depreciation attributable to the assets used. 
• Revaluation and impairment losses on assets where there are no accumulated gains in the 

Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written off. 
• Amortisation of intangible fixed assets. 
 
The Group is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses 
or amortisations. However, it is required to make an annual provision from revenue to contribute towards 
the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement (Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)). An annual 
statement for the policy on making MRP is required in accordance with statutory guidance; this should 
be calculated on a prudent basis.  The policy for Derbyshire is: - 
 
• For Supported Capital Expenditure, the MRP Policy will be based on the Capital Financing 

Requirement at 4% of the opening balance  
• For unsupported borrowing the MRP policy will be based on the Asset Life Method, equal 

instalment over the life of the asset   
• For PFI contracts and leases that are deemed to be on Balance Sheet, the MRP requirement would 

be regarded as met by a charge equal to the element of the charge that goes to write down the 
Balance Sheet liability. 
   

Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses and amortisations are therefore replaced by revenue 
provision in the Movement in Reserves Statement, by way of an adjusting transaction with the Capital 
Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but does not 
result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Group has determined to meet the cost of 
this expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement from the General Reserve Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the 
amounts charged so there is no impact on the level of council tax. 
 
Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, vehicles, plant or equipment from the lessor 
(landlord) to the lessee (tenant). All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
The Group has looked at material property leases over £10,000 and for more than 10 years.  IAS 17 
‘Leases’ includes indicators for the classification of leases as a finance lease.  Material leases have 
been judged against these indicators. 
 
a) Finance Leases 
i) Lessee – Property, Vehicles, Plant & Equipment  
An asset identified as a finance lease and where the Group is the lessee will be recognised on the 
Balance Sheet at an amount equal to the fair value of the asset, or if lower, the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. 
 
The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. This liability is reduced 
as lease payments are made. Minimum lease payments are to be apportioned between the finance 
charge (interest) and the reduction of the deferred liability. 
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The finance charge (interest) will be charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line). 
 
Finance lease assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way 
as property, plant and equipment owned by the Group. Depreciation to be charged over the lease term if 
this is shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life.  
 
ii) Lessor – Property, Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 
Where an asset is identified as a finance lease, and where the Group is the lessor, it will be written out 
of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. The carrying amount is written off to Other Operating Expenditure 
as part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the authority’s net investment in the lease, is 
credited to the same line, matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.  The lease 
rentals received write-down the lease debtor and the finance income is credited to the Financing & 
Investment Income & Expenditure line. 
 
Rental income from finance leases entered into after 1 April 2010 should be treated as a capital receipt. 
 
b) Operating Leases 
i) Lessee – Property, Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 
An asset identified as an operating lease and where the Group is the lessee, the rentals will be charged 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Charges are made on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
 
ii) Lessor – Property, Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 
An asset identified as an operating lease, and where the Group is the lessor, shall be retained in the 
Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Credits are made on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts  
The Group has entered into two PFI arrangements, Ilkeston Police Station and D Divisional HQ at 
Derby.  The first affected the accounts from 1998/99, the second from 2000/01. Both have a continuing 
commitment by the Group for 30 years. PFI contracts are agreements to receive services, where the 
responsibility for making available the non-current assets needed to provide the services passes to the 
PFI contractor. As the Group is deemed to control the services that are provided under its PFI schemes 
and has control over the residual interest in the property at the end of the arrangement, the Group 
carries the non-current assets under the contracts on the Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and 
Equipment. 
 
The original recognition of these assets at fair value was balanced by the recognition of a liability for 
amounts due to the scheme operator to pay for the capital investments. 
 
PFI assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way as property, 
plant and equipment owned by the Group.  
 
The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year should be analysed into five elements: - 
 
• Fair value of the services received during the year – debited to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement.  
 
• Finance cost – an interest charge of 9.114% for Ilkeston PFI and 7.917% for Derby PFI on the 

outstanding Balance Sheet Liability, debited to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

 
• Contingent rent – increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the contract. For 

both the Group’s PFI schemes there is no contingent rent as the property element of the fee paid to 
the PFI operator is not indexed. 

 
• Payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability towards the PFI 

operator. This is also the MRP charge for PFI schemes. 
 
• Lifecycle replacement costs – recognised as fixed assets on the Balance Sheet if the costs are of a 

capital nature or if the costs are revenue debited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement.     
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Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
Provisions – these are required for liabilities that have been incurred, but are of uncertain timing or 
amount. There are three criteria: 
 
• The Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event. 
• It is more likely than not that money will be needed to settle the obligation. 
• A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the 
year that the Group becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the 
Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks 
and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. 
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than 
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated 
is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement. 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be met by another party 
(e.g. from an insurance claim), the income is only recognised as income if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received when the obligation is settled.   
Provisions contained within the Balance Sheet are split between current liabilities (those which are 
estimated to be settled within the next 12 months) and non-current liabilities (those which are estimated 
to be settled in a period greater than 12 months). 
  
Contingent Liabilities – this arises where an event has taken place that gives the Group a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where 
a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Asset – this arises where an event has taken place that gives the Group a possible asset 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Group. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 
 
Reserves  
Usable Reserves - the Group’s General Revenue Balances are held in the General Reserve to 
generally support the budget. The Group also maintains a number of specific ‘earmarked’ reserves for 
future expenditure on either policy purposes or to cover contingencies. Reserves are created by 
appropriating amounts out of the General Reserve Balance. When revenue expenditure to be financed 
from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The 
reserve is then appropriated back into the General Reserve Balance so that there is no net charge 
against Council Tax for the expenditure. 
  
Also held under usable reserves are those that support the financing of capital (Capital receipts reserve 
and Capital Grants unapplied).  
 
Unusable Reserves - certain reserves/accounts are kept to manage the accounting processes for non- 
current assets (Capital Adjustment Account, Revaluation Reserve, Deferred Capital Receipts), 
retirement and employee benefits (Pensions Reserve, Short term Accumulating Compensated 
Absences Account) and Accounting for local taxes (Collection Fund Adjustment Account). These do not 
represent usable resources for the Group.  
 
Value Added Tax (VAT) 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement excludes any amounts related to VAT, as all 
VAT collected is payable to HM Revenue and Customs and all VAT paid is recoverable from them.  
 
Jointly Controlled Operations  
Jointly controlled operations are activities undertaken by the Group in conjunction with other venturers 
that involve the use of the assets and resources of the venturers rather than the establishment of a 
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separate entity. The Group recognises on its Balance Sheet the assets that it controls and the liabilities 
that it incurs and debits and credits the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement with the 
expenditure its incurs and the share of income it earns from the activity of the operation.  
 
Joint Ventures  
Joint Ventures are arrangements under which two or more parties have contractually agreed to share 
control, such that decisions about activities that significantly affect returns require the unanimous 
consent of the parties sharing control, and joint ventures have rights to the net assets of the 
arrangement.  Joint Ventures have their own legal entity. They are accounted for using the equity 
method.  
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CHIEF CONSTABLE 
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
Accounting Policies 
 
General Principles 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice (the Code) on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  The accounting policies contained in the 
Code apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted for the public sector by the 
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS). 
 
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis using an historic cost convention, modified to 
account for the revaluation of certain categories of tangible fixed assets and financial liabilities. 
 
The Accounting Policies below also reflect the powers and responsibilities of the Chief Constable as designated 
by the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 and the Home Office Financial Management Code of 
Practice for the Police Service, England and Wales 2013.  The Accounting policies defined here are consistent 
with local regulations, local agreement and practice as well as the PCC Group policies. 
 
The Accounts cover the 12 months to 31 March 2017. 
 
Cost Recognition 
All expenditure is paid for by the Commissioner including the wages of police officers and staff and no actual 
cash transactions or events take place between the two entities.  Costs are however recognised within the Chief 
Constable’s Accounts to reflect the financial resources consumed at the request of the Commissioner and the 
economic benefit this brings about.  For instance an economic benefit is recognised to reflect the utilisation of 
the Commissioner owned Estate, which mirrors depreciation of property. 
 
Accruals of Expenditure 
Activity is accounted for in the year it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made: - 
 
• Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed. 
• Expenses in relation to services received (included services provided by employees) are recorded as 

expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are made. 
• Short term compensated absences are recognised in the Income and Expenditure Statement in the period 

in which officers or staff render the service which entitles them to the benefit, not necessarily when they 
receive the benefit.  The cost of leave earned, but not taken at the end of the financial year is recognised in 
the financial statements of the Chief Constable to the extent that staff are entitled to carry forward a limited 
amount of leave into the following year. 

 
Fair Value Measurement 
Some of the non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and some financial instruments are measured at fair 
value at each reporting date.  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  The fair value 
measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: - 
 
• In the principal market for the assets or liability; or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
 
The fair value of an asset or liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic interest. 
 
When measuring a non-financial asset, the market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using 
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its 
highest and best use is taken into account. 
 
Valuation techniques used are those appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data is available, 
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Inputs to the valuation techniques in respect of assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or 
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as follows: - 
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• Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that can be accessed 
at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted process included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly or indirectly. 

• Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the assets or liability. 
 
Exceptional Items 
When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately, either on the 
face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the accounts, depending on 
how significant the items are to an understanding of the Chief Constable’s financial performance. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a material error. 
Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the current and future years affected 
by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment. 
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the change 
provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events and conditions on 
the Chief Constable’s position or financial performance. Where a change is made, it is applied retrospectively 
(unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the 
new policy had always been applied. 
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening balances 
and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
Employee Benefits 
The Accounts are prepared in accordance with IAS19 Employee Benefits. This is a complex accounting 
standard but it is based on a simple principle that: 
 
“An organisation should account for employment and post-employment benefits when employees earn them 
and the authority is committed to give them, even if the actual giving will be many years into the future”. 
 
IAS 19 applies to all types of employee benefits paid including benefits payable during employment, termination 
benefits and post-employment benefits. 
 
Benefits Payable During Employment 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They include such 
benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, expenses, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. 
cars) for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees 
render service to the Chief Constable.  An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of 
leave, e.g. time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the year end which employees can carry 
forward into the next financial year. The accrual is charged to Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement, but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement to the Short Term 
Accumulating Compensated Absences Account so that holiday benefits are charged to revenue in the financial 
year in which the holiday absence occurs. 
 
Termination Benefits 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Chief Constable to terminate 
employment before the normal retirement date or a decision to accept voluntary redundancy and when the 
Chief Constable is demonstrably committed to the termination of the employment of an individual or group or 
making an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
 
Post-employment benefits 
The main effect of IAS19 in relation to post-employment benefits is the recognition of the net liability and a 
pensions reserve in the Balance Sheet and entries in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
for movements in the liability relating to the employee pension schemes in which the Chief Constable 
participates (with reconciling entries in the Movement in Reserves Statement back to the true cost of pensions).  
  
IAS19 relies on the recognition of pension’s liabilities (being the retirement benefits promised measured on an 
actuarial basis) and assets (being the Chief Constable’s share of investments (if any)). 
 
The Chief Constable participates in two different pension schemes both of which are “defined benefit schemes” 
as they are both based on employees earning benefits from years of service. 
 
a) Police Officers 
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This scheme is unfunded. This means it provides pensions and other retirement benefits for police officers 
based on final salaries but there are no investment assets built up to meet the pensions liabilities.   
 
The funding arrangements for the police officers pension scheme changed on 1 April 2006. Before April 2006 
each Police Authority was responsible for paying the pensions of its former officers on a “pay as you go” basis. 
From April 2006 there is now an employer’s contribution instead (currently 24.2% of pensionable salary) which 
is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
The Chief Constable is required by legislation to operate a Pension Fund Account and the amounts that must 
be paid into and paid out of the Pension Fund are specified by regulation. Officer’s contributions and the 
employer’s contribution are paid into the pension’s account from which pension payments are then made. This 
will be topped up as necessary by the Home Office if the contributions are insufficient to meet the cost of 
pension’s payments. Any surplus will be recouped by the Home Office. Injury awards and ill health retirements 
will continue to be paid from the Chief Constable’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
The pension fund account does not take account of the obligation to pay pensions and benefits which fall due 
after the end of the financial year.  
 
b) Police Staff and PCSO’s 
Police staff and PCSO’s, subject to certain qualifying criteria, are eligible to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme administered by Derbyshire County Council. It is a defined benefit occupational pension scheme.  
Pensions and other retirement benefits earned prior to 1 April 2014 are based on final salaries, benefits earned 
after that date are calculated on earnings accrued in a scheme year. Employers and employees make regular 
contributions into the fund, which are invested in various types of assets, so that the liabilities are paid for 
evenly over the employment period.  Actuarial valuations of the fund are undertaken every three years to 
determine the contributions rates needed to meet its liabilities. 
 
For both schemes the liabilities are included in the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit 
method (an assessment of the future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to 
date by employees, based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc., and projections 
of projected earnings for current employees). Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a 
discount rate. The Discount Rate used is based on the ‘current rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of 
equivalent currency and term to the scheme liabilities’, which is often referred to as AA Corporate Bond Rate.  
 

 Assets in the Local Government Pension scheme are included in the Balance Sheet at their fair value: - 
 

• Quoted and Unitised Securities – Current Bid Price. 
• Unquoted Securities – Professional Estimate. 
• Property – Market Value. 
 
The changes in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components: 
 
Service cost comprising: 
• Current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of one additional year of service earned this year 

– allocated to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
• Past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of scheme amendment or curtailment whose effect 

relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of non-distributed costs. 

• Net interest expense – the change during the period in the net defined liability (asset) arising from the 
passage of time charged to Financing & Investment Income & Expenditure line, taking into account 
changes in net defined benefit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contribution and benefit 
payments 

 
Re-measurement comprising: 
 
• Return on plan assets – excluding amounts included above in net interest, charged to Pensions Reserve as 

Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
• Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have not 

coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have updated 
their assumptions – debited to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 

. 
• Contributions paid to the pension fund. 
 
The Chief Constable’s accounts include the pension costs, assets and liabilities for all staff, including those 
employed directly by the Commissioner.  The scheme assets and liabilities for the two corporation soles are 
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pooled, any pro rota would not be accurate as valuing the fund is based on various assumptions.  The effect of 
including all of the pension figures in the Chief Constable’s accounts has no material effect on the accounts. 
 
Discretionary Benefits 
The Chief Constable also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits in the event 
of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any member of staff are accrued 
in the year of the decision to make the award. 
 
Events after the Balance Sheet Date 
These are events that occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.  The Chief Constable will report these in the following way if it is determined that the 
event has had a material effect on the Chief Constable’s financial position: - 
• Events which provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period will be adjusted 

and included within the figures in the accounts. 

• Events that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting will be reported in the narrative notes 
to the accounts. 

Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Non-Current Assets – Vehicles, Plant, Furniture, Equipment and Assets under Construction 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the provision of services or for administrative 
purposes and that are expected to be used during more than one financial year are classified as Vehicles, 
Plant, Furniture and Equipment. 
 
Recognition and Measurement 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of assets is capitalised on an accruals basis, provided 
that it yields benefits and the services it provides for more than one financial year and that the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably.  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising the purchase price and any costs attributable to bringing the 
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.  
 
Assets under construction are held in the Balance Sheet at historical cost until completed, whereupon they will 
be valued and included in the Balance Sheet as operational assets.  
 
Where assets have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a 
proxy for fair value e.g. vehicles, IT and communications equipment. 

Depreciation 
Depreciation is provided for on all Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment assets on a straight line basis by 
the systematic allocation of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives, as advised by a suitable qualified 
advisor. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
It is policy not to charge depreciation in the year of acquisition but a full year’s charge is made in the year of 
disposal.  Depreciation is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and is reversed 
out through the Movement in Reserves Statement.  

Disposals 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet is 
written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

Non-Current Assets - Intangible Assets 
Expenditure on non-monetary assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and controlled by 
the Chief Constable as a result of past events (e.g. software licences), are capitalised when it is expected that 
future economic benefits or service potential will flow from the intangible asset to the Chief Constable. 
 
Expenditure on the development of websites is not capitalised if the website is solely or primarily intended to 
provide information on policing matters. 
 
Intangible assets are measured at cost. Amounts are only revalued where the fair value of the assets held can 
be determined by reference to an active market. In practice, no intangible asset held meets this criterion, and 
they are therefore carried at amortised cost. The depreciable amount of an intangible asset is amortised to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement over its useful life. Amortisation, as with depreciation, 
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commences in the financial year following that in which they are received. Amortisation is not permitted to have 
any impact on the General Reserve Balance; it is therefore reversed through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement and posted to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets 
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is debited with the following amounts to record the 
cost of holding non-current assets during the year:  - 
 
• Depreciation attributable to the assets used. 
• Amortisation of intangible fixed assets. 
 
The Chief Constable is not required to raise council tax to cover depreciation or amortisations.  

Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the vehicles, plant or equipment from the lessor (landlord) to the lessee 
(tenant). All other leases are classified as operating leases.  
 
a) Finance Leases 
i) Lessee – Vehicles, Plant & Equipment  
An asset identified as a finance lease and where the Chief Constable is the lessee will be recognised on the 
Balance Sheet at an amount equal to the fair value of the asset, or if lower, the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, determined at the inception of the lease. 
 
The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the obligation to pay the lessor. This liability is reduced as 
lease payments are made. Minimum lease payments are to be apportioned between the finance charge 
(interest) and the reduction of the deferred liability. 
 
The finance charge (interest) will be charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line). 
 
Finance lease assets recognised on the Balance Sheet are revalued and depreciated in the same way as 
vehicle, plant and equipment owned by the Chief Constable. Depreciation to be charged over the lease term if 
this is shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life.  
 
ii) Lessor – Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 
Where an asset is identified as a finance lease, and where the Chief Constable is the lessor, it will be written 
out of the Balance Sheet as a disposal. The carrying amount is written off to Other Operating Expenditure as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal. A gain, representing the authority’s net investment in the lease, is credited 
to the same line, matched by a lease (long-term debtor) asset in the Balance Sheet.  The lease rentals received 
write-down the lease debtor and the finance income is credited to the Financing & Investment Income & 
Expenditure line. 
 
Rental income from finance leases entered into after 1 April 2010 should be treated as a capital receipt and 
recognised in the accounts of the Commissioner and Group. 
 
 
b) Operating Leases 
i) Lessee – Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 
An asset identified as an operating lease and where the Chief Constable is the lessee, the rentals will be 
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Charges are made on a straight line basis 
over the term of the lease. 
 
ii) Lessor – Vehicles, Plant & Equipment 
An asset identified as an operating lease, and where the Chief Constable is the lessor, shall be retained in the 
Balance Sheet. Rental income is credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Credits 
are made on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 
Provisions – these are required for liabilities that have been incurred, but are of uncertain timing or amount. 
There are three criteria: 
 
• The Chief Constable has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event. 
• It is more likely than not that money will be needed to settle the obligation. 
• A reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
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Provisions are charged as an expense to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year 
that the Chief Constable becomes aware of the obligation, and are measured at the best estimate at the 
Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and 
uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet. Estimated 
settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than probable that a transfer 
of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than anticipated is made), the provision is 
reversed and credited back to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be met by another party (e.g. 
from an insurance claim), the income is only recognised as income if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
will be received when the obligation is settled.   
Provisions contained within the Balance Sheet are split between current liabilities (those which are estimated to 
be settled within the next 12 months) and non-current liabilities (those which are estimated to be settled in a 
period greater than 12 months). 
  
Contingent Liabilities – this arises where an event has taken place that gives the Chief Constable a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the Chief Constable. Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a 
provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or 
the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably. 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts. 
 
Contingent Asset – this arises where an event has taken place that gives the Chief Constable a possible asset 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Chief Constable. 
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is 
probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential. 

Reserves  
Unusable Reserves - certain reserves/accounts are kept to manage the accounting processes for non- current 
assets (Capital Adjustment Account and Revaluation Reserve), retirement and employee benefits (Pensions 
Reserve, Short term Accumulating Compensated Absences Account.  These do not represent usable resources 
for the Chief Constable.  
 
Value Added Tax (VAT)  
The Chief Constable does not submit a VAT return as the Commissioner submits a single VAT return on behalf 
of the Group.  Expenditure in the Chief Constable’s Income and Expenditure Statement excludes any amounts 
relating to VAT as all VAT is remitted to/from HM Revenue and Customs. 

Jointly Controlled Operations  
Jointly controlled operations are activities undertaken in conjunction with other venturers that involve the use of 
the assets and resources of the venturers rather than the establishment of a separate entity. The Balance Sheet 
of the Group recognises the assets that it controls and the liabilities that it incurs. The Chief Constable Accounts 
include Derbyshire’s share of running these operations as part of the Income and Expenditure Statement.  
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PCC 1:  Working to keep the most vulnerable in our communities safe from crime and harm and supporting those who 
unfortunately find themselves a victim of crime
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PCC 1.2

Inability to bring contracted services 
together to deliver the single CORE 
victim Service in acordance with the 
specifications

Cause: poor 
relationships and 
referral mechanisms 
between providers. 
Providers are newly 
established and are 
building communication 
systems between 
themselves. Police play 
a larger role identifying 
& transfering details of 
opted-in victims  

Effect:
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have requested support.  
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Board established to share 
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planned with all partners to 
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PCC1.3 Failure to deliver against the victims' 
code

Cause: referral routes 
blocked or not used, 
poor relationships 
between the agencies, 
lack of knowledge of 
how to refer or self refer 
to services.  Data-
sharing policies become 
blockers rather than 
enablers

Effect: failing to deliver 
responsibilities under 
Victims' Code
missed victims, poor or 
no service. 
Inability to identify 
vulnerable/multiple 
victims.  Loss of public 
confidence and 
reputational damage

H M 6

Regular contract management 
meetings to monitor activity 
against specification. An 'open 
door' approach to issues that 
arise. Review of pathways 
through organisations via 
victims steering group to 
determine impact and solutions. 
'Opt in' multiagency group to 
review and receive audit referral 
numbers from police to 
providers and act on non 
compliance with the procedure, 
awareness raising and further 
training though the police 'Think 
Victim' communications plan.

L L 1

Strategic Victims Pathway 
Board (Mulitagency) to review 
and determine effective single 
pathways for agencies to 
deliver and commission 
collectively gaining best value 
from resource and increasing 
capacity within that resource
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PCC 2.1

Failure to manage and develop key 
relationships with partners and 
demonstrating due regard to their 
strategic plans 

Cause: poor 
relationships and 
communications. 
Unclear roles and lack 
of knowledge of players. 
Lack of involvement at a 
strategic level
Different financial 
pressures driving the 
agenda and agencies 
retreating to statutory 
services only.  Debate 
or lack of clarity over 
what is 'statutory'

Effect: Disparate 
service delivery. 
Ineffective & duplicate 
service delivery
Failure to comply with 
legislation, failure to 
deliver VFM

H M 6

Commissioner or his 
representative sits on main 
boards inc Health & Wellbeing 
Brd, Derbyshire Safer 
Communities Board, Derby City 
Partnerships,  Local Criminal 
Justice Brd
Partnership officer in post to 
support activity and link with 
partners
Engagement programme in 
place
Share Police and Crime Plan 
with partners
Partners attend joint threat and 
risk seminar 
Internal audit of partnerships 
governance

M L 2

Ongoing reviews of partners' 
agendas contributes to 
meeting objectives.
Have due regards to others' 
plans for informing ongoing 
review of the Police & Crime 
Plan
Restate Commissioner's 
objectives.
Ongoing programme of public 
engagement events and 
walkabouts (#D383).
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PCC 2: Working to provide strong and effective partnership working
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PCC 2.2

Demand exceeds financial resource 
available from the OPCC or partner 
organisations to deliver to the level 
of service required

Cause: Increased 
awareness of services 
available and increase 
in historical cases 
coming forward; 
improved pathways and 
access to services

Effect: failing to deliver 
responsibilities under 
Victims' Code
missed victims, poor or 
no service. 
Inability to identify 
vulnerable/multiple 
victims 

M M 4

Monthly and quarterly contract 
management meetings with all 
providers to monitor activity 
against specification. An 'open 
door' approach to any issues 
that arise. PCC reserves 
available to cover financial 
shortfalls in the medium term. 
OPCCmedium term financial 
planning.

M M 4

Strategic Victims Pathway 
Board (Mulitagency) to review 
and determine effective single 
pathways for agencies to 
deliver and commission 
collectively gaining best value 
from resource and increasing 
capacity within that resource
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PCC  2.3

Collaboration arrangements do not 
deliver improved efficiency, quality 
of service (resilience) or financial 
savings to Derbyshire 

Cause: difference in 
political outlook, local 
needs outweigh 
regional. Regional 
needs outweigh local.
Potential impact of sub-
regional strategic 
partnerships on regional 
collaboration
Difference in relative 
starting point for Forces 
in both financial & 
operational/strategic 
terms

Effect: breakdown in 
service effectiveness, 
breakdown in 
relationships, increased 
service costs, reduced 
collaboaration 
opportunities

H M 6

All projects have risk registers. 
All collaboration is covered by 
S22 & S23 agreements
Police and Crime Commissioner 
Board in place with quarterly 
meetings.
Memorandum of Understanding 
(Collaboration Principles) in 
place

M M 4

Specific collaboration risk 
register being written
Performance management 
framework being  refreshed.
Horizon scanning
Effective communication 
between regional PCCs and 
Chief Constables

Establishment of Regional 
Collaboration secretariat to 
support PCCs in the East Mids 
region in governance 
arrangements
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PCC
2.5

Impact of wider funding cuts and 
changes to partnership 
structures/delivery on the ability to 
deliver Police & Crime Plan and 
PCC's reputation

Cause: Diminishing 
resources (financial, 
human or other) against 
a backdrop of 
increasing/changing 
demand.

Effect: Partners less 
able to respond to 
demands, impacting on 
the PCC's ability to 
deliver Police & Crime 
Plan. Potential 
reputational risk to 
PCC.

H H 9

PCC has substantial grant 
funding from MOJ to support 
victims and deliver RJ
PCC strategic engagement with 
partners via Health & Wellbeing 
Boards, Criminal Justice Board, 
Community safety forums 
Co-commissioning activity to 
support services to deliver the 
Police and Crime Plan 
Ongoing government pledge to 
protect Police funding (but 
reliant on 2% precept increases 
per annum)
Commissioning Strategy

M L 2

Ongoing development of 
Grants & Partnership function 
to feedback local knowledge
On-going dialogue with 
partners and future plans
The partnerships and grants 
officer continues to support the 
partnership engagement 
process. A strategic 
commissioning group has been 
put in place with partners to 
share proposals.  
Funding formula review MAY 
be beneficial to Derbyshire
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PCC 3: Working to tackle the impact of drugs and alcohol on communities 

PCC 3.1
Lack of progress on reducing the 
effects of alcohol and drugs on 
communities.

Cause: lack of research 
and local knowledge. 
Ineffective working with 
partners creating 
breakdown in 
communications

Effect: focus on wrong 
issues, resources not 
allocated to need,  
alcohol and drug related 
crime does not fall, 
domestic violence 
continues 

M M 4

June 2013 Alcohol Summit 
brought together key partners
covering night time economy  
data sharing /Cardiff model
Social responsibility deal alcohol 
services  - voluntary and 
mandatory
Drug Intervention Funding
Rollout of Intoxicated brand and 
Safe Night Out countywide
New project officer takes lead 
on alcohol agenda

M L 2

Facilitation and brokerage role 
of the Commissioner.
Development of Safe Night Out 
brand and Intoxicted 
campaigns
PCC National Portfolio
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PCC 4: Supporting those with mental health issues.. who come into contact with the CJS as a victim or offender to get the right support...


PCC  4.1
Failure to capitalise on work 
undertaken with partners on the 
Mental Health Crisis Care concordat

Cause: shifting 
partner/PCC agenda re 
Mental Health.
Complacency around 
achievments to date

Effect: Loss of 
momentum.
Partner disengagement
Silo thinking
Failing the most 
vulnerable in society

M M 4

Co-chair of Concordat working 
group by PCC and Hardwick 
CCG Clinical lead.
Mental Health triage resource 
within CCMC

M L 2

Development of triage to 
include wider health partners 
with a view to reduce calls for 
service across blue-light sector
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PCC 4.2

Ineffective working with CJS to 
improve the operational response to 
those with mental health issues to 
achieve an effective end to end 
process

Cause: poor 
relationships and 
communications. 
Unclear roles and 
responsibilities

Effect: poor outcomes  
Public lose trust in the 
CJS and confidence 
falls

M M 4

Commissioner attends Criminal 
Justice Board & has detailed 
knowledge of this area.
Relationships being developed.
LCJB renewed structure June 
2015
Rehabilitation revolution review 
of local delivery options
Policy officer to monitor 
developing govt agenda

L L 1
Understand the implications 
and opportunities for the PCC 
from the Taylor review into CJ 
and Youth Justice
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PCC 4.3

Failure to understand the scope of 
the PCCs role in the wider Mental 
Health arena (i.e. remaining 
focussed to CJS issues)

Cause: 
Miscommunication
Misinterpretation of 
PCCs leadership
Conflicting partner 
priorities during period 
of austerity

Effect: Missed 
opportunities
Service gaps
Lack of support to 
vulnerable
Loss of confidence in 
the PCC

M M 4

PCC & representatives sitting 
on key boards
Facilitation of partner discussion 
& working to raise profile of area 
of work
Clear lines of communication

M L 2

Appropriate use of grants 
process to incentivise 
partner/specifc area of work
Continuous review of partner 
working to ensure clarity of 
communication
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PCC 5: Working with young people, including those who have been either a victim of crime or offenders, to understand these needs and prevent them becoming involved in criminal activities 
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PCC  5.1

Fail to meaningfully engage with 
young people and understand their 
cime and community safety 
concerns

Cause: Poor 
consultation
Mistrust in the police
Stereotypical view of 
young people
 
Effect: Mistrust in the 
police
Ineffective work to 
tackle youth-related 
ASB & crime

H M 6

Increased emphasis on this 
area of business being 
developed (building on previous 
youth engagement work)
Leading as PCC on national 
Street Games PIF/PTF initiative

H L 3

Further develop youth SGB 
approach
Exploring examples of best 
practice from other OPCCs on 
youth engagement work
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 PCC 6  Working with the Constabulary to develop the policing family to be more representative of the diverse community it serves
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PCC  6.1

Diversity policy intention fails to 
deliver representation across the 
whole range of protected 
characteristics

Cause: Unrealistic 
expectations
Attention focussed on 
the externally visible 
'difference'
Policy intent fails to 
capture interest and 
engagement of target 
audience
Force fails to properly 
support and retain those 
it does attract through 
recruitment

Effect: Lack of trust and 
confidence within 
certain communities
Reputational damage 
for PCC

H M 6

Deputy national portfolio role for 
PCC in EDHR
Inclusion of this area in the 
Police & Crime Plan
Work with the Force on 'Positive 
Action'

H L 3

Development of the role and 
impact of the EDHR portfolio
College of policing work re 
positive action/discrimination
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PCC 7  Working with the Constabulary and partners to maximise the opportunities from developments in technology

PCC  7.1

Speed of uptake and 
implementation of new technology is 
unable to keep pace with 
developments

Cause: Risk averse 
approach (including info 
security concerns), 
competing demands on 
IS resources, 
project/programme 
governance delays 
rather than enables
Lack of horizon-
scanning and long-term 
planning

Effect: Derbyshire 
'behind the curve' and 
not maximising the 
opportunities presented 
by modern technology.  
Productivity and 
efficiency gains 
potentially missed.
Adverse perception of 
Derbyshire in the eyes 
of the HMIC

H H 9

PCC representation on SAIT 
and other relevant Force boards
Specific focus in the Police & 
Crime Plan
Membership of the Police ICT 
Company
Renewed vigour within the Chief 
Officer team to deliver against 
this objective
Proven delivery of key IT 
infrastructure projects 
simultaneously (including region-
wide Niche solution)

H M 6

Continued engagement with 
Police ICT Company
Continued investigation of 
multi-force shared IT solutions
Development of potential 
shared IT systems with Fire 
colleagues
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PCC  7.2
Early Adopter approach to Police 
ICT leads to lost productivity or 
effectiveness due to system issues

Cause: New technology 
may not be bug-free or 
may require R&D 
investment to ensure 'fit' 
with the organisation.  
New technology often 
more expensive than 
mature/established 
equivalent
Poor market-place 
development

Effect: Increased 
downtime due to 
unexpected system 
issues.  Longer 
implementation timeline 
due to inexperience of 
project team
Inability to deliver on 
core policing business

H M 6

Existing Force IS oversight 
through Chief Officers, OPCC 
represented on Strategic Assets 
& IT Group, Existing programme 
governance approach (business 
case requirements), longer-term 
planning approach to encourage 
measured view of emerging 
technology
Membership of the Police ICT 
Company

H L 3

Continued engagement with 
Police ICT Company
Continued investigation of 
multi-force shared IT solutions
Development of potential 
shared IT systems with Fire 
colleagues
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General OPCC Risks

8.1

Inability to effectively commission, 
co-commission or provide grants to 
support the delivery of the police 
and crime plan which achieves both 
economies of scale and 
supports/enables local delivery
(commissioning)

Cause: poor 
commissioning skills 
(both direct and via 
partners).  Poor 
consultation and wider 
research.  Poor 
communication and 
understanding of 
partner priorities

Effect: taxpayers 
money, need not 
addressed, future 
proofing local delivery. 
Loss of local expertise 
and public confidence

M L 2

Experienced Commissioning 
manager in post to develop  and 
implement  the commissioning 
strategy.
Grants and Partnership Officer 
in post to support oversight
Knowledge and consideration of 
opportunities of the Social Value 
Act
Strategic-level Victims Steering 
Group to determine and co-
ordinate multi-agency 
commissioning arrangements
Multi-agency contract 
management

M L 2

Further develop co 
commissioning opportunities 
within the county & region
Maintain continuous review 
approach to the commissioning 
strategy
Strategic Victims Pathway 
Board to work on single 
pathways
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8.2 Failure to engage with, listen to and 
respond to communities

Cause: weak 
engagement 
programme, lack of 
analysis & responses 
and not translating 
feedback into action.  
Lack of resources, lack 
of knowledge of 
communities served. 
Failure to communicate 
actions. 

Effect: Public lack of 
confidence in 
Commissioner, 
unwillingness of public 
to engage. Not 
understanding 
community priorities

H M 6

Community Engagement 
officers in place with 
engagement programme. 
Analytical skills within OPCC 
advises on community 
demographics and analyse 
consultation results.
Casework system for complaints 
to PCC to handle individual 
contacts made and manage 
public perceptions
Digital Engagement Officer 
recruited. Derbyshire Alert taken 
on in OPCC.
Increase use of social media
#D383 programme (visit all 
towns & villages in 4 years)

H L 3

Ongoing review of new 
Commissioner's Community 
Engagement Strategy and 
develop programme. 
Develop use of existing 
formal/informal networks and 
volunteers.
Proposed OPCC 
organisational restructure to 
align resources with new 
Commissioner's priorities
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8.3
Inability to demonstrate impact or 
success against the 7 Police & 
Crime Plan objectives

Cause: Lack of 
understanding if what 
good/success looks like
Lack of clarity over 
desired outcomes (not 
outputs)
Potentially unrealistic 
expectations of what 
can be achieved

Effect: Unable to 
provide clear evidence 
of achievments
Unable to clearly define 
achievments
Loss of reputation and 
confidence in the role of 
the Commissioner and 
the post-holder

M M 4

Police & Crime Panel forward 
plan linked to objectives
OPCC & Force plans developed 
that drive operational and 
departmental delivery
PCC reports to SGB related to 
delivery against Police & Crime 
Panel objectives
Police & Crime Plan 
development informed by 
experience/learning from 
previous plan (including 
outcomes)
More robust process to grant-
making that links 
outputs/outcomes to Police & 
Crime Plan objectives
Statutory requirement for annual 
report to P&C Panel and 
published publically
JARAC oversight

M L 2

OPCC office restructure to 
align resources against PCC's 
objectives
P&C Panel revision of 
performance framework
External scrutiny of process for 
grant-making
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8.4
Current media strategy and 
approach creating potential for 
reputational issues

Cause: Pro-active 
media strategy
External agendas for 
specific media outlets
Other partner & PCCs 
relationships with the 
media 

Effect: Negative press 
coverage & resulting 
reputational damage
Damage to partner 
relationships
Media coverage distorts 
positive work of the 
PCC 
Impact on trust and 
confidence in the 
police/PCC

H H 9

External specialist service to 
support media engagement and 
comms
Support from statutory officers 
in the OPCC
Building and enhancing strong 
strategy around use of social 
media / new media etc.

H M 6

Review media training needs 
for PCC and Deputy PCC 
regularly
Retendering of an external 
comms provider with learning 
from previous PCC term
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8.5 Senior leadership change in OPCC 
causes instability

Cause: Poor 
recruitment processes
Small OPCC team & 
limited number of senior 
roles
Elected & fixed-term 
nature of PCC role (max 
4 year cycle) 

Effect: Loss of focus & 
direction
Failure to comply with 
statutory responsibilities
Failure to ensure 
achievment of P&C 
Plan

H M 6

Assurance gained from robust 
recruitment processes (incl. 
independent member on 
interview panels for senior 
appointments)
Robust planning for PCC 
elections
Handover period's wherever 
possible
Statutory Officers' membership 
of APACE/PACCTS re peer-
support
Role of the Police & Crime 
Panel to scrutinise the role of 
the PCC and the post-holder
Requirements to produce a P&C 
Plan following an election and 
report periodically

H M 6

Development of senior 
management team (below 
exec level) to build experience 
and capability to offer 
resilience
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National Risks

9.1

Changes to policing landscape (e.g. 
the SPR) shifts focus from  the 
objectives of the Police & Crime 
Plan

Cause: emerging 
national priorities not 
covered by Police & 
Crime Plan, Plan not 
sufficiently agile to 
adapt to new issues

Effect: Reduced 
assessment by HMIC, 
reduced sense from 
communities that the 
police service is 
responding to emerging 
issues, confused 
strategic objectives, 
push/pull for officers, 
reputational impact for 
Force and PCC

H L 3

Police & Crime Plan makes 
reference to national landscape 
and specifically the SPR
Police & Crime Plan is 
deliberately agile
Horizon scanning locally and 
regionally for advanced warning 
of potential risks to give time for 
appropriate mitigation

H L 3

Continuous review of P&C 
Plan
Assessment of impact of local 
funding constraints and 
resultant change on ability to 
deliver SPR
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9.2
Central government mandation of 
Fire integration may conflict with  
local policy

Cause: fragmented 
national approaches 
often driven by political 
beliefs, multiple options 
proposed, complexity in 
local arrangements (i.e. 
multiple FA's versus a 
CFA), strong 
representation from 
FBU in some parts of 
the country.  

Effect:  Reputational 
damage if seen to be 
changing direction, 
existing working 
relationships and 
goodwill may change, a 
lack of desire to 
implement a mandated 
policy

H L 3

APACE engagement for Chief 
Executive
Strong working relationships 
locally
Robust governance 
arrangements locally via LLP
Co-option of PCC onto CFA
Links to APCC, NPCC re 
horizon scanning

1

Keep watching brief on 
emerging issues and political 
developments - discussing with 
key partners as appropriate
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	Employee Benefits

	The Accounts are prepared in accordance with IAS19 Employee Benefits. This is a complex accounting standard but it is based on a simple principle that:
	“An organisation should account for employment and post-employment benefits when employees earn them and the authority is committed to give them, even if the actual giving will be many years into the future”.
	Benefits Payable During Employment

	Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They include such benefits as salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave, expenses, bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. cars) for current employees and...
	Termination Benefits

	Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Chief Constable to terminate employment before the normal retirement date or a decision to accept voluntary redundancy and when the Chief Constable is demonstrably committed to ...
	Post-employment benefits
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	The Chief Constable participates in two different pension schemes both of which are “defined benefit schemes” as they are both based on employees earning benefits from years of service.
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	The changes in the net pensions liability is analysed into the following components:
	Service cost comprising:
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	.
	 Contributions paid to the pension fund.
	The Chief Constable’s accounts include the pension costs, assets and liabilities for all staff, including those employed directly by the Commissioner.  The scheme assets and liabilities for the two corporation soles are pooled, any pro rota would not ...
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	Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets

	Provisions – these are required for liabilities that have been incurred, but are of uncertain timing or amount. There are three criteria:
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	Jointly Controlled Operations
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